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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in millions, except per share data)
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
     
  2005  2004  2005  2004
     
Net sales   $1,598.2   $1,621.3   $4,616.3   $4,759.2 
Cost of products sold   1,098.0   1,156.6   3,232.9   3,415.2 
  

 

GROSS MARGIN   500.2   464.7   1,383.4   1,344.0 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   311.5   297.9   938.8   915.1 
Impairment charges   58.6   270.0   58.6   295.1 
Restructuring costs   14.6   0.4   21.1   47.7 
  

 

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)   115.5   (103.6)   364.9   86.1 
                 
Nonoperating expenses:                 

Interest expense, net   34.3   29.5   96.2   89.9 
Other (income) expense, net   (0.6)   (0.3)   (1.0)   3.7 

  
 

Net nonoperating expenses   33.7   29.2   95.2   93.6 
  

 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES   81.8   (132.8)   269.7   (7.5)
Income taxes   28.3   22.9   27.9   57.6 
  

 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   53.5   (155.7)   241.8   (65.1)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   18.0   (70.7)   (67.5)   (175.2)
  

 

NET INCOME (LOSS)   $71.5   ($226.4)   $174.3   ($240.3)
  

 

Weighted average shares outstanding:                 
Basic   274.4   274.4   274.4   274.4 
Diluted   275.0   274.4   274.8   274.4 

                 
Earnings (Loss) per share:                 

Basic —                 
Income (loss) from continuing operations   $0.19   ($0.57)   $0.88   ($0.24)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations   0.07   (0.26)   (0.25)   (0.64)

  
 

Net income (loss) per common share   $0.26   ($0.83)   $0.64   ($0.88)
  

 

Diluted —                 
Income (loss) from continuing operations   $0.19   ($0.57)   $0.88   ($0.24)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations   0.07   (0.26)   (0.25)   (0.64)

  
 

Net income (loss) per common share   $0.26   ($0.83)   $0.63   ($0.88)
  

 

                 
Dividends per share   $0.21   $0.21   $0.63   $0.63 

 

 

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in millions)
         
  September 30,  December 31,
  2005  2004
  (Unaudited)   
ASSETS         
CURRENT ASSETS:         

Cash and cash equivalents   $485.5   $505.6 
Accounts receivable, net   1,082.1   1,233.0 
Inventories, net   1,010.6   938.1 
Deferred income taxes   69.7   73.8 
Prepaid expenses and other   107.2   180.3 
Current assets of discontinued operations   8.0   81.6 

  
 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   2,763.1   3,012.4 
         
OTHER ASSETS   232.7   186.4 
         
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET   1,005.7   1,222.4 
         
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES   2.1   30.2 
         
GOODWILL   1,769.0   1,821.0 
         
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET   312.2   299.1 
         
NON-CURRENT ASSETS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   42.2   95.0 
  

 

TOTAL ASSETS   $6,127.0   $6,666.5 
  

 

 

 

 

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
(Amounts in millions, except par value)
         
  September 30,  December 31,
  2005  2004
  (Unaudited)   
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
         
CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Accounts payable   $576.4   $661.5 
Accrued compensation   138.3   145.2 
Other accrued liabilities   699.7   757.5 
Income taxes payable   46.8   68.8 
Notes payable   6.2   21.3 
Current portion of long-term debt   25.4   185.6 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations   0.1   31.4 

  
 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   1,492.9   1,871.3 
         
LONG-TERM DEBT   2,377.4   2,424.3 
         
OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES   537.6   606.0 
         
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   —   0.7 
         
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:         
Common stock, authorized shares,         

800.0 at $1.00 par value   290.2   290.1 
Outstanding shares:         

2005 - 290.2         
2004 - 290.1         

Treasury stock, at cost;   (411.6)   (411.6)
Shares held:         

2005 - 15.7         
2004 - 15.7         

Additional paid-in capital   451.4   437.5 
Retained earnings   1,519.2   1,518.6 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (130.1)   (70.4)
  

 

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   1,719.1   1,764.2 
         
  

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   $6,127.0   $6,666.5 
  

 

 

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
(Amounts in millions)
         
  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2005  2004
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
Net income (loss)   $174.3   ($240.3)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   161.5   171.5 
Deferred income taxes   18.5   85.1 
Impairment charges — Continuing operations   58.6   295.1 
Impairment charges — Discontinued operations   —   78.9 
Noncash restructuring costs   5.3   25.3 
Gain on sale of assets/debt extinguishment   (7.1)   (6.5)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations   67.4   90.5 
Other   (10.2)   (4.8)

Changes in current accounts excluding the effects of acquisitions:         
Accounts receivable   122.8   211.0 
Inventories   (92.0)   (196.3)
Accounts payable   (78.0)   (55.9)
Accrued liabilities and other   20.7   (34.5)
Discontinued operations   9.5   2.7 

  
 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   451.3   421.8 
  

 

         
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (35.3)   (3.0)
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment   (69.9)   (95.2)
Disposals of noncurrent assets and sale of businesses   29.4   289.2 
  

 

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (75.8)   191.0 
  

 

         
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         
Proceeds from issuance of debt   134.1   21.3 
Payments on notes payable and long-term debt   (345.0)   (251.9)
Cash dividends   (173.7)   (173.2)
Proceeds from exercised stock options and other   (2.8)   1.4 
  

 

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (387.4)   (402.4)
  

 

         
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents   (8.2)   (0.3)
  

 

         
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (20.1)   210.1 
         
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   505.6   144.4 
         
  

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   $485.5   $354.5 
  

 

See Footnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Footnote 1 — Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) have been
prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and do not include all the information and footnotes required by
generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the unaudited consolidated financial statements
include all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and the results of
operations. It is suggested that these unaudited consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the footnotes thereto
included in the Company’s latest Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Seasonal Variations: The Company’s product groups are only moderately affected by seasonal trends. The Cleaning & Organization and Other business
segments typically have higher sales in the second half of the year due to retail stocking related to the holiday season; the Tools & Hardware and Home
Fashions business segments typically have higher sales in the second and third quarters due to an increased level of do-it-yourself projects completed in the
summer months; and the Office Products business segment typically has higher sales in the second and third quarters due to the back-to-school season.
Because these seasonal trends are moderate, the Company’s consolidated quarterly sales generally do not fluctuate significantly, unless a significant
acquisition is made.

Fair Value of Stock Options: In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS 123(R)”), “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee
stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values (i.e., pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative to financial
statement recognition). The Statement supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and
will require adoption no later than January 1, 2006. The Company expects to adopt the provisions of the new standard using the modified prospective method
effective January 1, 2006.

The Company has elected to follow the accounting provisions of APB No. 25 in accounting for its stock option plans. As a result, the Company grants fixed
stock options under which no compensation cost is recognized. The Company provides pro forma disclosure of stock-based compensation expense as
measured under the fair value requirements of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation.” The following table is a reconciliation of the
Company’s net income/(loss) and earnings/(loss) per share to proforma net income/(loss) and proforma earnings/(loss) per share for the three and nine months
ended September 30 (in millions, except per share data):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
                 
Net income (loss):                 
As reported   $71.5   ($226.4)   $174.3   ($240.3)
Fair value option expense, net of tax   (2.5)   (4.6)   (8.1)   (13.7)
  

 

Pro forma   $69.0   ($231.0)   $166.2   ($254.0)
  

 

                 
Basic earnings (loss) per share:                 
As reported   $0.26   ($0.83)   $0.64   ($0.88)
Pro forma   $0.25   ($0.84)   $0.61   ($0.93)
                 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:                 
As reported   $0.26   ($0.83)   $0.63   ($0.88)
Pro forma   $0.25   ($0.84)   $0.60   ($0.93)
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Reclassifications: Certain amounts in prior years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. See Footnote 3 for a discussion of
discontinued operations.

Footnote 2 — Acquisitions

On July 28, 2005, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with a subsidiary of Esselte Group Holdings AB to acquire DYMO, a global leader in
designing, manufacturing and marketing on-demand labeling solutions, for approximately $730 million in cash, subject to adjustment for working capital and
other items. This acquisition will strengthen the Company’s global leadership position in the Office Products segment by expanding and enhancing the
Company’s product lines and customer base. The Company expects to close the transaction prior to December 31, 2005 and to fund the purchase price
payment through a combination of cash and existing credit facilities. Total 2004 annual sales by DYMO were approximately $225 million.

Footnote 3 — Discontinued Operations

On June 1, 2005, the Company completed the sale of its Curver business. The Curver business manufactured and marketed plastic products for home storage
and garage organization, food storage, laundry, bath, cleaning, closet organization and refuse removal in various countries in Europe. The Company’s
European commercial products and other European businesses were not included in the sale. The Curver business, which was previously reported in the
Cleaning & Organization segment, had 2004 sales of $151.8 million.

The sale price, which is subject to reduction for working capital adjustments, was $5 million, paid at closing, plus a note receivable for $5 million, payable
within 12 years from closing. The Company may also receive contingent payments, up to an aggregate maximum of $25 million, based on the adjusted
earnings before interest and taxes of the Curver business for the five years ending December 31, 2009. Due to anticipated shortfalls in working capital, the
Company does not expect to collect any of the $5 million note receivable. In addition, the Company has not included the contingent payments in the
calculation of the loss on disposal of discontinued operations.

In connection with this transaction, the Company recorded a non-cash loss related to the sale of $62.0 million, for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.
In the nine months ended September 30, 2004, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $78.9 million, net of tax, ($34.0 million for goodwill
and $44.9 million for other long-lived assets) related to Curver. The charge is included in the loss from operations for the nine months ended September 30,
2004 in the table below.

In the second quarter, the Company committed to the disposal of a business in the Cleaning & Organization segment and recognized an impairment loss of
$24.5 million, net of tax, in order to state the assets of this business at their estimated fair values. In the third quarter, the Company revised its estimation of
expected proceeds upon disposal and recorded a gain of $20.4 million, net of tax, related to this business after winning several line reviews with a key retailer.
The net loss of $4.1 million is required to state the assets of this business at fair value, based on current projected cash flows. The business had $74 million in
sales in 2004.

The following table summarizes the results of the discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net sales   $13.6   $50.5   $115.5   $352.0 
Loss from operations, net of income tax (benefit) expense of ($0.2)

and $0.6 for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and $2.8 and ($2.0) for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively   ($2.4)   ($79.3)   ($0.1)   ($84.7)

Gain (loss) on disposal, net of income tax expense of $5.1 and $4.7
for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and ($1.8) and none for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively   $20.4   $8.6   ($67.4)   ($90.5)

  
 

Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   $18.0   ($70.7)   ($67.5)   ($175.2)
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The 2004 amounts include businesses sold in 2004 (Panex Brazilian low-end cookware division, European picture frames businesses, U.S. picture frames
business (Burnes), Anchor Hocking glassware business, Mirro cookware business and the Little Tikes Commercial Playground Systems business).

No amounts related to interest expense have been allocated to discontinued operations.

The following table presents summarized balance sheet information of the discontinued operations (in millions):
         
  September 30,  December 31,
  2005  2004
Accounts receivable, net   $—   $45.6 
Inventories, net   8.0   34.2 
Prepaid expenses and other   —   1.8 
  

 

Total Current Assets   8.0   81.6 
         
Property, plant and equipment, net   34.9   85.8 
Goodwill   7.3   3.6 
Other assets   —   5.6 
  

 

Total Assets   $50.2   $176.6 
  

 

         
Accounts payable   $—   $21.4 
Other accrued liabilities   0.1   10.0 
  

 

Total Current Liabilities   0.1   31.4 
  

 

         
Other noncurrent liabilities   —   0.7 
  

 

Total Liabilities   $0.1   $32.1 
  

 

Footnote 4 — Impairment Charges

As more fully disclosed in its Annual Report Form 10-K, the Company conducts its annual test of impairment for goodwill and other indefinite-lived
intangible assets in the third quarter. The Company also tests for impairment if events or circumstances indicate that it is more than likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is below its carrying amount. The Company cannot predict whether certain events might occur that would adversely affect the
reported value of the remaining goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets. Such events may include, but are not limited to, strategic decisions made in
response to economic and competitive conditions, the impact of the economic environment on the Company’s customer base, or a material adverse change in
its relationship with significant customers. Additionally, increases in the risk adjusted rate could result in additional impairment charges. For a description of
the Company’s accounting policy, please refer to the 2004 Annual Report Form 10-K.

The Company performs the annual impairment testing in the third quarter because it coincides with its annual strategic planning process for all of its
businesses. The annual strategic planning meeting provides a forum for executive management to review changes recommended by division and group
management in the long-term strategy of the individual businesses and approve specific initiatives. At the planning session, division management teams
present their long-term vision for the business and recommend changes in response to internal and external factors, which may impact the valuation of long-
lived assets, including goodwill, other intangible assets, and fixed assets. Additionally, these meetings are used to discuss the current business environment
and outlook, as well as overall brand strategy.

Subsequent to the recent planning meetings, the Company conducted its impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets, giving consideration to
underlying strategic and economic changes in the business. Additionally, the Company conducted its testing of other long-lived assets for impairment, where
necessary, in accordance with
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

As a result of the impairment testing described above, the Company recorded noncash impairment charges in 2004 and 2005. These charges were required to
write-down certain assets to fair value, including goodwill, trademarks and tradenames and other long-lived assets.

The following table summarizes the recorded noncash pretax impairment charges (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Goodwill   $20.6   $147.2   $20.6   $148.7 
Other indefinite-lived intangible assets   12.4   107.1   12.4   116.0 
Long-lived assets (primarily property, plant, &

equipment and patents)   25.6   15.7   25.6   30.4 
  

 

   $58.6   $270.0   $58.6   $295.1 
  

 

2005 Impairment

As a result of the annual impairment testing performed in 2005, the Company recorded a noncash impairment charge of $58.6 million, net of tax, in the third
quarter of 2005, related to the Company’s United Kingdom home fashions business and its European Cookware business.

United Kingdom Home Fashions Business

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a noncash impairment charge of $34.3 million related to its United Kingdom window fashion business.
The business is included in the Home Fashions segment. The business was previously classified in the “fix” portfolio of the Company’s business, as
management believed that the restructuring and other investments made in the business would produce favorable returns. These expected returns have not
materialized and the business continues to face economic challenges, especially as retailers move to a direct product sourcing model. The Company is
exploring alternatives for this business. As a result of these factors, management performed the required impairment tests and determined that an impairment
charge was required. The Company used the discounted cash flows method to determine the fair market value of the business.

European Cookware Business

The Company also recorded a noncash impairment charge of $24.3 million (substantially all of the impairment related to property, plant & equipment) related
to its European Cookware business. The business is included in the Company’s Other segment. As of September 30, 2005, the business was considered “held
and used,” but management concluded that there was a greater than 50% likelihood that the business would be disposed of in the near-term. Therefore,
management conducted the required impairment tests and determined that an impairment charge was required. Fair value was determined based on the
projected sales price for the business.

In October 2005, the Board of Directors approved and the Company announced that it has entered into an agreement for the intended sale of its European
Cookware business, subject to consultation with applicable works councils, trade unions and employees.

The European Cookware business, which includes the brands Pyrex® (used under exclusive license from Corning Incorporated and its subsidiaries in Europe,
the Middle East and Africa only) and Vitri®, had 2004 annual sales of approximately $115 million. The transaction is expected to close on or before
January 31, 2006, subject to regulatory approvals and certain other closing conditions. In connection with this transaction, the Company expects to record a
total net loss of approximately $25 to $35 million, $24.3 million of which was recorded as a non-cash impairment charge in the quarter ended September 30,
2005.
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The following table presents summarized balance sheet information for the European Cookware business as of September 30, 2005 (in millions):
     
Accounts receivable, net   $24.5 
Inventories, net   26.0 
Prepaid expenses and other   0.8 
  

 

Total Current Assets   51.3 
     
Property, plant and equipment, net   11.6 
Other assets   0.2 
  

 

Total Assets   $63.1 
  

 

     
Accounts payable   $17.7 
Other accrued liabilities   13.0 
  

 

Total Current Liabilities   30.7 
  

 

     
Other noncurrent liabilities   1.5 
  

 

Total Liabilities   $32.2 
  

 

2004 Impairment

As a result of the annual impairment testing performed in 2004, the Company recorded a noncash $270.0 million ($253.9 million, net of tax) impairment
charge in the third quarter of 2004. For the nine months ended September 30, 2004, the Company recorded non cash impairment charges of $295.1 million
($273.5 million, net of tax).

The following are the impairment charges recorded by the Company for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 (in millions):
                                 
  Three months ended September 30, 2004  Nine months ended September 30, 2004
      Other              Other     
      Indefinite-  Other          Indefinite-  Other   
      Lived  Long-          Lived  Long-   
      Intangible  Lived          Intangible  Lived   
Segment  Goodwill  Assets  Assets  Total  Goodwill  Assets  Assets  Total
Cleaning &
Organization   $—   $—   $0.8   $0.8   $—   $—   $11.3   $11.3 
Office Products   138.8   93.8   8.5   241.1   138.8   93.8   11.4   244.0 
Tools & Hardware   —   —   1.0   1.0   1.5   3.3   2.0   6.8 
Home Fashions   8.4   13.3   3.9   25.6   8.4   18.9   3.9   31.2 
Other   —   —   1.5   1.5   —   —   1.8   1.8 
  

 

Total   $147.2   $107.1   $15.7   $270.0   $148.7   $116.0   $30.4   $295.1 
  

 

Cleaning & Organization

In 2004, the Company made the decision to exit certain product lines, which resulted in the impairment of fixed assets, primarily in the Cleaning &
Organization segment. The Company determined the fair value of the fixed assets by estimating the future cash flows attributable to these fixed assets,
including an estimate of the ultimate sale proceeds. Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge to write-down the assets to their estimated fair value.

Office Products

The impairment charge recorded in the Office Products segment is primarily a result of three factors:
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•  Prior year restructuring activity related to a product line in the European business has not resulted in the expected returns, and management is currently
exploring alternatives for this product line. Accordingly, an impairment charge was recorded to write-down the long-lived assets to fair value (disposal
value). The impairment charge recognized on this product line was $80.8 million, of which $8.5 million related to the write-down of property, plant &
equipment.

 

•  In the European business, the Company has historically promoted and supported several different brands in the everyday writing category. In the third
quarter management developed a plan to consolidate certain brands in Europe in this category. This new plan results from several factors:

 •  The Company believes that rationalizing its brands will enable the Company to more effectively allocate capital and other resources. In this
regard, the Company is focused on promoting its brands globally and reducing the reliance on local or regional brands.

 

 •  The brand that is targeted for rationalization has experienced sales declines, especially in the current year, and management believes it has more
effective investment opportunities outside of this brand.

  As a result of this plan, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $123.1 million related to this product line.
 

•  In the third quarter, management decided to rationalize several trademarks and trade names (brands), primarily in the Latin America businesses. The
current plan is to reduce the number of brands from 76 to 12 over the next three years. As a result of this decision, the Company determined that certain
brands that were previously considered to have indefinite lives were impaired. Accordingly, the Company wrote-down these trademarks and tradenames
to their fair value and will begin amortizing these brands over their remaining useful lives (generally three years). The total impairment charge
recognized as a result of the decision to rationalize brands was $37.2 million.

Home Fashions

Management decided to rationalize certain trademarks and tradenames (brands), primarily in the United Kingdom home fashions business, in order to focus
on promoting more effective brands. As a result of this decision the Company determined that these brands became impaired and accordingly, these
trademarks and tradenames, as well as certain associated patents, have been written-off. The impairment charge associated with this decision was
$17.2 million. Additionally, primarily as a result of an increase from the prior year in the discount rate (risk adjusted rate) used in calculating the enterprises’
fair value, an impairment charge of $8.4 million was recorded on goodwill.

The remaining impairment charge recognized in the second quarter of 2004 represents a write-down to fair value of certain trademarks and tradenames
associated with product lines that the Company planned on exiting.

Tools & Hardware / Other

The impairment charge recorded in the Tools & Hardware and Other segments primarily relates to patents that the Company will allow to expire and fixed
assets that are currently held for sale, and accordingly, have been written-down to fair value.

In the first quarter of 2004, the Company began exploring various options for certain businesses and product lines in the Tools & Hardware segment,
including evaluating those businesses for potential sale. As this process progressed, the Company determined that the businesses had a net book value in
excess of their fair value. Due to the apparent decline in value, the Company conducted an impairment test in the second quarter and recorded an impairment
loss to write-down the net assets of these businesses and product lines to fair value.
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Footnote 5 — Restructuring Costs

In 2001, the Company initiated a restructuring plan (the “2001 Plan”) aimed at reducing worldwide manufacturing and supply chain costs. The Company
recorded total charges of $461.7 million, resulting in annual savings of over $125 million. These charges included previously recognized charges on
discontinued operations of $87.6 million. The following analysis excludes those restructuring amounts related to discontinued operations. In 2005, the
Company continued its restructuring efforts focusing on discrete individual projects as more fully described below.

Restructuring costs consisted of the following (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Facility and other exit costs   $4.9   $0.4   $6.1   $32.0 
Employee severance and termination benefits   6.7   —   10.7   10.4 
Exited contractual commitments and other   3.0   —   4.3   5.3 
  

 

   $14.6   $0.4   $21.1   $47.7 
  

 

The facility and other exit costs are primarily related to future minimum lease payments, or impairment, on vacated facilities and other closure costs.

The restructuring costs for the three months ended September 30, 2005 primarily related to the closure of a manufacturing facility in the Cleaning &
Organization segment.

A summary of the Company’s restructuring reserves for the three and nine months ended September 30, is as follows (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Beginning balance   $16.1   $99.7   $27.9   $145.1 
Restructuring costs (provision)   14.6   0.4   21.1   47.7 
Costs incurred   (12.3)   (61.1)   (30.6)   (153.8)
  

 

Ending balance   $18.4   $39.0   $18.4   $39.0 
  

 

The restructuring reserve at September 30, 2005 relates to employee severance and lease commitment costs for facilities previously exited, primarily in the
Cleaning & Organization and Office Products segments.

The following table depicts the changes in restructuring reserves for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 aggregated by reportable business segment
(in millions):

                 
  12/31/03      Costs  09/30/04
Segment  Balance  Provision  Incurred  Balance
Cleaning & Organization   $55.5   $22.3   ($69.9)   $7.9 
Office Products   29.9   11.6   (25.1)   16.4 
Tools & Hardware   17.9   1.6   (16.2)   3.3 
Home Fashions   17.7   8.7   (24.7)   1.7 
Other   9.6   7.0   (12.9)   3.7 
Corporate   14.5   (3.5)   (5.0)   6.0 
  

 

   $145.1   $47.7   ($153.8)   $39.0 
  

 

Restructuring provisions were determined based on estimates prepared at the time the restructuring actions were approved by management, and also include
amounts recognized as incurred. Cash paid for restructuring activities was $7.8 million and $28.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Cash
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paid for restructuring activities was $24.2 million and $71.8 million in the first nine months of 2005 and 2004, respectively.

2006 Restructuring Plan

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company announced a global initiative referred to as Project Acceleration aimed at strengthening and transforming the
Company’s portfolio. In connection with Project Acceleration, on September 13, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a three-year
restructuring plan, commencing in 2006 (the “2006 Plan”). While the Board of Directors has approved the overall plan, specific approval of each individual
project is required (in accordance with the Company’s schedule of corporate authority) prior to commencing the action. As of September 30, 2005, no
individual component of the plan had been approved. The 2006 Plan is designed to reduce manufacturing overhead to achieve best cost positions. The keys to
the plan are to strategically outsource certain production to low cost suppliers and move manufacturing to lower cost countries where appropriate.

The 2006 Plan is expected to result in cumulative restructuring charges totaling between $350 and $400 million ($295 — $340 million after tax), with
between $220 and $250 million ($185 — $210 million after tax) to be incurred in 2006. In 2006, the Company expects to use approximately $100 million of
cash related to Project Acceleration. The Company expects annual savings from the 2006 Plan of $120 million upon conclusion of the program.

Footnote 6 — Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. The components of inventories, net of LIFO reserve, were as follows (in millions):
         
  September 30,  December 31,
  2005  2004
Materials and supplies   $217.3   $216.0 
Work in process   199.2   168.8 
Finished products   594.1   553.3 
  

 

   $1,010.6   $938.1 
  

 

Footnote 7 — Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of long-term debt (in millions):
         
  September 30,  December 31,
  2005  2004
Medium-term notes   $1,487.0   $1,647.0 
Preferred debt securities   450.0   450.0 
Junior convertible subordinated debentures   436.7   474.3 
Terminated interest rate swaps   28.2   38.3 
Other long-term debt   0.9   0.3 
  

 

Total debt   2,402.8   2,609.9 
Current portion of long-term debt   (25.4)   (185.6)
  

 

Long-Term Debt   $2,377.4   $2,424.3 
  

 

In February and April 2005, the Company purchased 550,000 shares and 200,000 shares, respectively, of 5.25% convertible preferred securities (“Preferred
Securities”) that were issued by a 100%-owned finance subsidiary of the Company and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company, from
holders for $47.375 per share and $46.25 per share, respectively. In connection with the purchases of these securities, the Company negotiated the early
retirement of the corresponding junior convertible subordinated debentures with the financing subsidiary. The Company accounted for these transactions as
extinguishments of debt resulting in net gains of $1.1 million and $0.6 million in the first and second quarter, respectively, which were included in Other
expense (income), net.
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Footnote 8 — Employee Benefit and Retirement Plans

The following table presents the components of the Company’s pension (income) expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, for its United
States plans (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Service cost-benefits earned during the year   $0.8   $10.2   $1.7   $31.2 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation   12.9   16.0   38.6   40.4 
Expected return on plan assets   (16.2)   (19.5)   (48.5)   (49.2)
Amortization of:                 

Prior service cost   0.3   (0.2)   0.8   (0.4)
Actuarial loss   1.2   1.5   3.7   3.8 

Curtailment and special termination benefits   —   —   (16.1)   (1.8)
  

 

Net pension (income) expense   ($1.0)   $8.0   ($19.8)   $24.0 
  

 

The following table presents the components of the Company’s pension (income) expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, for its
International plans (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Service cost-benefits earned during the year   $2.0   $1.8   $6.2   $5.3 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation   5.8   4.9   18.0   14.8 
Expected return on plan assets   (5.2)   (4.5)   (16.2)   (13.6)
Amortization of:                 

Actuarial loss   0.9   0.4   2.8   1.3 
Curtailment and special termination benefit costs   —   —   —   0.2 
  

 

Net pension expense   $3.5   $2.6   $10.8   $8.0 
  

 

Effective December 31, 2004, the Company froze its defined benefit pension plan for its entire non-union U.S. workforce. As a result of this curtailment, the
Company reduced its pension obligation by $50.3 million and recorded a curtailment gain related to negative prior service cost of $15.8 million in the first
quarter of 2005. In conjunction with this action, the Company offered special termination benefits to certain employees that accepted early retirement. The
Company replaced the defined benefit pension plan with an additional defined contribution plan, whereby the Company will make additional contributions to
the Company sponsored employee’s profit sharing plan. The new defined contribution plan has a five-year cliff-vesting schedule, but allows credit for service
rendered prior to the inception of the defined contribution plan.

The following table presents the components of the Company’s other postretirement benefits expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, (in
millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Service cost-benefits earned during the year   $0.9   $1.0   $2.8   $3.5 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation   2.8   3.4   10.2   11.1 
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Amortization of:                 

Prior service cost   (1.5)   (0.2)   (1.8)   (0.5)
Actuarial loss   0.5   —   1.0   0.5 

  
 

Net other postretirement benefits expense   $2.7   $4.2   $12.2   $14.6 
  

 

Footnote 9 — Income Taxes

In January 2005, the Company reached agreement with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) relating to the appropriate treatment of a specific deduction
included in the Company’s 2003 U.S. federal income tax return. The Company requested accelerated review of the transaction under the IRS’ Pre-Filing
Agreement Program that resulted in affirmative resolution in late January 2005. A $58.6 million benefit was recorded in income taxes for the three months
ended March 31, 2005 related to this issue. The amount was fully reserved as of December 31, 2004.

During the three months ended September 30, 2005, the statute of limitations on certain tax positions for which the Company had provided tax reserves, in
whole or in part, expired resulting in the reversal of the provisions and interest accrued thereon in the amounts of $15.3 million.

In the three months ended September 30, 2004, the Company received notification from the IRS that it would receive a refund of $2.9 million relating to
amounts previously paid. Accordingly, this amount has been recorded in income taxes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, the statute of limitations on certain transactions for which the Company had provided tax reserves, in
whole or in part, expired resulting in the reversal of the provisions and interest accrued thereon in the amount of $37.4 million. Accordingly, the impact was
recorded in income taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

In 2004, due to significant restructuring activity and certain changes in the Company’s business model affecting the utilization of net operating loss
carryovers, particularly in certain European countries, the valuation allowance on certain net operating losses previously tax-benefited has been increased by
$31.0 million. This amount was recorded in income taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

Footnote 10 — Earnings per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, is shown below (in millions, except per share
data):
                 
          Convertible   
  Basic  Dilutive  Preferred  Diluted
  Method  Securities(1)  Securities(2)  Method
Three Months Ended September 30, 2005                 
Income from continuing operations   $53.5   —   —   $53.5 
Earnings per share   $0.19   —   —   $0.19 
                 
Income from discontinued operations   $18.0   —   —   $18.0 
Earnings per share   $0.07   —   —   $0.07 
                 
Net income   $71.5   —   —   $71.5 
Earnings per share   $0.26   —   —   $0.26 
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding   274.4   0.6   —   275.0 
                 
Three Months Ended September 30, 2004                 
Loss from continuing operations   ($155.7)   —   —   ($155.7)
Loss per share   ($0.57)   —   —   ($0.57)
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Loss from discontinued operations   ($70.7)   —   —   ($70.7)
Loss per share   ($0.26)   —   —   ($0.26)
                 
Net loss   ($226.4)   —   —   ($226.4)
Loss per share   ($0.83)   —   —   ($0.83)
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding   274.4   —   —   274.4 
                 
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005                 
Income from continuing operations   $241.8   —   —   $241.8 
Earnings per share   $0.88   —   —   $0.88 
                 
Loss from discontinued operations   ($67.5)   —   —   ($67.5)
Loss per share   ($0.25)   —   —   ($0.25)
                 
Net income   $174.3   —   —   $174.3 
Earnings per share   $0.64   —   —   $0.63 
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding   274.4   0.4   —   274.8 
                 
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004                 
Loss from continuing operations   ($65.1)   —   —   ($65.1)
Loss per share   ($0.24)   —   —   ($0.24)
                 
Loss from discontinued operations   ($175.2)   —   —   ($175.2)
Loss per share   ($0.64)   —   —   ($0.64)
                 
Net loss   ($240.3)   —   —   ($240.3)
Loss per share   ($0.88)   —   —   ($0.88)
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding   274.4   —   —   274.4 
(1)  Dilutive securities include “in the money options” and restricted stock awards. The weighted average shares outstanding for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 exclude the

dilutive effect of approximately 7.7 million and 11.2 million stock options, respectively, and approximately 9.9 million and 8.8 million stock options for the nine months ended September 30,
2005 and 2004, respectively, because such options had an exercise price in excess of the average market value of the Company’s common stock during the respective periods and/or the
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

 
(2)  The convertible preferred securities are anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, and therefore have been excluded from diluted earnings per share.

Had the convertible preferred securities been included in the diluted earnings per share calculation, net income would be increased by $3.6 million and $4.2 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and $10.9 million and $12.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Weighted average shares
outstanding would have increased by 8.3 million shares and 9.9 million shares for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and 8.4 million shares and 9.9 million
shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company also grants restricted stock awards to directors and certain employees. Generally, these awards are subject to three-year cliff vesting and pay
dividends quarterly. As of September 30, 2005, the Company had outstanding restricted stock awards of 1.0 million shares, none of which are vested. Total
compensation expense of $1.7 million and $0.7 million was recorded for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to the
restricted shares. Total compensation expense of $4.6 million and $2.2 million was recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, related to the restricted shares.

Footnote 11 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is recorded within stockholders’ equity and encompasses foreign currency translation adjustments, net gains/(losses)
on derivative instruments and net minimum pension liability adjustments.

The following table displays the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (in millions):
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  Foreign  After-tax  After-tax  Accumulated
  Currency  Derivatives  Minimum  Other
  Translation  Hedging  Pension  Comprehensive
  Gain/(Loss)  (Loss)/Gain  Liability  Loss
Balance at December 31, 2004   $120.4   ($4.3)   ($186.5)   ($70.4)
Current year change   (75.8)   16.1   —   (59.7)
  

 

Balance at September 30, 2005   $44.6   $11.8   ($186.5)   ($130.1)
  

 

Total comprehensive income (loss) amounted to the following (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net income (loss)   $71.5   ($226.4)   $174.3   ($240.3)
Foreign currency translation (loss) gain   (6.3)   12.6   (75.8)   38.2 
After-tax derivatives hedging gain (loss)   3.8   (3.2)   16.1   (11.8)
  

 

Comprehensive income (loss)   $69.0   ($217.0)   $114.6   ($213.9)
  

 

Footnote 12 — Industry Segments

The Company’s reporting segments reflect the Company’s focus on building large consumer brands, promoting organizational integration, achieving
operating efficiencies and aligning the businesses with the Company’s strategic account management strategy. The Company reports its results in five
reportable segments as follows:
   
Segment  Description of Products
 

Cleaning & Organization  Indoor/outdoor organization, storage, food storage, cleaning, refuse
Office Products

 
Ballpoint/roller ball pens, markers, highlighters, pencils, office
products, art supplies

Tools & Hardware
 

Hand tools, power tool accessories, industrial tool accessories,
manual paint applicators, cabinet hardware, propane torches

Home Fashions  Drapery hardware, window treatments
Other

 
Operating segments that do not meet aggregation criteria, including aluminum and stainless steel cookware, hair care
accessory products, infant and juvenile products, including toys, high chairs, car seats, and strollers

The Company’s segment results are as follows (in millions):
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net Sales (1)                 
Cleaning & Organization   $392.7   $405.4   $1,093.7   $1,191.3 
Office Products   427.8   424.3   1,256.1   1,246.3 
Tools & Hardware   318.9   300.6   910.8   875.2 
Home Fashions   203.8   228.1   614.1   679.1 
Other   255.0   262.9   741.6   767.3 
  

 

   $1,598.2   $1,621.3   $4,616.3   $4,759.2 
  

 

                 
Operating Income (Loss) (2)                 
Cleaning & Organization   $53.7   $29.8   $89.3   $55.2 
Office Products   59.9   61.5   192.3   188.8 
Tools & Hardware   46.3   45.1   122.3   131.6 
Home Fashions   13.8   15.9   12.9   25.0 
Other   25.1   24.7   57.1   55.6 
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Corporate (3)   (10.1)   (10.2)   (29.3)   (27.3)
Impairment Charges (4)   (58.6)   (270.0)   (58.6)   (295.1)
Restructuring Costs (5)   (14.6)   (0.4)   (21.1)   (47.7)
  

 

   $115.5   ($103.6)   $364.9   $86.1 
  

 

         
  September 30,  December 31,
Identifiable Assets  2005  2004
Cleaning & Organization   $776.7   $825.7 
Office Products   955.8   997.8 
Tools & Hardware   857.0   836.2 
Home Fashions   517.6   599.0 
Other   476.1   523.1 
Corporate (6)   2,493.6   2,708.1 
Discontinued Operations   50.2   176.6 
  

 

   $6,127.0   $6,666.5 
  

 

Geographic Area Information
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net Sales                 
United States   $1,129.0   $1,155.9   $3,208.3   $3,313.7 
Canada   100.3   86.9   266.2   248.7 
  

 

North America   1,229.3   1,242.8   3,474.5   3,562.4 
Europe   267.2   294.5   864.1   937.2 
Central and South America   61.7   48.2   162.9   148.7 
All other   40.0   35.8   114.8   110.9 
  

 

   $1,598.2   $1,621.3   $4,616.3   $4,759.2 
  

 

                 
Operating Income (Loss) (7)                 
United States   $142.9   $119.6   $347.6   $296.1 
Canada   21.7   19.7   50.8   52.1 
  

 

North America   164.6   139.3   398.4   348.2 
Europe   (61.0)   (211.4)   (66.5)   (241.4)
Central and South America   4.2   (38.9)   12.3   (36.4)
All other   7.7   7.4   20.7   15.7 
  

 

   $115.5   ($103.6)   $364.9   $86.1 
  

 

         
  September 30,  December 31,
Identifiable Assets (8)  2005  2004
United States   $4,530.1   $4,797.2 
Canada   98.9   114.1 
  

 

North America   4,629.0   4,911.3 
Europe   1,129.2   1,257.4 
Central and South America   186.6   185.1 
All other   132.0   136.1 
Discontinued Operations   50.2   176.6 
  

 

   $6,127.0   $6,666.5 
  

 

 1)  All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Sales to Wal*Mart Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries amounted to approximately 14% and 15% of consolidated net sales in the first nine
months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. Sales to no other customer exceeded 10% of consolidated net sales for either period.
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 2)  Operating income (loss) is net sales less cost of products sold, selling, general and administrative expenses, impairment charges, and restructuring costs. Certain headquarters expenses of
an operational nature are allocated to business segments and geographic areas primarily on a net sales basis.

 3)  Corporate operating expenses consist primarily of administrative costs that are not allocated to a particular segment.
 4)  Impairment charges have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information.
 5)  Restructuring costs have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for a breakout of the costs by reportable

segment for 2004.
 6)  Corporate assets primarily include trade names, goodwill and deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the write-down of goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the impairment

charges (see Footnote 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)) have been reflected as reductions in Corporate assets.
 7)  The restructuring costs and impairment charges have been reflected in the appropriate geographic regions for all periods presented.
 8)  Transfers of finished goods between geographic areas are not significant. Corporate assets are primarily reflected in the United States.

Footnote 13 — Contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. These proceedings include claims for damages arising out of use of the
Company’s products, allegations of infringement of intellectual property, commercial disputes and employment related matters, as well as environmental
matters. Some of the legal proceedings include claims for punitive as well as compensatory damages, and a few proceedings purport to be class actions.

Although management of the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these legal proceedings with certainty, it believes that the ultimate resolution
of the Company’s legal proceedings, including any amounts it may be required to pay in excess of amounts reserved, will not have a material effect on the
Company’s financial statements.

In the normal course of business and as part of its acquisition and divestiture strategy, the Company may provide certain representations and indemnifications
related to legal, environmental, product liability, tax or other types of issues. Based on the nature of these representations and indemnifications, it is not
possible to predict the maximum potential payments under all of these agreements due to the conditional nature of the Company’s obligations and the unique
facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payments made by the Company under these agreements did not have a material
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operation.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Company remains committed to investing in strategic brands and new product development, achieving a best cost position, and strengthening its portfolio
of businesses. The Company will continue to make investments in advertising, promotion, and research and development in its “invest” businesses, which
encompass the Company’s high-potential, high margin brands, while taking action to improve profitability in “fix” businesses, which encompass many of the
Company’s low margin product lines.

The Company defines invest businesses as those having high margin opportunity and the ability to generate growth through innovative new products and
investments in brand building and marketing. Invest businesses are generally meeting or exceeding the company’s minimum financial targets and collectively
generate operating income percentages of 15% or higher. Fix businesses are characterized by the Company as having various challenges and unacceptable
profitability. Management’s primary focus for fix businesses is to take significant actions to improve profitability. Currently, the Company classifies
Rubbermaid Home Products, Cookware Europe, Home Fashions and Little Tikes as fix businesses.

The Company made significant progress in the first nine months of 2005 toward achieving its previously announced 2005 key objectives. The Company’s key
objectives for 2005, and the progress made in the first nine months of 2005 toward achieving such priorities, are highlighted below:

1.  Strengthen/Broaden Portfolio: The Company continues to evaluate its current portfolio and intends to pursue acquisition opportunities to complement
internal growth. In addition to acquiring high potential businesses or product lines, such as the pending DYMO transaction, the Company is focused on
divesting non-strategic businesses and rationalizing low margin product lines that do not fit within the Company’s strategy, such as the Curver business
and the pending sale of its European Cookware business, as well as certain product lines in the Cleaning & Organization business. See Footnote 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information on acquisitions. See Footnotes 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited) for additional information on divestitures.

 

2.  Invest in High Margin Businesses: The Company continues to focus significant resources on enhancing its new product development pipeline, as well
as strengthening the Company’s numerous brands through targeted advertising and promotion. In the first nine months of 2005, the Company made
additional investments in SG&A (primarily in the Office Products and Tools & Hardware segments), which were partially offset by the positive impact of
the U.S. pension curtailment (discussed in Footnote 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)). The net impact was an increase in SG&A
of $23.7 million over the first nine months of 2004. The Company will continue to make investments in SG&A in its invest businesses with planned
investments of approximately $10 million in the fourth quarter of 2005.

 

  In order to partially fund increases in SG&A in the invest businesses, the Company is focused on streamlining its operations to reduce non-strategic costs
throughout the organization.

 

3.  Address Raw Material Inflation: The Company has several businesses that have been significantly impacted by raw material inflation, particularly in
resin and to a lesser extent, steel. The Company historically combated such cost increases through internal productivity initiatives. However, due to the
continued inflationary pressure in raw materials, the Company has implemented sales price increases to offset a portion of the increased costs. In the first
nine months of 2005, the Company experienced raw material inflation of approximately $105 million (primarily in resin and steel), partially offset by
pricing increases of approximately $96 million. For the full year raw material inflation is expected to be $160 million, which will be partially offset by
forecasted price increases of approximately $130 million.

 

4.  Reduce Manufacturing Overhead: The Company is committed to reducing its manufacturing costs by at least five percent annually. As a result of the
recent divestiture and product line rationalization programs, the Company is focused on reengineering its manufacturing overhead structure to
accommodate its current manufacturing base.
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  In the third quarter of 2005, the Company announced a global initiative referred to as Project Acceleration aimed at strengthening and transforming the
Company’s portfolio. In connection with Project Acceleration, on September 13, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a three-year
restructuring plan, commencing in 2006 (the “2006 Plan”). While the Board of Directors has approved the overall plan, specific approval of each
individual project is required prior to commencing the action in accordance with the Company’s schedule of corporate authority. As of September 30,
2005, no individual component of the plan had been approved. The 2006 Plan is designed to reduce manufacturing overhead to advance plans for
achieving best cost positions for the Company’s portfolio.

 

  The 2006 Plan is expected to result in cumulative restructuring charges totaling between $350 and $400 million ($295 - $340 million after tax), with
between $220 and $250 million ($185 - $210 million after tax) to be incurred in 2006. The Company expects to use approximately $100 million of cash
related to Project Acceleration. The Company expects annual savings from the 2006 Plan of $120 million upon conclusion of the program.

 

  Additionally, the Company is committed to deploying and implementing Newell Operational Excellence. Newell Operational Excellence is the process
that the Company has developed using best practices from methodologies such as Six Sigma, Kaizen, Kanban and other lean manufacturing principles.
The Company’s rollout of this program in 2002 introduced a new mindset of continuous improvement in manufacturing. The Company delivered
approximately $67 million of gross productivity savings, excluding raw material inflation, during the first nine months of 2005. Gross productivity
savings are forecasted to be $90 million for the full year 2005.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated items from the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a percentage of net sales (in millions, except
percentages):
                                 
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net sales   $1,598.2   100.0%   $1,621.3   100.0%   $4,616.3   100.0%   $4,759.2   100.0%
Cost of products sold   1,098.0   68.7   1,156.6   71.3   3,232.9   70.0   3,415.2   71.8 
  

 
 

 

Gross margin   500.2   31.3   464.7   28.7   1,383.4   30.0   1,344.0   28.2 
Selling, general and

administrative expenses   311.5   19.5   297.9   18.4   938.8   20.3   915.1   19.2 
Impairment charges   58.6   3.7   270.0   16.7   58.6   1.3   295.1   6.2 
Restructuring costs   14.6   0.9   0.4   —   21.1   0.5   47.7   1.0 
  

 
 

 

Operating income (loss)   115.5   7.2   (103.6)   (6.4)   364.9   7.9   86.1   1.8 
Nonoperating expenses:                                 

Interest expense, net   34.3   2.1   29.5   1.8   96.2   2.1   89.9   1.9 
Other (income) expense,

net   (0.6)   —   (0.3)   —   (1.0)   —   3.7   0.1 
  

 
 

 

Net nonoperating expenses   33.7   2.1   29.2   1.8   95.2   2.1   93.6   2.0 
  

 
 

 

Income (loss) before income
taxes   81.8   5.1   (132.8)   (8.2)   269.7   5.8   (7.5)   (0.2)

Income taxes   28.3   1.8   22.9   1.4   27.9   0.6   57.6   1.2 
  

 
 

 

Income (loss) from
continuing operations   53.5   3.3   (155.7)   (9.6)   241.8   5.2   (65.1)   (1.4)

  
 

 
 

Income (loss) from
discontinued operations,
net of tax   18.0   1.1   (70.7)   (4.4)   (67.5)   (1.5)   (175.2)   (3.7)

  
 

 
 

Net income (loss)   $71.5   4.5%   ($226.4)   (14.0)%   $174.3   3.8%   ($240.3)   (5.0)%
  

 

 

 

Three Months Ended September 30, 2005 vs. Three Months Ended September 30, 2004

Consolidated Operating Results:

Net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2005 (third quarter) were $1,598.2 million, representing a decrease of $23.1 million, or 1.4%, from
$1,621.3 million in the comparable quarter of 2004, consisting of the following (in millions, except percentages):
         
  $  %
  

 

Favorable currency translation   $14   0.9%
Favorable pricing   31   1.9 
Product line rationalization   (40)   (2.5)
Core sales   (28)   (1.7)
  

 

   ($23)   (1.4)%
  

 

The Company’s invest businesses generated a 3.7% improvement in sales for the third quarter of 2005 versus the comparable quarter of 2004, driven by a
6.1% increase in the Tools & Hardware business combined with mid single digit growth in the Rubbermaid Commercial and Rubbermaid Food businesses.

Offsetting these improvements was an 8.4% decline in the Company’s businesses classified as fix. Driving the lower sales performance was product line
rationalization in the Rubbermaid Home Products business, core sales
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decline in the European Window Fashion business and lower battery operated product sales in the Little Tikes business. The Company expects the softness in
its fix businesses to continue in the fourth quarter.

Gross margin, as a percentage of net sales, in the third quarter of 2005 was 31.3%, or $500.2 million, versus 28.7%, or $464.7 million, in the comparable
quarter of 2004. The improvement in gross margin is primarily related to favorable pricing of $31 million, or 1.9% of net sales, gross productivity of
$22 million, and favorable mix driven by new products and the continued rationalization of unprofitable product lines, partially offset by raw material
inflation of $17 million, primarily in resin.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) in the third quarter of 2005 were 19.5% of net sales, or $311.5 million, versus 18.4%, or $297.9 million,
in the comparable quarter of 2004. The primary driver of the increase was additional strategic advertising and promotional investments in the Office Products
and Tools & Hardware segments, partially offset by streamlining activities.

The Company recorded non-cash pretax impairment charges in the third quarter of 2005 of $58.6 million, versus $270.0 million in the third quarter of 2004.
The 2005 charge was required to write-down certain assets to fair value, including goodwill, fixed assets, trademarks and trade names related to the
Company’s United Kingdom Home Fashion business and European Cookware business. The 2004 charge was required to write-down certain assets to fair
value, primarily in the Company’s European and Latin American Office Products businesses. See Footnote 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) for additional information.

The Company recorded pre-tax restructuring costs of $14.6 million in the third quarter of 2005, reflecting the closure of a manufacturing facility in the
Cleaning & Organization segment, compared to $0.4 million in the prior year. The 2005 pre-tax costs included $4.9 million of facility and other exit costs,
$6.7 million of employee severance and termination benefits and $3.0 million of exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. See Footnote 5
to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information on these restructuring costs.

Operating income (loss) in the third quarter of 2005 was $115.5 million, or 7.2% of net sales, versus ($103.6) million, or (6.4%), in the comparable quarter of
2004. The improvement in operating margins is the result of the factors described above.

Net nonoperating expenses in the third quarter of 2005 were 2.1% of net sales, or $33.7 million, versus 1.8% of net sales, or $29.2 million, in the comparable
quarter of 2004. The increase in net nonoperating expenses is mainly attributable to an increase in net interest expense of $4.8 million due to higher
borrowing rates.

The effective tax rate was 34.6% in the third quarter of 2005 versus (17.2)% in the third quarter of 2004. The change in the effective tax rate is primarily
related to the non-deductibility associated with a portion of the Company’s impairment charges recorded in 2005 and 2004 ($58.6 million and $270.0 million,
respectively) and the $15.3 million income tax benefit recorded in 2005 compared to the net income tax benefit of $2.9 million recorded in 2004 as a result of
favorable tax contingency settlements. See Footnotes 4 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information.

Income (loss) from continuing operations for the third quarter of 2005 was $53.5 million, compared to ($155.7) million in the third quarter of 2004. Diluted
earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations were $0.19 in the third quarter of 2005 compared to ($0.57) in the third quarter of 2004.

The loss recognized from operations of discontinued operations for the third quarter of 2005 was $2.4 million, net of tax, compared to $79.3 million, net of
tax, in the third quarter of 2004. The gain on disposal of discontinued operations for the third quarter of 2005 was $20.4 million, net of tax, compared to
$8.6 million, net of tax, in the third quarter of 2004. In the third quarter of 2004, the Company recorded a gain on the disposal of the Little Tikes Commercial
Playground Systems business of $9.6 million, net of tax, partially offset by a $1.0 million loss, net of tax, on the disposal of the U.S. picture frames business
(Burnes), the Anchor Hocking glassware business, and the Mirro cookware business. In the third quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a $20.4 million gain,
net of tax, related to a business formerly in the Cleaning & Organization segment to reflect the estimated increase in the value
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of the business. Diluted income (loss) per share from discontinued operations was $0.07 in the third quarter of 2005 compared to ($0.26) in the third quarter
of 2004. See Footnote 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information.

Net income (loss) for the third quarter of 2005 was $71.5 million, compared to ($226.4) million in the third quarter of 2004. Diluted earnings (loss) per share
were $0.26 in the third quarter of 2005 compared to ($0.83) in the third quarter of 2004.

Business Group Operating Results:

Net sales by reportable segment were as follows for the three months ended September 30, (in millions, except percentages):
             
  2005  2004  % Change
Cleaning & Organization   $392.7   $405.4   (3.1)%
Office Products   427.8   424.3   0.8 
Tools & Hardware   318.9   300.6   6.1 
Home Fashions   203.8   228.1   (10.7)
Other   255.0   262.9   (3.0)
  

 

Total Net Sales (1)   $1,598.2   $1,621.3   (1.4)%
  

 

Operating income (loss) by segment was as follows for the three months ended September 30, (in millions, except percentages):
             
  2005  2004  % Change
Cleaning & Organization   $53.7   $29.8   80.2%
Office Products   59.9   61.5   (2.6)
Tools & Hardware   46.3   45.1   2.7 
Home Fashions   13.8   15.9   (13.2)
Other   25.1   24.7   1.6 
Corporate Costs (2)   (10.1)   (10.2)     
Impairment Charges (3)   (58.6)   (270.0)     
Restructuring Costs (4)   (14.6)   (0.4)     
  

 

Total Operating Income (Loss) (5)   $115.5   ($103.6)   211.5%
  

 

 (1)  All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Sales to Wal*Mart Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries amounted to approximately 14% and 15% of consolidated net sales
in the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Sales to no other customer exceeded 10% of consolidated net sales for either period.

 (2)  Corporate operating expenses consist primarily of administrative costs that are not allocated to a particular segment.
 (3)  Impairment charges have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information.
 (4)  Restructuring costs have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for a breakout of the costs by

reportable segment for 2004.
 (5)  Operating income (loss) is net sales less cost of products sold, selling, general and administrative expenses, impairment charges and restructuring costs. Certain

headquarters expenses of an operational nature are allocated to business segments primarily on a net sales basis.

Cleaning & Organization

Net sales for the third quarter of 2005 were $392.7 million, a decrease of $12.7 million, or 3.1%, from $405.4 million in the third quarter of 2004, driven
primarily by the planned product line exits and core sales decline in the Rubbermaid Home Products business, partially offset by mid single digit growth in
both the Rubbermaid Commercial Products and Rubbermaid Foodservice businesses.

Operating income for the third quarter of 2005 was $53.7 million, an increase of $23.9 million, or 80.2%, from $29.8 million in the third quarter of 2004. The
improvement in operating income is the result of pricing actions,
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core sales growth in both the Rubbermaid Commercial Products and Rubbermaid Foodservice businesses, reductions in SG&A, and favorable mix. These
factors were partially offset by raw material inflation and lost absorption in our manufacturing facilities.

Office Products

Net sales for the third quarter of 2005 were $427.8 million, an increase of $3.5 million, or 0.8%, from $424.3 million in the third quarter of 2004. The
increase was primarily due to growth in North and South America, as the Back-to-School season was on plan and slightly above last year. Offsetting this
growth was a high single digit decline in Europe. From a product perspective, everyday writing has stabilized and markers continue to grow double digits,
offset by declines in fine writing and office supplies.

Operating income for the third quarter of 2005 was $59.9 million, a decrease of $1.6 million, or 2.6%, from $61.5 million in the third quarter of 2004.
Increased investment in SG&A, primarily related to the Sharpie advertising campaign, was partially offset by improvements in gross margin driven by new
product introductions and productivity.

Tools & Hardware

Net sales for the third quarter of 2005 were $318.9 million, an increase of $18.3 million, or 6.1%, from $300.6 million in the third quarter of 2004, driven by
strong sales in the LENOX, IRWIN® and BernzOmatic businesses, partially offset by a mid single digit decline in the Amerock business.

Operating income for the third quarter of 2005 was $46.3 million, an increase of $1.2 million, or 2.7%, from $45.1 million in the third quarter of 2004. The
sales increase combined with productivity more than offset raw material inflation, primarily in steel, and increased investments in SG&A.

Home Fashions

Net sales for the third quarter of 2005 were $203.8 million, a decrease of $24.3 million, or 10.7%, from $228.1 million in the third quarter of 2004, driven by
product line exits and core sales declines in the European Home Fashions business.

Operating income for the third quarter of 2005 was $13.8 million, a decrease of $2.1 million, or 13.2%, from $15.9 million in the third quarter of 2004. The
decrease in operating income was due primarily to lower sales, partially offset by productivity and reduced SG&A.

Other

Net sales for the third quarter of 2005 were $255.0 million, a decrease of $7.9 million, or 3.0%, from $262.9 million in the third quarter of 2004, primarily as
a result of core sales declines in Little Tikes battery operated products, partially offset by mid single digit growth in the rest of the segment.

Operating income for the third quarter of 2005 was $25.1 million, an increase of $0.4 million, or 1.6%, from $24.7 million in the third quarter of 2004, driven
primarily by strong productivity and reduced SG&A in the Little Tikes business.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005 vs. Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004

Consolidated Operating Results:
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Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were $4,616.3 million, representing a decrease of $142.9 million, or 3.0% from $4,759.2 million in
the comparable period of 2004, consisting of the following (in millions, except percentages):
         
  $  %
  

 

Favorable currency translation   $62   1.3%
Favorable pricing   96   2.0 
Product line rationalization   (161)   (3.4)
Core sales   (140)   (2.9)
  

 

   ($143)   (3.0)%
  

 

Net sales in the Company’s invest businesses improved 2.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 versus the comparable period of 2004, led by
mid single digit growth in Tools & Hardware and Rubbermaid Commercial Products.

Net sales in the Company’s fix businesses declined 9.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 versus the comparable period of 2004, as a result of
low margin product line exits in Rubbermaid Home Products and core sales declines in the European Window Fashion business and lower battery operated
product sales in the Little Tikes business.

Gross margin, as a percentage of net sales, for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was 30.0%, or $1,383.4 million, versus 28.2%, or $1,344.0 million,
in the comparable period of 2004. The improvement in gross margin is primarily related to favorable pricing of $96 million, or 2.0% of net sales, gross
productivity of $67 million, and favorable mix driven by new products and the continued rationalization of unprofitable product lines, partially offset by raw
material inflation of $105 million (primarily resin and steel) and the impact of the core sales decline.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were 20.3% of net sales, or $938.8 million, versus
19.2%, or $915.1 million, in the comparable period of 2004. The increase in SG&A reflects a currency impact of $16.0 million. All other SG&A was up
$7.7 million, with strategic investments in invest businesses, partially offset by streamlining in the Company’s fix businesses.

The Company recorded non-cash pretax impairment charges of $58.6 million and $295.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This 2005 charge was required to write-down certain assets to fair value, including goodwill, trademarks and trade names related to the
Company’s United Kingdom Home Fashion business and European Cookware fixed assets. The 2004 charge was required to write-down certain assets to fair
value, primarily in the Company’s European and Latin American Office Products businesses. See Footnote 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) for additional information.

The Company recorded pre-tax restructuring costs of $21.1 million and $47.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The 2005 pre-tax costs included $6.1 million of facility and other exit costs, $10.7 million of employee severance and termination benefits and $4.3 million of
exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. The 2004 pre-tax costs included $32.0 million of facility and other exit costs, $10.4 million of
employee severance and termination benefits and $5.3 million of exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. See Footnote 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information on the restructuring costs.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $364.9 million, or 7.9% of net sales, versus $86.1 million, or 1.8% of net sales, in the
comparable period of 2004. The improvement in operating margins is the result of the factors described above.

Net nonoperating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were 2.1% of net sales, or $95.2 million, versus 2.0% of net sales, or
$93.6 million, in the comparable period of 2004. The increase in net nonoperating expenses is mainly attributable to an increase in net interest expense,
$96.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 compared to $89.9 million for the same period for 2004. The increase was primarily due to
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higher borrowing rates, partially offset by lower average debt balances. Partially offsetting the increase in net interest expense are gains recognized in 2005 on
the sale of property, plant and equipment.

The effective tax rate was 10.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 versus 768.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. The change in
the effective tax rate is primarily related to the $73.9 million income tax benefit recorded in 2005 compared to the net income tax benefit of $9.3 million
recorded in 2004, as a result of favorable resolution of certain tax positions, the expiration of the statute of limitations and the non-deductibility associated
with a portion of the Company’s impairment charges recorded in 2005 and 2004 ($58.6 million and $295.1 million, respectively). See Footnotes 4 and 9 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information.

Income (loss) from continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $241.8 million, compared to ($65.1) million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2004. Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations was $0.88 for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 compared
to ($0.24) for the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

The loss recognized from operations of discontinued operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $0.1 million, net of tax, compared to
$84.7 million, net of tax, for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. The loss on disposal of discontinued operations for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 was $67.4 million, net of tax, compared to $90.5 million, net of tax, for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2004, the Company recorded a $21.5 million loss, net of tax, on the disposal of the U.S. picture frames business (Burnes), the Anchor
Hocking glassware business, and the Mirro cookware business, a $72.2 million loss, net of tax, on the disposal of the Panex Brazilian low-end cookware
division, a $6.4 million loss, net of tax, on the disposal of the European picture frames business, partially offset by a gain on the disposal of the Little Tikes
Commercial Playground Systems business of $9.6 million, net of tax. For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the $67.4 million loss, net of tax, on the
disposal of discontinued operations was comprised primarily of a $62.0 million loss, net of tax, on the disposal of the Curver business and a $4.1 million
impairment loss, net of tax, related to a business formerly in the Cleaning & Organization segment. Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations was
$0.25 for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 compared to $0.64 for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. See Footnote 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further information.

Net income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $174.3 million, compared to ($240.3) million for the nine months ended September 30,
2004. Diluted earnings (loss) per share was $0.63 for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 compared to ($0.88) for the nine months ended
September 30, 2004.

Business Segment Operating Results:

Net sales by reportable segment were as follows for the nine months ended September 30, (in millions, except percentages):
             
  2005  2004  % Change
Cleaning & Organization   $1,093.7   $1,191.3   (8.2)%
Office Products   1,256.1   1,246.3   0.8 
Tools & Hardware   910.8   875.2   4.1 
Home Fashions   614.1   679.1   (9.6)
Other   741.6   767.3   (3.3)
  

 

Total Net Sales (1)   $4,616.3   $4,759.2   (3.0)%
  

 

Operating income by segment was as follows for the nine months ended September 30, (in millions, except percentages):
             
  2005  2004  % Change
Cleaning & Organization   $89.3   $55.2   61.8%
Office Products   192.3   188.8   1.9 
Tools & Hardware   122.3   131.6   (7.1)
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Home Fashions   12.9   25.0   (48.4)
Other   57.1   55.6   2.7 
Corporate Costs (2)   (29.3)   (27.3)     
Impairment Charges (3)   (58.6)   (295.1)     
Restructuring Costs (4)   (21.1)   (47.7)     
  

 

Total Operating Income (5)   $364.9   $86.1   323.8%
  

 

 (1)  All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Sales to Wal*Mart Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries amounted to approximately 14% and 15% consolidated net sales in
the first nine months of 2005 and 2004. Sales to no other customer exceeded 10% of consolidated net sales for either period.

 (2)  Corporate operating expenses consist primarily of administrative costs that are not allocated to a particular segment.
 (3)  Impairment charges have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information.
 (4)  Restructuring costs have been presented separately in this table; refer to Footnote 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for a breakout of the costs by

reportable segment for 2004.
 (5)  Operating income is net sales less cost of products sold, selling, general and administrative expenses, impairment charges and restructuring costs. Certain headquarters

expenses of an operational nature are allocated to business segments primarily on a net sales basis.

Cleaning & Organization

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were $1,093.7 million, a decrease of $97.6 million, or 8.2%, from $1,191.3 million in the
comparable period of 2004, driven primarily by the planned product line exits and core sales declines in the Rubbermaid Home Products business. These
factors were partially offset by mid single digit growth in the Rubbermaid Commercial Products business, favorable pricing and foreign currency translation.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $89.3 million, an increase of $34.1 million, or 61.8%, from $55.2 million in the
comparable period of 2004. The improvement in operating income is the result of core sales growth in Rubbermaid Commercial Products, favorable sales mix
and favorable pricing which more than offset raw material inflation and lost absorption in manufacturing facilities.

Office Products

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were $1,256.1 million, an increase of $9.8 million, or 0.8% from $1,246.3 million in the comparable
period of 2004. The increase was primarily due to strong Back-to-School season sales, the successful implementation of new products in the markers business
and favorable foreign currency translation, partially offset by sales declines in the fine writing, everyday writing and office supplies businesses.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $192.3 million, an increase of $3.5 million, or 1.9%, from $188.8 million in the
comparable period of 2004, as a result of increased sales and improved margins associated with the new product introductions and productivity, partially
offset by raw material inflation and increased investment in SG&A, primarily related to the Sharpie® advertising campaign.

Tools & Hardware

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were $910.8 million, an increase of $35.6 million, or 4.1%, from $875.2 million in the comparable
period of 2004, driven by increases in the LENOX, IRWIN and BernzOmatic businesses, partially offset by sales declines in the Amerock business.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $122.3 million, a decrease of $9.3 million, or 7.1%, from $131.6 million in the
comparable period of 2004, driven by raw material inflation, unfavorable mix, restructuring related costs at the Amerock and IRWIN businesses and
continued investments in SG&A in the tools business, partially offset by productivity and the sales increase noted above.

Home Fashions
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Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were $614.1 million, a decrease of $65.0 million, or 9.6%, from $679.1 million in the comparable
period of 2004, driven by product line exits and core sales declines in the European Home Fashions business, partially offset by favorable foreign currency
translation.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $12.9 million, a decrease of $12.1 million, or 48.4%, from $25.0 million in the
comparable period of 2004. The decrease in operating income was due primarily to lower sales, and the liquidation of Douglas Kane, partially offset by
productivity.

Other

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were $741.6 million, a decrease of $25.7 million, or 3.3%, from $767.3 million in the comparable
period of 2004. The decline is primarily the result of product line exits in the Graco business and core sales declines in the Little Tikes battery operated
products business, partially offset by favorable pricing and foreign currency translation.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $57.1 million, an increase of $1.5 million, or 2.7%, from $55.6 million in the
comparable period of 2004, driven primarily by strong productivity, favorable pricing and reduced SG&A in the juvenile products businesses, partially offset
by raw material inflation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $20.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. The change in cash and cash equivalents is as follows
for the nine months ended September 30, (in millions):
         
  2005  2004
  

 

Cash provided by operating activities   $451.3   $421.8 
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (75.8)   191.0 
Cash used in financing activities   (387.4)   (402.4)
Exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents   (8.2)   (0.3)
  

 

   
(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents   ($20.1)   $210.1 
  

 

Sources:

The Company’s primary sources of liquidity and capital resources include cash provided from operations, proceeds from the disposal of noncurrent assets,
proceeds from the sale of businesses, and use of available borrowing facilities.

Cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was $451.3 million compared to $421.8 million for the comparable
period of 2004. The increase in cash provided from operating activities was primarily due to the improvement in inventory and a voluntary $50 million cash
contribution to the Company’s U.S. pension plan in 2004 that did not occur in 2005.

The Company has a $650.0 million five-year Syndicated Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”) that is scheduled to expire in June 2007. At
September 30, 2005, there were no borrowings under the Revolver.

In lieu of borrowings under the Revolver, the Company may issue up to $650.0 million of commercial paper. The Revolver provides the committed backup
liquidity required to issue commercial paper. Accordingly, commercial paper may only be issued up to the amount available for borrowing under the
Revolver. At September 30, 2005, no commercial paper was outstanding.

The Revolver permits the Company to borrow funds on a variety of interest rate terms. The Revolver requires, among other things, that the Company
maintain certain Interest Coverage and Total Indebtedness to Total Capital Ratio, as defined in the agreement. The agreement also limits Subsidiary
Indebtedness. As of September 30, 2005, the Company was in compliance with this agreement.
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In the first nine months of 2005, the Company received proceeds from the issuance of debt of $134.1 million compared to $21.3 million in the year ago
period.

In the first nine months of 2005, the Company received cash proceeds of $29.4 million related to the sale of businesses and other non-current assets,
compared to $289.2 million in the year ago period. Businesses sold in 2004 include the Panex Brazilian low-end cookware division, European picture frames
businesses, U.S. picture frames business (Burnes), Anchor Hocking glassware business, Mirro cookware business and the Little Tikes Commercial
Playground Systems business.

Uses:

The Company’s primary uses of liquidity and capital resources include acquisitions, payments on notes payable and long-term debt, dividend payments, and
expenditures for property, plant and equipment.

In the first nine months of 2005, the Company spent $35.3 million on strategic acquisitions, compared to $3.0 million in the year ago period.

In the first nine months of 2005, the Company made payments on notes payable and long-term debt of $345.0 million compared to $251.9 million in the year
ago period, including the purchases in 2005 of 550,000 shares and 200,000 shares of its Preferred Securities from holders for $47.375 per share and $46.25
per share, respectively. The Company paid $26.1 million and $9.3 million, respectively, for the purchases of these securities. In October 2004, the Company
purchased 825,000 shares of its Preferred Securities from a holder for $43.6875 per share. The Company paid a total of $36 million. See Footnote 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information on these transactions.

Cash used for restructuring activities was $24.2 million and $71.8 million in the first nine months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. These payments relate
primarily to employee termination benefits. In 2006, the Company expects to use approximately $100 million of cash related to Project Acceleration. See
Footnote 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for additional information.

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment were $69.9 million and $95.2 million in the first nine months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company is
focused on capital spending discipline and expects to spend between $100 million and $110 million in 2005 on property, plant and equipment.

Aggregate dividends paid were $173.7 million and $173.2 million in the first nine months of 2005 and 2004, respectively. In November 2005, the Company
expects to declare a quarterly cash dividend of $0.21 per share on the Company’s common stock, payable in the fourth quarter of 2005.

In the third quarter of 2004, the Company made a voluntary $50.0 million cash contribution to fund the Company’s U.S. pension plan.

Retained earnings increased in the first nine months of 2005 by $0.6 million. The increase in retained earnings is due to the current year net income, mostly
offset by cash dividends paid on common stock.

Working capital at September 30, 2005 was $1,270.2 million compared to $1,141.1 million at December 31, 2004. The current ratio at September 30, 2005
was 1.85:1 compared to 1.61:1 at December 31, 2004. The increase in working capital is due to favorable tax settlements and the reduction of other accrued
liabilities, primarily as a result of spending on previously announced restructuring plans.

Total debt to total capitalization (total debt is net of cash and cash equivalents, and total capitalization includes total debt and stockholders’ equity) was ..53:1
at September 30, 2005 and .55:1 at December 31, 2004.

The Company believes that cash provided from operations and available borrowing facilities will continue to provide adequate support for the cash needs of
existing businesses on a short-term basis; however, certain events, such as significant acquisitions, could require additional external financing on a long-term
basis. The DYMO
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acquisition, expected to close prior to December 31, 2005, is expected to be funded through a combination of approximately $200 million in short-term
borrowings and the remainder of the purchase price with cash on hand. See Footnote 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for further
information.

Minimum Pension Liability

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, the Company expects to record an
additional minimum pension liability adjustment at December 31, 2005. Based on September 30, 2005 pension values, the approximate effect of this non-cash
adjustment would be to increase the pension liability by approximately $60 to $90 million, with a corresponding charge to equity, net of taxes, of
approximately $40 to $60 million. The direct charge to stockholders’ equity would not affect net income, but would be included in other comprehensive
income. The Company believes that its pension plan has the appropriate long-term investment strategy and the Company’s liquidity position is expected to
remain strong.

Market Risk

The Company’s market risk is impacted by changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and certain commodity prices. Pursuant to the
Company’s policies, natural hedging techniques and derivative financial instruments may be utilized to reduce the impact of adverse changes in market prices.
The Company does not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes.

The Company manages interest rate exposure through its conservative debt ratio target and its mix of fixed and floating rate debt. Interest rate swaps may be
used to adjust interest rate exposures when appropriate based on market conditions, and, for qualifying hedges, the interest differential of swaps is included in
interest expense.

The Company’s foreign exchange risk management policy emphasizes hedging anticipated intercompany and third party commercial transaction exposures of
one-year duration or less. The Company focuses on natural hedging techniques of the following form: 1) offsetting or netting of like foreign currency flows,
2) structuring foreign subsidiary balance sheets with appropriate levels of debt to reduce subsidiary net investments and subsidiary cash flows subject to
conversion risk, 3) converting excess foreign currency deposits into U.S. dollars or the relevant functional currency and 4) avoidance of risk by denominating
contracts in the appropriate functional currency. In addition, the Company utilizes forward contracts and purchased options to hedge commercial and
intercompany transactions. Gains and losses related to qualifying hedges of commercial and intercompany transactions are deferred and included in the basis
of the underlying transactions. Derivatives used to hedge intercompany loans are marked to market with the corresponding gains or losses included in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company purchases certain raw materials, including resin, steel and aluminum, which are subject to price volatility caused by unpredictable factors.
While future movements of raw material costs are uncertain, a variety of programs, including periodic raw material purchases, purchases of raw materials for
future delivery and customer price adjustments help the Company address this risk. Generally, the Company does not use derivatives to manage the volatility
related to this risk. In the first nine months of 2005, the Company experienced raw material inflation of approximately $105 million (primarily in resin and
steel), partially offset by pricing increases of approximately $96 million. For the full year, raw material inflation is expected to be $160 million, which will be
partially offset by forecasted price increases of $130 million.

The amounts shown below represent the estimated potential economic loss that the Company could incur from adverse changes in either interest rates or
foreign exchange rates using the value-at-risk estimation model. The value-at-risk model uses historical foreign exchange rates and interest rates to estimate
the volatility and correlation of these rates in future periods. It estimates a loss in fair market value using statistical modeling techniques that are based on a
variance/covariance approach and includes substantially all market risk exposures (specifically excluding equity-method investments). The fair value losses
shown in the table below have no impact on results of operations or financial condition, but are shown as an illustration of the impact of potential adverse
changes in interest rates. The following table indicates the calculated amounts for the nine months ended September 30, (in millions, except percentages):
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  2005      2004     
  Nine      Nine     
  Month  September 30,  Month  September 30,  Confidence
  Average  2005  Average  2004  Level
Interest rates   $10.0   $9.2   $12.3   $11.3   95%
Foreign exchange   $2.3   $2.6   $2.3   $1.6   95%

The 95% confidence interval signifies the Company’s degree of confidence that actual losses would not exceed the estimated losses shown above. The
amounts shown here disregard the possibility that interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates could move in the Company’s favor. The value-at-risk
model assumes that all movements in these rates will be adverse. Actual experience has shown that gains and losses tend to offset each other over time, and it
is highly unlikely that the Company could experience losses such as these over an extended period of time. These amounts should not be considered
projections of future losses, because actual results may differ significantly depending upon activity in the global financial markets.

Forward Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this Report are made in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such
forward-looking statements may relate to, but are not limited to, information or assumptions about the effects of Project Acceleration, sales (including
pricing), income/(loss), earnings per share, operating income or gross margin improvements, return on equity, return on invested capital, capital expenditures,
working capital, cash flow, dividends, capital structure, debt to capitalization ratios, interest rates, internal growth rates, restructuring, impairment and other
charges, potential losses on divestitures, impact of changes in accounting standards, pending legal proceedings and claims (including environmental matters),
future economic performance, operating income improvements, costs and cost savings (including raw material inflation, productivity and streamlining),
synergies, management’s plans, goals and objectives for future operations, performance and growth or the assumptions relating to any of the forward-looking
statements. The Company cautions that forward-looking statements are not guarantees because there are inherent difficulties in predicting future results.
Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ
include, but are not limited to, those matters set forth in this Report and Exhibit 99.1 to this Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Market Risk” in the Company’s Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition (Part I, Item 2).

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of September 30, 2005, an evaluation was performed by the Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s
chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the
chief executive officer and the chief financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2005 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Information required under this Item is contained above in Part I. Financial Information, Item 1 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 6. Exhibits.
     
   2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2005, by and between the Company and Esselte AB.
     
   10.1 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan
     
   12 Statement of Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
     
 

 
 31.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
 

 
 31.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
 

 
 32.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
 

 
 32.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
   99.1 Safe Harbor Statement.
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STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

          Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2005, by and between Newell Rubbermaid Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of
Delaware (“Purchaser”), Esselte AB, a corporation organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden (“Seller”), and solely with respect to Section 10.12,
Esselte Group Holdings AB, a corporation organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden and the indirect parent company of Seller (“Parent”). Certain
capitalized terms used in this Agreement have the meanings assigned to them in Article IX.

          WHEREAS, Seller owns all of the issued and outstanding shares (the “DYMO Shares”) of capital stock of Goldcup D 892 AB, org. no. 556682-8108, a
corporation organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden (“DYMO AB”), and all of the issued and outstanding shares (the “Holdings Shares”) of
capital stock of Esselte Holdings, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Holdings”), and will own all of the issued and
outstanding registered shares (the “BVBA Shares”) of Esselte BVBA, a corporation organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium (“BVBA,” and
together with DYMO AB and Holdings, the “Companies”); and

          WHEREAS, each of the Boards of Directors of Purchaser and Seller has approved, and deems it advisable and in the best interests of its respective
shareholders to consummate, the acquisition of the Companies by Purchaser, which acquisition is to be effected by the purchase of all the outstanding capital
stock of the Companies by Purchaser or one or more Designated Purchaser Affiliates, and the purchase of the Outside Inventory by one or more Designated
Purchaser Affiliates, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

          NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein,
intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES

          Section 1.1 Sale and Transfer of Shares. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing Seller shall sell, convey, assign, transfer
and deliver to Purchaser or one or more Designated Purchaser Affiliates the Shares, and shall cause the Outside Inventory Sellers to sell, convey, assign,
transfer and deliver to Designated Purchaser Affiliates the Outside Inventory, in each case, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for restrictions on
transfer of the Shares arising under the Securities Act or any applicable state or foreign securities laws.

          Section 1.2 The Purchase Price. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in consideration of the aforesaid sale, conveyance, assignment,
transfer and delivery to Purchaser or one or more Designated Purchaser Affiliates of the

 



 

Shares and the aforesaid sale, conveyance, assignment, transfer and delivery to the Designated Purchaser Affiliates of the Outside Inventory, Purchaser shall
pay to Seller an amount of cash equal to the Purchase Price. The Closing Payment shall be paid to Seller at Closing in accordance with Section 2.3(a) below,
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 1.3.

          Section 1.3 Purchase Price Adjustments.

               (a) Seller and Purchaser agree that the Purchase Price shall be increased or decreased, as the case may be, dollar for dollar by the amount of the
Closing Adjustment in accordance with this Section 1.3. Other than pursuant to Section 5.4(c) and Section 5.15, if applicable, and this Section 1.3, the
Purchase Price shall not be adjusted under this Section 1.3 by any other items.

               (b) Seller shall prepare and deliver to the Purchaser, at least two (2) business days prior to the Closing Date, a certificate executed by a senior
executive officer of the Seller setting forth in reasonable detail Seller’s calculation, and the amount of, the Estimated Closing Adjustment, including the
amount of the Closing Net Working Capital (which will be calculated and prepared in accordance with the Accounting Principles) estimated in order to
calculate the Working Capital Adjustment. The Estimated Closing Adjustment shall be prepared by Seller in good faith and in accordance with this
Agreement and the books and records of the Companies and the Subsidiaries. Should Seller or its Affiliates conduct or cause to be conducted a physical count
of the Inventory for the purpose of calculating the Estimated Closing Adjustment, Seller shall give Purchaser at least seven (7) days notice of such physical
count and Purchaser, at its request, shall have the opportunity to be present with its Representatives at such physical count.

               (c) Within seventy-five (75) days after the Closing, Purchaser shall prepare and deliver to Seller a certificate executed by a senior executive officer
of Purchaser (the “Closing Statement”) setting forth in reasonable detail Purchaser’s calculation, and the amount of, the Closing Adjustment, including the
amount of the Closing Net Working Capital (which will be calculated and prepared in accordance with the Accounting Principles) used to calculate the
Working Capital Adjustment. The Closing Statement shall be prepared by Purchaser in good faith and in accordance with this Agreement and the books and
records of the Companies and the Subsidiaries. For purposes of Section 1.3(b) and this Section 1.3(c), in the event of a conflict between any calculation of the
Closing Net Working Capital in accordance with the books and records of the Companies and the Subsidiaries and a calculation of the Closing Net Working
Capital in accordance with the Accounting Principles, the Accounting Principles shall control. Should Purchaser, its Affiliates, the Companies or the
Subsidiaries conduct or cause to be conducted a physical count of the Inventory for the purpose of calculating the Closing Statement, Purchaser shall give
Seller at least seven (7) days notice of such physical count and Seller, at its request, shall have the opportunity to be present with its Representatives at such
physical count.
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               (d) Seller will have seventy-five (75) days following Seller’s receipt of the Closing Statement to review and respond to the Closing Statement. If
Seller notifies Purchaser of its acceptance of the calculation and the amount of the Closing Adjustment set forth in the Closing Statement, or if Seller fails to
deliver a written notice of its disagreement with the amount of the Closing Adjustment set forth in the Closing Statement (the “Seller’s Dispute Report”)
within the seventy-five (75) day period following Seller’s receipt of the Closing Statement, the Closing Adjustment amount shown on the Closing Statement
shall be final, conclusive and binding on the parties as of the last day of such seventy-five (75) day period. If issued, the Seller’s Dispute Report shall set forth
in reasonable detail any proposed adjustment to the Closing Statement and the basis for such adjustment.

               (e) Purchaser and Seller shall cooperate fully with each other and each other’s accountants (subject to compliance with such accountants’ customary
procedures for discussions and, if applicable, release of work papers) in furnishing all information and documents and access at all reasonable times to the
books, records, accounts and facilities of the Companies and their Subsidiaries (and their officers, employees, accountants and representatives) reasonably
requested by the other party or such party’s accountants in connection with the preparation or review of the Closing Statement, the Seller’s Dispute Report
and any other response thereto and in connection with the preparation or review of any submissions pursuant to this Section 1.3. Purchaser and Seller shall
use good faith efforts to resolve the disputed matters specified in the Seller’s Dispute Report (the “Disputed Matters”), and any resolution in writing between
them as to a Disputed Matter shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties hereto, and Purchaser shall modify and redeliver to Seller the Closing
Statement reflecting such resolution. If Purchaser and Seller resolve all Disputed Matters, the Closing Statement, as modified to reflect such resolution, will
become final, binding and conclusive on the date on which all such Disputed Matters are resolved in writing.

               (f) If, after thirty (30) days following Seller’s delivery of the Seller’s Dispute Report, Purchaser and Seller are unable to resolve any Disputed
Matter, such Disputed Matter shall be referred to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or, if PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is unavailable or unable to perform the
services described herein, a replacement independent accounting firm reasonably acceptable to both Purchaser and Seller (the “Arbitrator”) for resolution. If
Seller and Purchaser are not able to resolve in writing each Disputed Matter before the date that the Arbitrator delivers to Seller and Purchaser a copy of its
Determination (as defined below) pursuant to Section 1.3(i) below, such Determination shall become final and binding in accordance with Section 1.3(i)
below.

               (g) The Arbitrator shall be instructed to use every reasonable effort to make its determination (in compliance with this Section 1.3) with respect to
each Disputed Matter (the “Determination”) within forty-five (45) days of the submission to the Arbitrator of the Disputed Matters. Purchaser and Seller shall
cooperate fully with the Arbitrator and furnish all information and documents and access at all reasonable times to the books, records, accounts and facilities
of the Companies and the Subsidiaries (and their officers, employees, accountants (subject to compliance with such accountants’
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customary procedures for discussions and, if applicable, release of work papers) and representatives) as reasonably requested by the Arbitrator for the purpose
of reviewing submissions to it and making the Determination.

               (h) Purchaser and Seller shall each submit a binder to the Arbitrator promptly (and in any event within seven (7) days after the Arbitrator’s
engagement), which binder shall contain such party’s calculation of the Closing Adjustment, including such party’s calculation of the amount of the Closing
Net Working Capital used to calculate the Working Capital Adjustment and information, arguments and support for such party’s position; provided, however,
that Seller’s computations reflected in its binder must match those set forth in Seller’s Dispute Report or agreed to with Purchaser pursuant to Section 1.3(e)
above, and Purchaser’s computations reflected in its binder must match those set forth in the Closing Statement or agreed to with Seller pursuant to
Section 1.3(e) above. The Arbitrator will (i) review the Closing Statement, the Closing Adjustment, Purchaser’s and Seller’s binders and the Seller’s Dispute
Report; (ii) determine (1) whether Purchaser’s proposed amount for each individual item in the Closing Statement or Seller’s proposed adjustment thereto in
the Seller’s Dispute Report is calculated more nearly in accordance with this Section 1.3, and (2) whether there were mathematical errors in the Closing
Statement; (iii) prepare a statement of the Closing Adjustment (the “Final Closing Statement”), which will include each amount in the Closing Statement that
was accepted by Seller, each adjustment otherwise agreed to in writing by Purchaser and Seller pursuant to Section 1.3(e), each amount included in the
Closing Statement that the Arbitrator determines was calculated more nearly in accordance with this Section 1.3 and each amount in the Seller’s Dispute
Report that the Arbitrator determines was calculated more nearly in accordance with this Section 1.3; and (iv) deliver notice of the Determination, which shall
include the final Closing Adjustment as determined by the Arbitrator in accordance with this Section 1.3 and the Final Closing Statement, together with a
report setting forth each Disputed Matter and the Arbitrator’s Determination with respect thereto and each party’s relative portion of the Arbitrator’s fees
(calculated in accordance with Section 1.3(i) below).

               (i) After completing the Determination, the Arbitrator shall deliver notice of the Determination (including the final Closing Adjustment, the Final
Closing Statement and the report referenced in Section 1.3(h) above) to Purchaser and Seller, and upon receipt thereof, the Determination, such Final Closing
Statement and final Closing Adjustment shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties hereto. The costs, fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be
allocated between Purchaser and Seller by the Arbitrator so that the amount of such costs, fees and expenses paid by Seller bears the same proportion to the
total costs, fees and expenses of the Arbitrator as the aggregate dollar amount of such Disputed Matter unsuccessfully disputed by Seller (as determined by the
Arbitrator) bears to the aggregate dollar amount of such Disputed Matter, and Purchaser will pay the remainder of such costs, fees and expenses. All disputes
with respect to the Closing Statement and the Closing Adjustment will be resolved in accordance with this Section 1.3.

               (j) If the Closing Adjustment finally determined in accordance with this Section 1.3 is greater than the Estimated Closing Adjustment, then
Purchaser
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shall pay over to Seller the amount of such difference by wire transfer of immediately available funds within three (3) business days after the date on which
the Closing Adjustment is finally determined in accordance with this Section 1.3, together with interest thereon at a rate equal to the average daily prime rate
of interest publicly announced by JP Morgan Chase & Co. from time to time as its prime rate calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed
over 365, from the Closing Date to and including the date of payment. If the Estimated Closing Adjustment is greater than the Closing Adjustment finally
determined in accordance with this Section 1.3, then Seller shall pay over to Purchaser the amount of such difference, by wire transfer of immediately
available funds, together with interest thereon at a rate equal to the average daily prime rate of interest publicly announced by JP Morgan Chase & Co. from
time to time as its prime rate calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed over 365, from the Closing Date to and including the date of
payment, within three (3) business days after the date on which the Closing Adjustment is finally determined in accordance with this Section 1.3.

          Section 1.4 Purchase Price Allocation.

               (a) Prior to November 1, 2005, Seller shall prepare in good faith and deliver to Purchaser a schedule (the “Preliminary Allocation Schedule”) that
shall set forth the specific allocation of the portion of the Purchase Price set forth on Exhibit 1.4(a) allocated among the shares of Esselte BVBA, shares of
DYMO AB and Outside Inventory. Within forty-five (45) days after the final Closing Adjustment is determined pursuant to Section 1.3, Seller shall prepare in
good faith and deliver to Purchaser a revised schedule (the “Allocation Schedule”) that shall set forth an updated allocation of the Purchase Price among the
Shares and the Outside Inventory consistent with the allocation set forth on the Preliminary Allocation Schedule. Any adjustments to the Purchase Price
pursuant to Section 1.3 shall be allocated among the Shares and the Outside Inventory in proportion to the fair market value of the item as a percentage of the
Purchase Price as set forth on Exhibit 1.4(a) (as may be adjusted as described in footnote 1 of Exhibit 1.4(a) if the Reorganization Plan is the Corporation
Proposal (as may be amended pursuant to Section 5.15)).

               (b) Purchaser may dispute any allocation of the adjustments set forth on the Allocation Schedule; provided, however, that (i) Purchaser shall not
dispute the percentage proportions as set forth in Exhibit 1.4(a) (as may be adjusted as described in footnote 1 of Exhibit 1.4(a) if the Reorganization Plan is
the Corporation Proposal (as may be amended pursuant to Section 5.15)) and (ii) Purchaser shall notify Seller in writing (the “Allocation Objection Notice”)
of each disputed item, specifying the allocation in dispute and setting forth, in reasonable detail, the basis for such dispute within thirty (30) days of
Purchaser’s receipt of the Allocation Schedule. If Purchaser does not deliver an Allocation Objection Notice to Seller within the thirty (30) day period
following Purchaser’s receipt of the Allocation Schedule, the Allocation Schedule shall be the final allocation of the Purchase Price. If Purchaser does deliver
an Allocation Objection Notice to Seller within the thirty (30) day period following Purchaser’s receipt of the Allocation Schedule, Seller and Purchaser shall
attempt to resolve any differences identified in the Allocation Objection Notice within the succeeding thirty (30) days and,
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if they are able to resolve all such differences, the allocation agreed to shall be the final allocation of the Purchase Price. If Purchaser and Seller are unable to
resolve all such differences, any remaining differences shall be submitted to the Arbitrator for resolution within the next thirty (30) days. The Arbitrator shall
be instructed to determine whether the position maintained by Seller or by Purchaser is the more reasonable position and to select one of the two positions.
The allocation determined by the Arbitrator shall be the final allocation of the Purchase Price. The fees and costs of the Arbitrator pursuant to this
Section 1.4(b) shall be borne equally by Purchaser and Seller.

               (c) The final allocation of the Purchase Price (as may be further adjusted pursuant to Section 5.4) shall be used by Purchaser and Seller (and their
respective Affiliates) in preparing and filing all Tax Returns (including Form 8594, Asset Acquisition Statement) except as required pursuant to a “final
determination” as such term is defined in the Code or similar determination pursuant to state, local or foreign Tax Law.

ARTICLE II

THE CLOSING

          Section 2.1 The Closing. The sale and transfer of the Shares by Seller to Purchaser or one or more Designated Purchaser Affiliates and the sale and
transfer of the Outside Inventory by the Outside Inventory Sellers to the Designated Purchaser Affiliates shall take place at the offices of Skadden, Arps,
Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, One Beacon Street, Boston, Massachusetts at 10:00 a.m., Boston time, three (3) business days following the satisfaction and/or
waiver of all conditions to Closing set forth in Article VI (other than conditions which can be satisfied only by the delivery of certificates, or other documents
at the Closing) unless another date, time or place is agreed to in writing by each of the parties hereto.

          Section 2.2 Deliveries by Seller. At the Closing, Seller shall:

               (a) deliver to Purchaser the share certificates (Sw. aktiebrev) evidencing the Shares, duly endorsed in favor of the applicable Designated Purchaser
Affiliate;

               (b) deliver to Purchaser a certificate signed by Seller, dated as of the Closing Date, to the effect that the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a) and
Section 6.2(b) have been satisfied;

               (c) deliver to Purchaser written resignations of the directors of each Company and Subsidiary;

               (d) deliver to Purchaser (i) in the event the Reorganization is completed as described in the Holdings Proposal (as may be amended pursuant to
Section 5.15), a certification of U.S. status issued by Holdings substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit 2.2(d)(i) hereto, or (ii) in the event the
Reorganization is completed as described in the Corporation Proposal (as may be amended pursuant to Section 5.15), a
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certification of non-U.S. real property holding corporation status issued by Holdings substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit 2.2(d)(ii) hereto;

               (e) take all actions necessary to register the transfer of the Shares from Seller to Purchaser in the share registers of the Companies;

               (f) deliver to Purchaser an omnibus bill of sale for the sale and transfer of the Outside Inventory to the Designated Purchaser Affiliates executed by
the Outside Inventory Sellers substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2.2(f);

               (g) deliver to Purchaser the Transition Services Agreement, executed by Seller;

               (h) deliver to Purchaser a copy of the acknowledgement of the Senior Agent (as defined in the Credit Agreement) or other appropriate senior credit
officer under the Credit Agreement, in form customarily given in the United Kingdom for similar credit agreements, that the Companies and the Subsidiaries
have been removed and released from their obligations under the Credit Agreement;

               (i) deliver to Purchaser a copy of an acknowledgement in the form contemplated by the Indenture from The Bank of New York, as trustee, of the
satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture with regard to the Companies and the Subsidiaries;

               (j) deliver to Purchaser a copy of an acknowledgement in customary form from the Trustee, the Issuer, and the Bank (each as defined in the
respective IRB Loan Agreement) that the Companies and the Subsidiaries have been removed and released from their obligations under the IRBs;

               (k) deliver to Purchaser a copy of the Post-Closing Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit 2.2(k) hereto, and the Escrow Agreement attached
thereto, each of which shall be signed by Parent and Seller; and

               (l) deliver all other previously undelivered documents required to be delivered by Seller to Purchaser at or prior to the Closing in connection with the
Transactions pursuant hereto.

          Section 2.3 Deliveries by Purchaser. At the Closing, Purchaser shall:

               (a) transfer the Closing Payment to an account designated by Seller prior to the Closing by wire transfer in immediately available funds;

               (b) deliver to Seller a certificate signed by Purchaser, dated as of the Closing Date, to the effect that the conditions set forth in Section 6.3(a) and
Section 6.3(b) have been satisfied;

               (c) deliver to Seller the omnibus bill of sale for the sale and transfer of the Outside Inventory to the Designated Purchaser Affiliates executed by
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Purchaser and each such Designated Purchaser Affiliate substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2.2(f);

               (d) deliver to Seller the Transition Services Agreement, executed by Purchaser;

               (e) take all actions necessary to register the transfer of the Shares from Seller to Purchaser in the share registers of the Companies;

               (f) deliver to Seller a copy of the Post-Closing Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit 2.2(k) hereto, and the Escrow Agreement attached thereto,
each of which shall be signed by Purchaser; and

               (g) deliver all other previously undelivered documents required to be delivered by Purchaser to Seller at or prior to the Closing in connection with
the Transactions pursuant hereto.

          Section 2.4 Shareholders’ Meeting. Immediately after the Closing, Purchaser shall procure that an extraordinary general meeting or special meeting of
shareholders of each of the Companies be held at which, inter alia, the following resolutions are taken:

               (a) All the existing directors appointed by Seller shall be removed from office, and the individuals nominated by Purchaser shall be appointed
directors of the Companies;

               (b) The existing auditors of the Companies shall be removed from office, and the auditors nominated by Purchaser shall be appointed auditors of the
Companies; and

               (c) The name of each Company and any Subsidiary is changed so that it no longer includes the word “Esselte” or any word confusingly similar
thereto.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

          Except as set forth in the applicable sections of the Disclosure Schedule prepared by Seller and delivered to Purchaser simultaneously with the
execution hereof, Seller represents and warrants to Purchaser that all of the statements contained in this Article III are true as of the date hereof (except with
respect to the representations and warranties contained in Section 3.1 through Section 3.10(a) inclusive, after giving effect to the Reorganization as though it
had been consummated on the date hereof), and will be true as of the Closing as though made at that time or, in any case if made as of a specified date, are
true as of such date. For purposes of the representations and warranties of Seller contained herein, disclosure in any section of the Disclosure Schedule of any
facts or circumstances shall be deemed to be adequate response and disclosure of such facts and
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circumstances with respect to all representations and warranties by Seller calling for disclosure of such information, to which such disclosure is reasonably
apparent.

          Section 3.1 Organization of Seller. Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the Kingdom of
Sweden.

          Section 3.2 Authorization; Validity of Agreement. Seller has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, and to
consummate the Transactions to be consummated by it. The execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the consummation by it of
the Transactions have been duly authorized by the Board of Directors and the shareholder of Seller, and no other corporate action on the part of Seller is
necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement or the consummation by it of the Transactions. No vote of, or consent by, the
holders of any class or series of stock issued by Seller is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement or the consummation
by it of the Transactions.

          Section 3.3 Authorization of Reorganization by Seller. Seller has full corporate power and authority to cause the Outside Inventory Sellers and the
Other Seller Reorganization Entities to consummate the Transactions to be consummated by them. The consummation by the Other Seller Reorganization
Entities of the Reorganization and the Outside Inventory Sellers of the sale of the Outside Inventory pursuant hereto has been duly authorized by the Board of
Directors and the shareholder of Seller, and no other corporate actions on the part of Seller are necessary to authorize the consummation by the Other Seller
Reorganization Entities of the Reorganization or the consummation by the Outside Inventory Sellers of the sale of the Outside Inventory pursuant hereto. No
vote of, or consent by, the holders of any class or series of stock issued by Seller is necessary to authorize the consummation by the Other Seller
Reorganization Entities of the Reorganization or the consummation by the Outside Inventory Sellers of the sale of the Outside Inventory pursuant hereto.

          Section 3.4 Execution; Validity of Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller, and, assuming due and valid
authorization, execution and delivery hereof by Purchaser, is a valid and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms
except (a) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws of general application
affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (b) the availability of the remedy of specific performance or injunctive or other forms of equitable
relief may be subject to equitable defenses and would be subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought.

          Section 3.5 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. Except for the filings, permits, authorizations, consents, approvals and other applicable
requirements as may be required under the Antitrust Laws, state securities or blue sky laws or foreign securities laws, none of the execution, delivery or
performance of this Agreement by Seller, the consummation by Seller of any of the Transactions, the consummation by the
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Other Seller Reorganization Entities of the Reorganization or the consummation by the Outside Inventory Sellers of the sale of the Outside Inventory pursuant
hereto will (a) violate, conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the articles of organization, by-laws or other governing instrument of Seller,
any Outside Inventory Seller or any Other Seller Reorganization Entity, (b) require any consent, approval or notice under any Commitment to which Seller or
any Company or Subsidiary is a party or by which Seller or any Company or Subsidiary is bound or to which the Shares are subject, (c) result in a violation or
breach of, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration)
under, any Commitment to which Seller or any Company or Subsidiary is a party or by which Seller or any Company or Subsidiary or any of their respective
properties or assets may be bound, (d) violate or require any consent, approval or notice under any provision of any Law applicable to Seller, the Companies,
the Subsidiaries, the Outside Inventory Sellers or the Other Seller Reorganization Entities, or the Shares, or (e) require on the part of Seller, the Companies,
the Subsidiaries, the Outside Inventory Sellers or the Other Seller Reorganization Entities, any filing or registration with, notification to, or consent or
approval of, any Governmental Entity (except, in the case of (d) and (e) (as applied only to the Outside Inventory Sellers and the Other Seller Reorganization
Entities) for those that will have been provided or obtained prior to the Closing Date).

          Section 3.6 Ownership and Possession of Shares. Seller is the record and beneficial owner of the Shares, which represent all the issued and outstanding
capital stock of the Companies, free and clear of any Encumbrances, except for Encumbrances created in favor of Purchaser by this Agreement, and there are
no restrictions on Seller’s or any Group Affiliate’s right to transfer the Shares to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement, other than those imposed by
applicable Federal, state or foreign securities laws. Seller is not a party to (a) any option, warrant, purchase right or other Commitment (other than this
Agreement) that could require Seller or, after the Closing, Purchaser, to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any capital stock of any Company or (b) any
voting trust, proxy or other agreement with respect to the voting of any capital stock of any Company or Subsidiary.

          Section 3.7 Good Title Conveyed. The stock certificates, stock powers, endorsements, assignments or other instruments to be executed and delivered by
Seller to Purchaser to effect the sale and conveyance of the Shares at the Closing will be valid and binding obligations of Seller, enforceable in accordance
with their respective terms except (a) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar
laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (b) the availability of the remedy of specific performance or injunctive or
other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and would be subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor
may be brought, and will be sufficient to convey in Purchaser good and valid title to all of the outstanding share capital of the Companies and, through the
Companies, all of the outstanding share capital of the Subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all Encumbrances, pre-emptive rights, subscriptions,
“phantom” stock rights or other rights, relating to the capital stock of the Companies and the Subsidiaries, pursuant
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to which the Companies or the Subsidiaries are or may become obligated to issue, transfer, sell, purchase or redeem or cause to be issued, transferred, sold,
purchased or redeemed any shares of capital stock of the Companies or the Subsidiaries, except restrictions on transfer imposed by the Securities Act or any
applicable Federal, state or foreign securities laws.

          Section 3.8 Capitalization.

               (a) The authorized capital stock of DYMO AB consists of 100,000 shares of common stock, SEK 1 nominal value per share. (i) All such shares are
issued and outstanding, (ii) no such shares are owned by any Person other than Seller, (iii) no such shares are issued and held in the treasury of DYMO AB
and (iv) no shares of preferred stock are authorized, issued or outstanding. All the outstanding shares of DYMO AB are duly authorized, validly issued, fully
paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth above, (i) there are no shares of capital stock of DYMO AB authorized, issued or outstanding and (ii) there are no
existing options, warrants, calls, pre-emptive rights, subscriptions, “phantom” stock rights or other rights, agreements, arrangements, convertible or
exchangeable securities or commitments, relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of DYMO AB, pursuant to which DYMO AB is or may become
obligated to issue, transfer, sell, purchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, transferred, sold, purchased or redeemed, any shares of capital stock of DYMO
AB.

               (b) The authorized capital stock of Holdings consists of three thousand (3,000) shares of common stock, $1.00 par value per share. (i) One thousand
(1,000) such shares of common stock are issued and outstanding, (ii) no such shares are owned by any Person other than Seller, (iii) no such shares are issued
and held in the treasury of Holdings and (iv) no shares of preferred stock are authorized, issued or outstanding. All the outstanding shares of Holdings are
duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth above, (i) there are no shares of capital stock of Holdings authorized, issued
or outstanding and (ii) there are no existing options, warrants, calls, pre-emptive rights, subscriptions, “phantom” stock rights or other rights, agreements,
arrangements, convertible or exchangeable securities or commitments, relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of Holdings, pursuant to which
Holdings is or may become obligated to issue, transfer, sell, purchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, transferred, sold, purchased or redeemed, any shares of
capital stock of Holdings.

               (c) The authorized capital stock of BVBA consists of two thousand five hundred (2,500) registered shares, numbered from 1 to 2,500. All such
shares have been duly and validly issued in compliance with Belgian Law. They are fully paid up and represent the entire capital of BVBA. Except for one
(1) such share which is held by Esselte IPR AB and that will be transferred to Seller and owned by Seller immediately prior to the Closing, no such shares are
owned by any Person other than Seller. Except as set forth above, BVBA has not issued any shares, with or without voting rights. Except as set forth above,
(i) there are no shares of capital stock of BVBA authorized, issued or outstanding and (ii) there are no existing options, warrants, calls, pre-emptive rights,
subscriptions, “phantom” stock rights or other rights, agreements, arrangements, convertible or exchangeable securities or commitments, relating to the
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issued or unissued capital stock of BVBA, pursuant to which BVBA is or may become obligated to issue, transfer, sell, purchase or redeem, or cause to be
issued, transferred, sold, purchased or redeemed, any shares of capital stock of BVBA.

               (d) The authorized capital stock of Esselte Corporation consists of two hundred (200) shares of common stock, $1.00 par value per share. (i) All
such shares are issued and outstanding, (ii) no such shares are owned by any Person other than Holdings, (iii) no shares are issued and held in the treasury of
Esselte Corporation and (iv) no shares of preferred stock are authorized, issued or outstanding. All the outstanding shares of Esselte Corporation are duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth above, (i) there are no shares of capital stock of Esselte Corporation authorized,
issued or outstanding and (ii) there are no existing options, warrants, calls, pre-emptive rights, subscriptions, “phantom” stock rights or other rights,
agreements, arrangements, convertible or exchangeable securities or commitments, relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of Esselte Corporation,
pursuant to which Esselte Corporation is or may become obligated to issue, transfer, sell, purchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, transferred, sold,
purchased or redeemed, any shares of capital stock of Esselte Corporation.

               (e) The authorized capital stock of DYMO Corporation consists of 8,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, and 17,000,000
shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share. (i) 6,801,981 shares of preferred stock and 2,968,863.7 shares of common stock are issued and
outstanding, (ii) no such shares are owned by any Person other than Esselte Corporation and (iii) no shares are issued and held in the treasury of DYMO
Corporation. All the outstanding shares of DYMO Corporation are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth above,
(i) there are no shares of capital stock of DYMO Corporation authorized, issued or outstanding and (ii) there are no existing options, warrants, calls, pre-
emptive rights, subscriptions, “phantom” stock rights or other rights, agreements, arrangements, convertible or exchangeable securities or commitments,
relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of DYMO Corporation, pursuant to which DYMO Corporation is or may become obligated to issue, transfer,
sell, purchase or redeem, or cause to be issued, transferred, sold, purchased or redeemed, any shares of capital stock of DYMO Corporation.

          Section 3.9 Organization; Qualification of Companies and Subsidiaries.

               (a) DYMO AB (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden; (ii) has the
corporate power and authority to carry on its business as it is now being conducted and to own, lease and operate its properties and assets; and (iii) is duly
qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in every jurisdiction in which such qualification is required. Seller has
heretofore made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the articles of association of DYMO AB as presently in effect.
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               (b) Holdings (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware; (ii) has the corporate
power and authority to carry on the Business as it is now being conducted and to own, lease and operate its properties and assets; and (iii) is duly qualified or
licensed to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in every jurisdiction in which such qualification is required. Seller has heretofore made
available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the certificate of incorporation and by-laws of Holdings as presently in effect.

               (c) BVBA (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium; (ii) has the corporate
power and authority to carry on the Business as it is now being conducted and to own, lease and operate its properties and assets; and (iii) is duly qualified or
licensed to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in every jurisdiction in which such qualification is required. Seller has heretofore made
available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the articles of association of BVBA as presently in effect.

               (d) Esselte Corporation (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York; (ii) has the
corporate power and authority to carry on the Business as it is now being conducted and to own, lease and operate its properties and assets; and (iii) is duly
qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in every jurisdiction in which such qualification is required. Seller has
heretofore made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the certificate of incorporation and by-laws of Esselte Corporation as presently in
effect.

               (e) DYMO Corporation (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware; (ii) has the
corporate power and authority to carry on the Business as it is now being conducted and to own, lease and operate its properties and assets; and (iii) is duly
qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in every jurisdiction in which such qualification is required. Seller has
heretofore made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the certificate of incorporation and by-laws of DYMO Corporation as presently in
effect.

          Section 3.10 Subsidiaries; Equity Ownership.

               (a) Exhibit 3.10 lists all of the subsidiaries of the Companies as of the date hereof. As of the date hereof, no Company or Subsidiary owns any
capital stock of any Person (other than the subsidiaries and capital stock listed on Exhibit 3.10) or has any direct or indirect equity or ownership interest in
any business (other than a Subsidiary), or is a member of or participant in any partnership, joint venture or similar Person (other than a Subsidiary).

               (b) As of the Closing, (i) the Companies will have no subsidiaries other than the Subsidiaries and any other subsidiary directly or indirectly
transferred to Purchaser pursuant to an Accepted Reorganization Amendment (and, for
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the avoidance of doubt, any such subsidiary permitted to be directly or indirectly transferred to Purchaser pursuant to an Accepted Reorganization
Amendment shall also be deemed for all purposes hereunder to be a “Subsidiary”); (ii) no Company or Subsidiary will own any capital stock of any Person
(other than a Subsidiary) or have any direct or indirect equity or ownership interest in any business (other than a Subsidiary); or (iii) no Company or
Subsidiary will be a member of or participant in any partnership, joint venture or similar Person (other than a Subsidiary).

          Section 3.11 Financial Information. Exhibit 3.11 contains the Statements of Financial Information. The Statements of Financial Information (a) have
been prepared in good faith and, except as set forth therein (including the basis of presentation thereto), from the books and records of the Companies and the
Subsidiaries and (b) present fairly in all material respects, in accordance with the Accounting Principles, applied on a consistent basis during the periods
presented, the results of operations and financial condition of the Business (except as specifically set forth in the basis of presentation to the Statements of
Financial Information) as of the times and the periods referred to therein. The books, records and accounts of the Companies and the Subsidiaries fairly reflect
in all material respects all transactions and all items of income and expense, cash flows, assets and liabilities and accruals relating to the Companies and the
Subsidiaries.

          Section 3.12 No Undisclosed Liabilities; Indebtedness. Except (a) as disclosed in the Statements of Financial Information and (b) for liabilities and
obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business since July 2, 2005, no Company or Subsidiary has incurred any liability or obligation, whether or not
accrued, of the kind required to be disclosed in financial statements, including footnotes thereto, prepared in accordance with GAAP that has had or
constitutes a Material Adverse Effect. Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedule discloses the total Outstanding Indebtedness of the Companies and the
Subsidiaries as of July 1, 2005.

          Section 3.13 Absence of Certain Changes.

               (a) Since December 31, 2004, except for any change or effect to the extent resulting from the transactions taken to effect the Reorganization, the
Companies and the Subsidiaries have conducted the Business in the ordinary course, and no Company or Subsidiary has suffered any change that,
individually or in the aggregate, has had a Material Adverse Effect.

               (b) Since December 31, 2004 through the date hereof (or, in the case of Section 3.13(b)(iv) below, since July 2, 2005 through the date hereof), no
Company or Subsidiary has:

                    (i) declared, paid or set aside for payment any dividend or other distribution in respect of its capital stock (other than dividends or
distributions payable in cash to a parent of such entity, all of which will have been paid by Closing);
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                    (ii) made any increase in the compensation or benefits payable or to become payable to any Business Employees that, taken as a whole, is
material to the Business (other than normal recurring increases in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to then existing plans, programs or
agreements);

                    (iii) made any change in any method of accounting or accounting practice;

                    (iv) sold or otherwise disposed of properties or assets owned by it other than sales in the Ordinary Course of Business for amounts not in
excess of $250,000 in the aggregate (except for such assets that are not related to the Business);

                    (v) settled any claims, actions, arbitrations, disputes or other proceedings (A) that resulted in a Company or Subsidiary being enjoined in a
manner that adversely affects the Business or (B) that resulted in an obligation of a Company or Subsidiary to pay amounts which, in the aggregate, are
in excess of $1,000,000; or

                    (vi) (A) made or changed any material Tax election, adopted or changed any material Tax accounting method, entered into any material
closing agreement or settled any material Tax claim or assessment, or (B) filed any Tax Return in jurisdictions where Tax Returns with respect to the
Business have not been filed in the five (5) years prior to the date hereof.

          Section 3.14 Title to Properties; Encumbrances.

               (a) Except for Inventory, assets or other property sold since December 31, 2004 in the ordinary course of business, (i) a Company or a Subsidiary
has good and valid title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, each of the tangible personal properties and assets (other than real properties, the Outside
Inventory, the accounts receivable not included in Net Working Capital and the Shared Retained Business Assets) used or held for use primarily in the
conduct of the Business, free and clear of all Encumbrances except for Permitted Liens, (ii) a Company or a Subsidiary has good, valid and insurable title to
each of the real properties listed on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, and a valid leasehold interest in each of the real properties listed on
Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, in each case, free and clear of all material Encumbrances except for Permitted Liens, and (iii) as of the Closing
Date, each Outside Inventory Seller will have good and valid title to the Outside Inventory to be transferred by it pursuant to this Agreement, free and clear of
all material Encumbrances except for Permitted Liens.

               (b) The material buildings, machinery and equipment used regularly in the conduct of the Business are generally in good operating condition and
repair, normal wear and tear excepted.
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          Section 3.15 Real Property.

               (a) Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete list and the location of all real property owned by the Companies or Subsidiaries
that is primarily used or held for use in the conduct of the Business as of the date hereof (the “Owned Real Property”). Those deeds and title insurance
policies relating to the Owned Real Property, and any documents evidencing Encumbrances upon the Owned Real Property, in each case in the possession or
under the control of Seller, its Affiliates, the Companies or the Subsidiaries that have heretofore been made available to Purchaser are true and complete
copies thereof.

               (b) Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete list and location of all real property leased by the Companies or Subsidiaries
that is primarily used or held for use in the conduct of the Business as of the date hereof (the “Leased Real Properties”).

               (c) Seller has no written notice of and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no proceedings, claims, disputes or conditions affecting any Owned
Real Property or Leased Real Property that would curtail or interfere with the use of such property. Neither the whole nor any portion of the Owned Real
Property or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any Leased Real Property, is subject to any Order to be sold or is being condemned, expropriated or otherwise taken
by any public authority with or without payment of compensation therefor, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, has any such condemnation, expropriation or
taking been proposed. No Company or Subsidiary is a party to any lease, assignment or similar arrangement under which it is a lessor, assignor or otherwise
makes available for use or occupancy by any third party any portion of the Owned Real Property.

               (d) No Company or Subsidiary has received any notice of, or other writing referring to, any requirements or recommendations by any insurance
company that has issued a policy covering any part of the Owned Real Property or by any board of fire underwriters or other body exercising similar
functions, requiring or recommending any repairs or work to be done on any part of the Owned Real Property, which repair or work has not been completed.

               (e) Each Company and Subsidiary has obtained all appropriate certificates of occupancy, licenses, easements and rights of way, including proofs of
dedication, required to use and operate the Owned Real Property in the manner in which the Owned Real Property is currently being used and operated. Each
Company and Subsidiary has all approvals, permits and licenses (including any and all environmental permits) necessary to own or operate the Owned Real
Property as currently owned and operated; and no such approvals, permits or licenses will be required, as a result of the Transactions, to be issued after the
date hereof in order to permit the Companies and the Subsidiaries, following the Closing, to continue to own or operate the Owned Real Property in the same
manner as currently owned or operated, other than any such approvals, permits or licenses that are ministerial in nature and are normally issued in due course
upon application therefor without further action by the applicant.
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               (f) Each Company and Subsidiary has obtained all appropriate certificates of occupancy, licenses, easements and rights of way, including proofs of
dedication, required to operate the Leased Real Property in the manner in which the Leased Real Property is currently being used and operated, other than any
such instruments that are normally obtained by the lessor of property. Each Company and Subsidiary has all approvals, permits and licenses (including any
and all environmental permits) necessary to operate the Leased Real Property as currently operated; and no such approvals, permits or licenses will be
required, as a result of the Transactions, to be issued after the date hereof in order to permit the Companies and the Subsidiaries, following the Closing, to
continue to operate the Leased Real Property in the same manner as currently operated, other than any such instruments that are normally obtained by the
lessor of the property and any such approvals, permits or licenses that are ministerial in nature and are normally issued in due course upon application therefor
without further action by the applicant.

               (g) There are no parties other than the Companies and the Subsidiaries in possession of any portion of the Owned Real Property.

               (h) Each lease pursuant to which a Company or Subsidiary leases any real property used primarily in the conduct of the Business (a “Lease”) is
valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms except (a) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent
conveyance and other similar laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (b) the availability of the remedy of specific
performance or injunctive or other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and would be subject to the discretion of the court before
which any proceeding therefor may be brought. The leasehold estate created by each Lease is free and clear of all Encumbrances created or granted by any
Company or Subsidiary that is tenant thereunder, except for Permitted Liens. There are no existing defaults by any Company or Subsidiary under any of the
Leases. To the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred that (whether with or without notice, lapse of time or the happening or occurrence of any other
event) would constitute a default by the landlord under any Lease.

          Section 3.16 Contracts and Commitments.

               (a) As of the date hereof, except as set forth in Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedule, no Company or Subsidiary is a party to or is bound by any
of the following Commitments:

                    (i) Any covenant of such Company or Subsidiary not to compete or other covenant restricting its ability to carry on any material business
anywhere in the world;

                    (ii) Any consulting or employment agreement pursuant to which it is obligated to pay compensation at the annual rate of more than $150,000
for services rendered;
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                    (iii) Any employee collective bargaining agreement or other Commitment with any labor union, organization or association;

                    (iv) Any Commitment with (A) Seller, (B) a Group Affiliate or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any of its other Affiliates, (C) any officer or
director of Seller or of any Group Affiliate, Company or Subsidiary, or (D) to the Knowledge of Seller, any former officer, director or employee of Seller
or of any Group Affiliate, Company or Subsidiary arising in connection with the Business (other than employment agreements), including any loans
made to any of such Persons, in each case if such Commitment will continue to be in force and effect after the Closing Date and provides for receipt or
payment by any such Person of an amount greater than $150,000 annually;

                    (v) Any Commitment related to the Business with any Person (other than a Company or Subsidiary) under which (A) it is lessee of, or holds
or uses, any machinery, equipment, vehicle or other tangible personal property owned by such Person or (B) it is a lessor or sublessor of, or makes
available for use by such Person, any tangible personal property owned or leased by such Company or Subsidiary, in any such case if such Commitment
has an aggregate future liability of, or receivable by, such Company or Subsidiary in an amount in excess of $1,000,000 and is not terminable by such
Company or Subsidiary by notice of not more than ninety (90) days without payment or penalty of more than $200,000;

                    (vi) Any Intellectual Property license (including any license or other agreement under which it is licensee or licensor of any such Intellectual
Property), but excluding licenses for off-the-shelf, or other readily commercially available software that is licensed other than by written agreement
executed by the licensee such as by shrink wrap or click wrap license, licenses granted to end users of products sold by the Business, or licenses of
Intellectual Property not used in the Ordinary Course of Business;

                    (vii) Any Commitment under which it has borrowed money, established a line of credit, issued any note, bond or other evidence of
indebtedness for borrowed money, or guaranteed indebtedness, liabilities or obligations of any Person (other than a Company or Subsidiary in connection
with the Business), in each case other than endorsements for the purpose of collection in the ordinary course of business;

                    (viii) Any Commitment to enter into any joint venture or partnership relating to the Business;

                    (ix) Any power of attorney other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
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                    (x) Any confidentiality agreement relating to the Business (other than (A) Commitments that do not relate primarily to confidentiality or
non-disclosure obligations but contain confidentiality or non-disclosure obligations incidental to such Commitments and (B) customary Commitments
entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business);

                    (xi) Any Commitment or series of related Commitments for the sale of any assets or properties of any Company or any Subsidiary related to
the Business for amounts greater than $250,000, other than any Commitment for the sale or disposition of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business;

                    (xii) Any currency exchange, interest rate exchange, commodity exchange or similar Commitment, other than any such Commitment entered
into in the Ordinary Course of Business to hedge or mitigate risk exposure or to manage liabilities and not entered into for speculative purposes;

                    (xiii) Any Commitment providing for the services of any dealer, distributor, sales representative or franchisee requiring minimum aggregate
future payments by it, or providing for the receipt by it of minimum aggregate future amounts, in excess of $1,000,000, in each case which is not
terminable by it on notice of not more than ninety (90) days without payment or penalty of more than $200,000; and

                    (xiv) Any non-ordinary course Commitment to which it (i) is required to make minimum aggregate future payments in excess of $1,000,000
or (ii) is bound to sell goods or services in a minimum aggregate future amount in excess of $1,000,000, in each case described in clauses (i) and
(ii) which is not terminable by it on notice of not more than ninety (90) days without payment or penalty of more than $200,000.

               (b) Each Commitment that relates to the Business to which a Company or Subsidiary is a party, is enforceable against such Company or Subsidiary
and, to the Knowledge of Seller, against the other party thereto in accordance with its terms except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and
(ii) the availability of the remedy of specific performance or injunctive or other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and would be
subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefore may be brought. No Company or Subsidiary, and to the Knowledge of Seller, no
third party, to any such Commitment, is in default under any such Commitment. No Company or Subsidiary has received written notice of default under any
such Commitment.

          Section 3.17 Customers and Suppliers. Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of the ten (10) largest customers of the Business in terms
of
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revenue recognized during the period from April 5, 2004 through April 4, 2005 (“Significant Customers”) and a list of the ten (10) largest suppliers of the
Business in terms of costs recognized for the purchase of products or services during the period from April 5, 2004 through April 4, 2005 (“Significant
Suppliers”). Since December 31, 2004 through the date hereof, there has not been any material adverse change in the business relationship of the Companies
or the Subsidiaries with any Significant Customer relating to the Business. To the Knowledge of Seller, since December 31, 2004 through the date hereof, no
Significant Customer has threatened any material modification or change in the business relationship with any Company or any Subsidiary relating to the
Business, or any material reduction of business with any Company or any Subsidiary relating to the Business.

          Section 3.18 Litigation.

               (a) There is (i) no proceeding, at law or in equity, (A) pending against any Company or Subsidiary with respect to the Business, or to the Knowledge
of Seller, threatened against any Company or Subsidiary with respect to the Business or (B) to the Knowledge of Seller, pending or threatened against any
present or former officer or director of the Business or other Person related to the Business for which any Company or Subsidiary may be liable or to which
any of their respective properties, assets or rights are reasonably likely to be subject before any court or other Governmental Entity, (ii) no action, suit,
inquiry, proceeding, hearing or investigation by or before any court or Governmental Entity or arbitration panel pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller,
threatened against or involving any Company or Subsidiary, in the case of clauses (i) and (ii) (A) which questions or challenges the validity of this Agreement
or any action taken or to be taken by any Company or Subsidiary pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the Transactions, (B) that, if adversely
determined, would be reasonably likely to result in a payment by the Companies and the Subsidiaries of an amount in excess of $1,000,000 as of the date
hereof or $3,000,000 as of the Closing Date or (C) that is reasonably likely to result in equitable relief being obtained against any Company or Subsidiary, or
(iii) no Order of any court or other Governmental Entity outstanding against any Company or Subsidiary.

               (b) There is no proceeding, at law or in equity, hearing or investigation by or before any court or Governmental Entity or arbitration panel pending
against any Company or Subsidiary with respect to the Retained Business or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against any Company or Subsidiary with
respect to the Retained Business, that is reasonably likely to result in injunctive or equitable relief or would be reasonably likely to result in a payment by the
Companies and the Subsidiaries of an amount in excess of $25,000,000.

          Section 3.19 Environmental Matters. (a) Each Company and Subsidiary is in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws; (b) there is no
pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, civil or criminal claim, litigation, notice of violation, formal administrative proceeding or investigation,
written inquiry or written information request by any Governmental Entity under any Environmental Law relating to the Business or any real property
currently or formerly owned by any
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Company or Subsidiary, or any of their respective predecessors; (c) no Company or Subsidiary has received any written notice from any Governmental Entity
or third party alleging that (i) any Company or Subsidiary is not in compliance with Environmental Laws or (ii) that the Business, any Company or
Subsidiary, or any of their respective predecessors, has liability with respect to a “release” or threatened “release” of a “hazardous substance,” excluding
matters that have been fully resolved with no further liability to any Company or Subsidiary; and (d) there has been no “release” or threatened “release” of a
“hazardous substance,” on or from any real property currently or formerly owned by any Company or Subsidiary, or any of their respective predecessors,
which reasonably could form the basis for a claim of liability against any Company or Subsidiary. For purposes of this Section: “release” shall mean any
spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, or disposing into the environment (including the
abandonment or discarding of barrels, containers, and other closed receptacles containing any hazardous substance or pollutant or contaminant); and
“hazardous substance” shall mean all substances subject to regulation, control or remediation under Environmental Laws.

          Section 3.20 Compliance with Laws; Permits. No Company or Subsidiary has received any written communication since January 1, 2003 from a
Governmental Entity that alleges that such Company or Subsidiary is not in compliance with any Law. The Companies and the Subsidiaries are in compliance
with and, to the Knowledge of Seller, since January 1, 2003 have complied with, all Laws that specifically apply to the Business or the properties or assets of
any Company or Subsidiary. The Companies and the Subsidiaries have all licenses and permits, and have made all required registrations, with any
Governmental Entity required for the conduct of the Business, or the intended use of any properties of the Business (collectively, “Permits”). All such Permits
are valid and in effect and will not be invalidated or otherwise affected by consummation of the Transactions, and no proceeding is pending or, to the
Knowledge of Seller, threatened, to revoke, limit or enforce any such Permit. Nothing in the first two (2) sentences of this Section 3.20 shall relate to
Environmental Law, and nothing in this Section 3.20 shall relate to ERISA, Tax Law or any Law referred to in Section 3.24.

          Section 3.21 Employee Benefit Plans.

               (a) Section 3.21 of the Disclosure Schedule lists each Plan. Seller has heretofore made available to Purchaser a true and complete copy of each
Company Plan and any related trust agreements, insurance contracts or other funding vehicles and, if applicable, any amendments thereto, summary plan
descriptions and subsequent summaries of material modifications (or analogous descriptive materials in the case of Company Plans not subject to ERISA),
service provider agreements, IRS determination letters and opinion letters, actuarial reports, audit reports and annual reports on Form 5500 for the most recent
Plan year (as applicable).

               (b) With respect to each Title IV Plan, no liability under Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA has been incurred by any Company or any ERISA
Affiliate that has not been satisfied in full; the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation has not
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instituted proceedings to terminate any Title IV Plan and no condition exists that presents a risk that such proceedings will be instituted. Within the past six
(6) years, there have been no changes in the actuarial assumptions and methods used with respect to any Title IV Plan, and neither the Seller nor the Company
or any Subsidiary is required to provide security to any Title IV Plan pursuant to Section 401(a)(9) of the Code. No Title IV Plan is a Company Plan.

               (c) No Company or any ERISA Affiliate currently contributes to or has within the past six (6) years contributed to a Plan that is a “multi-employer
pension plan,” as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA. No Title IV Plan is a plan described in Section 4063(a) of ERISA. No Plan is part of a voluntary
employees’ beneficiary association within the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the Code.

               (d) Since January 1, 2002, each Plan has been operated and administered in accordance with its terms and applicable Law, including ERISA and the
Code. There are no pending, threatened or anticipated claims, actions or disputes by or on behalf of any Plan, by any employee or beneficiary covered under
any such Plan, or otherwise involving any such Plan (other than routine claims for benefits). There are no audits, inquiries, reviews, proceedings, claims or
demands pending or to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened with any Governmental Entity with respect to a Plan.

               (e) Each Plan intended to be “qualified” within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable Internal Revenue Service
determination letter stating that it is so qualified, and nothing has occurred since the date of such determination that would reasonably be expected to
adversely affect such qualification.

               (f) No prohibited transaction (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) or breach of fiduciary duty with respect to
a Plan has occurred that would give rise to liability on the part of any Company or any Subsidiary.

               (g) No Plan provides medical or death benefits with respect to current or former employees of any Company or Subsidiary beyond their termination
of employment (other than to the extent required by applicable law, including Sections 601-609 of ERISA and Section 4980B of the Code).

               (h) There has been no amendment to any Company Plan which would increase the expense of maintaining such Company Plan above the level of the
expense incurred therefor for the most recent fiscal year.

               (i) The consummation of the Transactions will not obligate any Company or Subsidiary to pay separation, severance, termination or similar benefits
and will not accelerate the time of the payment or vesting of, or increase the amount of, compensation due to any employee of any Company or Subsidiary.
No Plan otherwise limits or restricts any Company’s ability to terminate the employment of any employee of
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any Company or Subsidiary for any reason with no liability, except as required by applicable Law.

               (j) No Company or Subsidiary will have any liability for contributions to any Plan or payments under any Plan in each case that is not a Company
Plan that are due or required to be made as of the Closing Date.

               (k) No individuals are currently providing in the United States services to the Company or any Subsidiary relating to the Business pursuant to a
leasing agreement or similar type of arrangement, nor has the Company or any Subsidiary entered into any arrangement whereby services will be provided
pursuant to a leasing agreement or similar type of arrangement in the United States.

               (l) All obligations payable under any Company Plan (other than the Sint-Niklaas Pension Plan) are duly funded in accordance with normal practices
applicable to such Plan and to date there are no payments due and not paid.

          Section 3.22 Taxes.

               (a) The Companies and the Subsidiaries have (i) timely filed (or there have been filed on their behalf) with appropriate Taxing Authorities all
material Tax Returns required to be filed by them (or requests for extensions have been timely filed and such extensions have been granted and have not
expired), and such Tax Returns are correct in all material respects and (ii) timely paid or accrued in full (or there has been timely paid or accrued on its
behalf) all Taxes shown on such Tax Returns that are due and payable or properly accrued.

               (b) There are no material liens for Taxes upon any property of any Company or Subsidiary, except for liens for Taxes not yet due or payable.

               (c) No federal, state, local or foreign audits, examinations, investigations or other administrative proceedings or court proceedings (“Audits”) are
presently pending with regard to any Taxes or Tax Returns filed by or on behalf of any Company or Subsidiary.

               (d) There are no outstanding written requests, agreements, consents or waivers to extend the statutory period of limitations applicable to the
assessment of any material Taxes or deficiencies against any Company or Subsidiary.

               (e) No Company or Subsidiary is, or within the past five (5) years has been, a party to any material Commitment (other than those imposed by Law)
under which it has agreed to share the Tax liability of any Person other than a Company or Subsidiary.

               (f) Within the past five (5) years, no Company or Subsidiary, individually or as a group, has been a member of any affiliated or consolidated tax
group (other than a group, the common parent of which is currently an Affiliate of a Company or any Subsidiary). No Company or Subsidiary has participated
in any way in any “tax
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shelter” within the meaning of Section 6111 (as in effect prior to the enactment of P.L. 108-357 or any comparable laws of jurisdictions other than the United
States) of the Code or in any “reportable transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4 (as in effect at the relevant time) (or any
comparable regulations of jurisdictions other than the United States).

               (g) No Company or Subsidiary is bound, separately or as a group, by any Commitment that has resulted in or would result in, separately or in the
aggregate, in connection with this Agreement or the consummation of the Transactions, the payment of any “excess parachute payment” within the meaning
of Section 280G of the Code.

               (h) An election has been made to treat BVBA as disregarded as an entity separate from its owner for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Treas.
Reg. Section 301.7701-3 and such election is currently effective. DYMO AB is treated as disregarded as an entity separate from its owner for U.S. federal
income tax purposes under Treas. Reg. Section 301.7701-3.

          Section 3.23 Intellectual Property.

               (a) Section 3.23(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all U.S. and foreign (i) issued Patents and Patent applications, (ii) Trademark
registrations and applications and material unregistered trademarks, (iii) Copyright registrations and applications and material unregistered Copyrights, and
(iv) Software, in each case which, as of the date hereof, is owned by any Company or Subsidiary and used in the conduct of the Business.

               (b) Except as set forth in Section 3.23(b) of the Disclosure Schedule:

                    (i) a Company or Subsidiary owns, or has sufficient valid right to use, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Liens, all
Intellectual Property necessary to the conduct of the Business;

                    (ii) a Company or Subsidiary is the owner of record of any application, registration or grant for each Patent set forth on Section 3.23(a) of
the Disclosure Schedule, and has properly executed and recorded all documents necessary to perfect its title to such Patent applications, registrations and
grants and will as of the Closing have properly executed and sought recordation of all documents necessary to perfect its title to all Trademark and
Copyright applications and registrations set forth on Section 3.23(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, and a Company or Subsidiary has filed all documents
and paid all taxes, fees, and met other financial obligations required to renew and maintain in force and effect all Intellectual Property owned by it as of
the date hereof;
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                    (iii) the conduct of the Business does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate any Person’s Intellectual Property rights and there has
been no such claim asserted or threatened in the past three (3) years against any Company or Subsidiary that is reasonably likely to result in equitable
relief or if adversely determined would result in a payment by the Companies and the Subsidiaries of an amount in excess of $1,500,000;

                    (iv) to the Knowledge of Seller, no Person is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Intellectual Property owned by any
Company or Subsidiary used in the conduct of the Business, and no such claims have been asserted or threatened in the past three (3) years against any
Person by any Company or Subsidiary;

                    (v) to the Knowledge of Seller, after giving effect to this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions, no Company or Subsidiary
will be in material violation or default under any privacy policy or agreement, law or regulation applicable to the protection of private or personal
information acquired by it and used by it in the conduct of the Business;

                    (vi) the Companies and Subsidiaries have taken reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality of their Trade Secrets used in the conduct
of the Business;

                    (vii) no Group Affiliate or current or, to the Knowledge of Seller, former, partner, director, officer or employee of any Company or
Subsidiary will, after giving effect to the Transactions, own or retain any rights to use any of the Intellectual Property owned by any Company or
Subsidiary and used in the conduct of the Business; and

                    (viii) all Intellectual Property (other than licensed Software and Intellectual Property licensed to a Company or Subsidiary pursuant to the
license agreements described in Section 3.16(a)(vi) of the Disclosure Schedule) necessary to the conduct of the Business that has been created by any
independent contractor or other third party for a Company or Subsidiary is the subject of a proper written assignment and/or work made for hire
agreement prescribing that a Company or Subsidiary is the owner of such Intellectual Property, and there has been no claim in relation to such
Intellectual Property asserted or threatened in the last three (3) years against any Company or Subsidiary that is reasonably likely to result in equitable
relief or if adversely determined would result in a payment by the Companies and the Subsidiaries of an amount in excess of $1,500,000.

          Section 3.24 Labor Matters.
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               (a) There is, and since January 1, 2003, has been, no labor strike, dispute, corporate campaign, slowdown, stoppage or lockout pending or, to the
Knowledge of Seller, threatened against or otherwise affecting any Company or Subsidiary.

               (b) Each Company and Subsidiary is, and since January 1, 2003 has been, in compliance with all applicable Laws respecting employment and
employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages, bonuses, commissions, termination or severance pay, vacation pay, paid time off pay,
employee benefits, hours of work and occupational safety and health, and is not engaged in any unfair labor practices, as defined in the National Labor
Relations Act or other applicable Laws. There is no unfair labor practice charge or complaint against any Company or Subsidiary pending or, to the
Knowledge of Seller, threatened before the National Labor Relations Board or any similar state or foreign agency or Governmental Entity.

               (c) No Company or Subsidiary has received notice of the intent of any federal, state, local or foreign agency responsible for the enforcement of labor
or employment laws to conduct an investigation with respect to or relating to any Company or Subsidiary, and no such investigation is in progress. There are
no complaints, lawsuits or other proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened in any forum by or on behalf of any present or former
employee or director or manager of any Company or Subsidiary, any applicant for employment or classes of the foregoing alleging breach of any express or
implied contract of employment, any laws governing employment or the termination thereof or other discriminatory, wrongful or tortuous conduct in
connection with the employment relationship.

               (d) Section 3.24(d) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth each collective bargaining agreement to which Seller or any Company or Subsidiary is a
party that covers any Business Employees. Each Company and Subsidiary, as applicable, is in compliance with the terms, conditions and obligations
contained in any such collective bargaining agreement, including any and all obligations to provide health, retirement or other employee benefits to
employees covered by such collective bargaining agreements.

               (e) The employment of each Business Employee in the U.S. is terminable at will, subject to applicable Law, without cost to any Company or
Subsidiary except for payments required under the Plans and the payment of salaries or wages and vacation pay accrued as of the date of termination.

               (f) No Company or Subsidiary, other than BVBA, has a works or supervisory council, health and safety committee or other body representing
employees which has a right to be represented or attend at or participate in any board or council meeting or a right to be informed, consulted or make
representations in relation to the business of such Company or Subsidiary. Any such body has, since January 1, 2003, been operated and currently operates in
accordance with applicable Law.

               (g) Within the three (3) year period preceding the date of this Agreement, no Company or Subsidiary has:
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                    (i) made or started implementation of any collective dismissals or closure of undertaking that have required or will require notification to
any state authority or notification to or consultation with any labor organization, employee union or trade union, works council, health and safety
committee, staff association or other body representing employees;

                    (ii) been a party to any transfer of a business or undertaking that has required, or will require, notification to or consultation with any trade
union, works council, health and safety committee, staff association or other body representing employees; or

                    (iii) transferred any Business Employee to or from any Company or Subsidiary pursuant to a transfer of undertaking (within the meaning of
EC directives 77/187 and 98/50 and the relevant local Laws implementing such directives).

               (h) All employment contracts covering any Business Employee in the European Community can be terminated by the normal notice period or
indemnity prescribed by applicable Law without giving rise to any further claim for damages or compensation. No Company or Subsidiary has received
notice of resignation from any Business Employee who is a key manager or employee.

          Section 3.25 Sufficiency of Assets. As of the Closing, after giving effect to the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and after taking into
account any services offered to Purchaser, any Company or Subsidiary pursuant to Exhibit A of the Transition Services Agreement, the assets and rights held
by Purchaser will constitute all of the assets and rights of the Companies and the Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Closing (but excluding the Shared
Retained Business Assets) that are necessary to conduct the Business after the Closing substantially as conducted during the six (6) month period prior to the
date hereof.

          Section 3.26 Arrangements with Related Parties. None of Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any director, officer, employee or Group Affiliate of
Seller or of any Company or Subsidiary, (a) is a director or officer of, or consultant to, or owns directly or indirectly any equity interest in, any competitor or
material supplier or customer of the Business, other than ownership of not more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding capital stock of any such
competitor, supplier or customer if such stock is listed on a foreign or domestic stock exchange, quoted on a foreign or domestic stock quotation system or
regularly traded in an over-the-counter market or (b) owns directly or indirectly (other than through their ownership of an equity interest in Parent) any
property, asset or right, tangible or intangible, primarily used or held for use by the Business immediately prior to the date hereof.

          Section 3.27 Inventory. All Inventory owned by the Companies and the Subsidiaries and all Outside Inventory shown on the most recent Statements of
Financial Information, or acquired thereafter, is generally of a quality and quantity usable
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and saleable in the ordinary course of business, subject to normal and customary allowances of the Companies and Subsidiaries for spoilage, damage and
outdated items.

          Section 3.28 Receivables. As of the Closing, all receivables included in the calculation of the Closing Adjustment will represent arm’s length sales in
the Ordinary Course of Business, constitute valid claims of a Company or Subsidiary, as applicable, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted
Liens.

          Section 3.29 Insurance. Section 3.29 of the Disclosure Schedule lists all insurance policies covering the material properties, assets, employees and
operations of the Company and the Subsidiaries (including policies providing property, casualty, liability, and workers’ compensation coverage). All
premiums due and payable in respect of such policies have been paid in full, and to the Knowledge of Seller, no default or other circumstance exists which
would create the substantial likelihood of the cancellation or non-renewal of any such policy prior to the Closing Date.

          Section 3.30 Solvency. After giving effect to the consummation of the Transactions, Seller, each Outside Inventory Seller and each Other Seller
Reorganization Entity (i) will be able to satisfy any and all of its liabilities, indebtedness, obligations, expenses, losses or claims, whether accrued, absolute,
contingent, matured, unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, and (ii) will not be insolvent.

          Section 3.31 DYMO AB. Except for actions taken in connection with (i) its organization, (ii) its purchase by Seller, (iii) changing its name and (iv) the
Reorganization, DYMO AB has not conducted any business or operations.

          Section 3.32 Brokers or Finders. Neither the Seller nor any Company or Subsidiary has entered into any agreement or arrangement entitling any agent,
broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other firm or Person to any broker’s or finder’s fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection with
any of the Transactions, except Citigroup Global Markets Inc., whose fees and expenses will be paid by Seller.

          Section 3.33 No Other Representations. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article III, neither Seller nor any other Person
acting on behalf of Seller, makes any representation or warranty, express or implied.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

          Purchaser represents and warrants to Seller that all of the statements contained in this Article IV are true as of the date hereof and will be true as of the
Closing as though made at that time, or, in any such case if made as of a specified date, are true as of such date.

          Section 4.1 Organization. Purchaser (a) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware; (b) has the
corporate power and authority to carry on its business as it is now being conducted and to
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own, lease and operate its properties and assets; and (c) is duly qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in every
jurisdiction in which such qualification is required, except, in the case of clause (c) above, to the extent that the absence of such qualification, license or good
standing would not have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Purchaser’s ability to consummate the Transactions.

          Section 4.2 Authorization; Validity of Agreement. Purchaser has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to
consummate the Transactions to be consummated by it. The execution, delivery and performance by Purchaser of this Agreement and the consummation by it
of the Transactions have been duly authorized by the Board of Directors of Purchaser, and no other corporate action on the part of Purchaser is necessary to
authorize the execution and delivery by Purchaser of this Agreement or the consummation by it of the Transactions. No vote of, or consent by, the holders of
any class or series of stock issued by Purchaser is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by Purchaser of this Agreement or the consummation by
it of the Transactions. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by Purchaser and, assuming due and valid authorization, execution
and delivery hereof by Seller, is a valid and binding obligation of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with its terms except (a) as limited
by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws of general application affecting enforcement
of creditors’ rights generally and (b) the availability of the remedy of specific performance or injunctive or other forms of equitable relief may be subject to
equitable defenses and would be subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought.

          Section 4.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. Except for the filings, permits, authorizations, consents and approvals as may be required under,
and other applicable requirements of, the Antitrust Laws, state securities or blue sky laws or foreign securities laws, none of the execution, delivery or
performance of this Agreement by Purchaser or the consummation by Purchaser of any of the Transactions will (a) violate, conflict with or result in any
breach of any provision of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of Purchaser, (b) require any consent, approval or notice under, any Commitment of any
kind to which Purchaser is a party or by which Purchaser is bound or (c) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of
time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under any Commitment to which Purchaser is a party or by which
Purchaser or any of its properties or assets may be bound, (d) violate or require any consent, approval or notice under any provision of any Law applicable to
Purchaser or (e) require on the part of Purchaser any filing or registration with, notification to, or consent, approval or notice of, any Governmental Entity
which has not been provided or obtained; excluding from the foregoing clauses (c), (d) and (e) such violations, breaches, defaults or failures to file, register,
notify or obtain a consent or approval which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Purchaser’s ability to consummate
the Transactions.
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          Section 4.4 Accredited Investor; Purchase Entirely for Own Account; Financial Condition; Experience.

               (a) Purchaser is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of that term as defined in Rule 501(a) promulgated under the Securities Act.

               (b) The Shares will be acquired for investment for Purchaser’s own account and not with a view to the distribution of any part thereof in violation of
the Securities Act. Purchaser does not have any contract, undertaking or agreement with any Person to sell, transfer, or grant participations with respect to any
of the Shares.

               (c) Purchaser’s financial condition is such that it is able to bear the risk of holding the Shares for an indefinite period of time and can bear the loss of
its entire investment in its Shares.

               (d) Purchaser has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters and in making high risk investments of this type that it is capable
of evaluating the merits and risks of the purchase of the Shares.

          Section 4.5 Availability of Funds. Purchaser currently has sufficient immediately available funds (through existing credit arrangements or otherwise)
and will at the Closing have sufficient immediately available funds to pay the Purchase Price and to pay any other amounts payable pursuant to this
Agreement and to effect the Transactions.

          Section 4.6 Litigation. There is no claim, action, suit, proceeding or, to the knowledge of Purchaser, governmental investigation pending or, to the
knowledge of Purchaser, threatened against Purchaser or any of its Affiliates by or before any court or Governmental Entity that (a) questions or challenges
the validity of this Agreement or any action taken or to be taken by Purchaser or any of its Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the
Transactions, or (b) individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on, or materially delay, the ability of
Purchaser to consummate the Transactions.

          Section 4.7 Brokers or Finders. Neither Purchaser nor any of its subsidiaries or its Affiliates has entered into any agreement or arrangement entitling
any agent, broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other firm or Person to any broker’s or finder’s fee or any other commission or similar fee in
connection with any of the Transactions, except JPMorgan Chase & Co., whose fees and expenses will be paid by Purchaser.
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ARTICLE V

COVENANTS

          Section 5.1 Interim Operations of the Companies. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, as set forth in Section 5.1 of the Disclosure
Schedule, actions required to be taken in connection with the Reorganization or as may be consented to in writing by Purchaser (except with respect to
Section 5.1(c)(i), Section 5.1(c)(ii), Sections 5.1(c)(iii)(B), (C) and (D), Section 5.1(c)(vi) and Section 5.1(c)(x), such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), from and after the date hereof through the Closing:

               (a) the Business shall be conducted in the Ordinary Course of Business;

               (b) Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to procure that, with respect to the Business, from and after the date hereof through the Closing:

                    (i) the services of the Business Employees are generally kept available to the Companies and the Subsidiaries; and

                    (ii) relationships with customers and suppliers of the Business are generally preserved;

               (c) Seller shall ensure that from and after the date hereof through the Closing:

                    (i) all bonus payments for Business Employees accrued with respect to or to be paid to the directors, officers and employees of the
Companies and the Subsidiaries through the time immediately prior to the Closing are fully accrued on the books and records of the Companies and the
Subsidiaries, or paid in full;

                    (ii) (A) no Company or Subsidiary shall (1) amend its charter or by-laws or similar organizational documents, (2) issue, sell, transfer, pledge,
dispose of or encumber any shares of any class or series of its capital stock, or securities convertible into or exchangeable for, or options, warrants, calls,
commitments or rights of any kind to acquire, any shares of any class or series of its capital stock, (3) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other
distribution payable in cash, stock or property with respect to any shares of any class or series of its capital stock, (4) split, combine, subdivide or
reclassify any shares of any class or series of its stock, or (5) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire directly or indirectly any shares of any class or series
of its capital stock, or any instrument or security which consists of or includes a right to acquire such shares and (B) none of any Company, any
Subsidiary or any Other Seller Reorganization Entity shall sell, transfer, assign, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any assets used or held for use
primarily in the conduct of the Business, except for (1) sales of
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Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business and (2) sales, transfers, assignments, leases, mortgages or other dispositions of assets in an aggregate
amount of $250,000.

                    (iii) no Company or Subsidiary shall, except pursuant to a Commitment referenced in Section 3.16(a)(vii) of the Disclosure Schedule,
(A) assume, guarantee or endorse the obligations of any other Person, (B) pledge or otherwise encumber capital stock of a Company or Subsidiary,
(C) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, or (D)
mortgage or pledge any of the assets, tangible or intangible, of the Business or create any Encumbrance thereupon other than Permitted Liens;

                    (iv) no Company or Subsidiary shall (1) make any material increase in the compensation of any Business Employees, or any director, officer
or independent contractor of the Business payable or to become payable to any such employees, directors, officers or independent contractors (other than
normal increases in the Ordinary Course of Business or pursuant to plans, programs or any Commitment existing on the date hereof), (2) pay or agree to
pay any material pension, retirement allowance, severance or other employee benefit not already required or provided for under any existing plan or
program or any Commitment listed in the Disclosure Schedule to any Business Employee or director, officer or independent contractor of the Business
(other than with respect to the ordinary commencement of participation in such plans, agreements or arrangements by newly hired employees),
(3) commit any Company or Subsidiary (other than pursuant to any already existing requirement in any collective bargaining agreement or Commitment
listed in the Disclosure Schedule) to any additional material pension, profit-sharing, bonus, extra compensation, incentive, deferred compensation, group
insurance, severance, retirement or other employee benefit plan, agreement or arrangement, or to any consulting or employment agreement (other than
consulting or employment agreements not required to be disclosed under Section 3.16(a)(ii)), retention with or for the benefit of any Business Employee
or director, officer, or independent contractor of the Business (other than with respect to the ordinary commencement of participation in such plans,
agreements or arrangements by newly hired employees), (4) except as required by applicable Law, materially amend in any respect any such plan,
agreement or arrangement or (5) assume, enter into, materially amend or alter or terminate any labor or collective bargaining agreement covering any
Business Employee to which any Company or Subsidiary is a party;

                    (v) no Company or Subsidiary shall voluntarily permit any insurance policy relating to the Business naming any Company or Subsidiary as a
beneficiary or a loss payable payee to be cancelled or terminated or any of the coverage thereunder to lapse prior to the
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Closing Date, except policies providing coverage for Losses which are replaced without material diminution of or gaps in coverage;

                    (vi) no Company or Subsidiary shall adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring,
recapitalization or other reorganization of such Company or Subsidiary;

                    (vii) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall, with respect to the Business (i) accelerate the delivery or sale of products, (ii) offer
discounts on sale of products or (iii) accelerate collection of receivables of the type to be included in the Estimated Closing Adjustment, in each case,
except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

                    (viii) no Company or Subsidiary shall (i) waive any right of substantial value of the Business owned by it or cancel any material debt or
claim relating to the Business owned by it, or (ii) settle any claims, actions, arbitrations, disputes or other proceedings (A) that would result in any
Company or Subsidiary being enjoined in any material respect or (B) relating to the Business that would result in any Company or Subsidiary being
obligated to pay an amount which, in the aggregate, is in excess of $250,000;

                    (ix) no Company or Subsidiary shall sell, assign, transfer, license, convey or permit to lapse any right to any of the Intellectual Property set
forth in Section 3.23(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, or otherwise dispose of any trade secret, process or know-how not heretofore a matter of public
knowledge, except pursuant to judicial Order or process or in the Ordinary Course of Business;

                    (x) no Company or Subsidiary shall (i) acquire (by merger, consolidation or acquisition of stock or assets) any corporation, partnership or
other business organization or division thereof or any equity interest therein, or (ii) otherwise acquire any assets for the Business other than in the
Ordinary Course of Business, except in the case of this clause (ii) only, (A) an acquisition of Inventory, (B) an acquisition of cash or cash-equivalents,
(C) an acquisition of assets consistent with the 2005 capital budget, as amended to the date hereof and (D) any other acquisition that would not exceed
$250,000 per transaction or $1,000,000 in the aggregate;

                    (xi) no Company or Subsidiary shall enter into a new Commitment or modify, amend, renew or terminate any Commitment to which it is a
party, in any such case which Commitment, modification, amendment or renewal relates to the Business, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;
provided, however, that such new Commitment, or such modification, amendment or renewal shall not in any event (i) (A) run
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or extend for a period of longer than twenty-four (24) months beyond the Closing Date unless not material to the Business, or (B) provide for minimum
aggregate future payments by a Company or Subsidiary or provide for the receipt by a Company or Subsidiary of minimum aggregate future amounts, in
excess of $2,000,000, which, with respect to each of clauses (A) and (B), is not terminable by such Company or Subsidiary on notice of not more than
ninety (90) days without material payment or penalty; (ii) include any non-compete covenant or similar restriction applicable to any Company or
Subsidiary; or (iii) include any requirements obligations or exclusive supply or distribution arrangements binding on or applicable to any Affiliate of any
Company or Subsidiary;

                    (xii) no Company or Subsidiary shall hire any officer, director or employee who will be an employee of the Business, except non-
management level employees hired in the Ordinary Course of Business;

                    (xiii) the DYMO global operating division of Parent shall incur advertising and promotion expenses of no less than an amount equal to
$2.5 million per month multiplied by the number of completed months between July 1, 2005 and the Closing Date. For purposes of this subsection (xiii),
the month of July shall be deemed to constitute a completed month and, in the event the Closing occurs on December 30, 2005, the month of December
shall be deemed to constitute a completed month. Prior to the Closing, Purchaser may request that the DYMO global operating division of Parent expend
up to an additional $2 million (the “A/P Requested Amount”) with respect to one or more particular advertising or promotional events. Seller shall be
entitled to reject such request if Seller determines, in its sole reasonable judgment, that expending such money would not be in the commercial interests
of the DYMO global operating division. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be required to expend the A/P Requested Amount to the extent
such expenditure would cause in aggregate advertising and promotion expenses for the DYMO global operating division to exceed an amount equal to
$3 million per month multiplied by the number of completed months since July 1, 2005 (and including the month of July) (unless Purchaser shall have
provided monies to Seller to cover such excess). For purposes of determining the amount of advertising and promotion expenses incurred in accordance
with this Section 5.1(c)(xiii), Euros shall be converted to U.S. dollars at a rate of 1.286;

                    (xiv) no Company or Subsidiary shall (i) make or change any Tax election, adopt or change any Tax accounting method, enter into any
closing agreement or settle any Tax claim or assessment, or (ii) file any Tax Return in jurisdictions where Tax Returns with respect to the Business have
not been filed in the five (5) years prior to the date hereof; and
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                    (xv) no Company or Subsidiary shall authorize or enter into any agreement, contract, commitment or arrangement to do any of the
foregoing.

          For purposes of this Section 5.1, either the Chief Financial Officer or the General Counsel of Seller or the President, Senior Vice President-Business
Development or Vice President-Finance of the DYMO global operating division may request Purchaser’s consent for any action prohibited by the terms of
this Section 5.1 by E-mail request sent to those persons listed on Exhibit 5.1, and any affirmative response thereto by E-mail response from either of such
persons shall be binding upon Purchaser.

          Notwithstanding any of the foregoing nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit any Company or Subsidiary, after the date hereof and prior to the
Closing Date, from assigning or distributing receivables, other than receivables of the type to be included in the Estimated Closing Adjustment, or cash or
cash equivalents to Seller or its Affiliates or to any Company or Subsidiary.

          Section 5.2 Access; Confidentiality.

               (a) Subject to any applicable Law, Seller shall and shall cause the Companies prior to the Closing to (i) give Purchaser and its authorized
representatives reasonable access to all books, records, personnel, offices and other facilities and properties of the Business and (ii) cause the officers of Seller
and the Companies to furnish Purchaser with such financial and operating data and other information with respect to the Business and properties of the
Companies and the Subsidiaries as Purchaser may from time to time reasonably request; provided, however, that any such access shall be conducted at a
reasonable time, under the supervision of Seller’s or the Companies’ personnel and in such a manner as to maintain the confidentiality of this Agreement and
the Transactions and not to unreasonably interfere with the normal operation of the business of Seller or any Company or Subsidiary.

               (b) The provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement shall remain binding and in full force and effect until the Closing; thereafter, the Confidentiality
Agreement shall terminate except with respect to breaches thereof that occurred prior to the Closing. The information contained herein, in the Disclosure
Schedule or delivered to Purchaser or its authorized representatives pursuant hereto shall be subject to the Confidentiality Agreement as Evaluation Material
(as defined and subject to the exceptions contained therein) until the Closing and, for that purpose and to that extent, the terms of the Confidentiality
Agreement are incorporated herein by reference.

               (c) For a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date, Seller will not, and will not permit its Representatives and Affiliates to, directly or
indirectly, disclose or use or authorize, license or otherwise permit other Persons to use in any way that is detrimental to Purchaser or any Company or
Subsidiary any trade secrets or other information that is confidential, proprietary or otherwise not publicly available, including any confidential data, know-
how or information relating to the business practices,
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products, customers, prospects, suppliers, research and development, ideas, designs, discoveries, inventions, techniques, equipment, marketing, sales,
methods, manuals, strategies or financial affairs (collectively, the “Business Confidential Information”) about (i) the Business, or any Company or Subsidiary
to the extent relating to the Business, and (ii) Purchaser and its Affiliates obtained in the performance of this Agreement. The obligation of Seller and its
Affiliates and Representatives to hold any such information in confidence will be satisfied if each exercises the same degree of care with respect to such
information as it would take to preserve the confidentiality of its own similar information. In the event of a breach of the obligations hereunder by Seller, its
Affiliates or Representatives, the parties hereto agree that, in addition to all other available remedies, Purchaser will be entitled to injunctive relief to enforce
such obligations in any court of competent jurisdiction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Business Confidential Information will not include such information
which: (A) at the time of disclosure is publicly available or becomes publicly available through no act or omission of Seller, its Affiliates or Representatives;
(B) is thereafter disclosed or furnished to Seller by a third Person that did not acquire the information under an obligation of confidentiality; or (C) is
disclosed by Seller under compulsion of applicable Law. Nothing in this Section 5.2(c) shall limit Seller’s ability to enforce its rights under this Agreement or
any other written agreement entered into in connection with this Agreement.

               (d) For a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date, Purchaser will not, and will not permit its Representatives and Affiliates to, directly or
indirectly, disclose or use or authorize, license or otherwise permit other Persons to use in any way that is detrimental to Seller or any of its Group Affiliates
any trade secrets or other information that is confidential, proprietary or otherwise not publicly available, including any confidential data, know-how or
information relating to the business practices, products, customers, prospects, suppliers, research and development, ideas, designs, discoveries, inventions,
techniques, equipment, marketing, sales, methods, manuals, strategies or financial affairs (collectively, the “Esselte Confidential Information”) about (i) the
Seller or any Group Affiliate to the extent relating to the Retained Business, and (ii) Seller and its Affiliates obtained in the performance of this Agreement.
The obligation of Purchaser and its Affiliates and Representatives to hold any such information in confidence will be satisfied if each exercises the same
degree of care with respect to such information as it would take to preserve the confidentiality of its own similar information. In the event of a breach of the
obligations hereunder by Purchaser, its Affiliates or Representatives, the parties hereto agree that, in addition to all other available remedies, Seller will be
entitled to injunctive relief to enforce such obligations in any court of competent jurisdiction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Esselte Confidential Information
will not include such information which: (A) at the time of disclosure is publicly available or becomes publicly available through no act or omission of
Purchaser, its Affiliates or Representatives; (B) is thereafter disclosed or furnished to Purchaser by a third Person that did not acquire the information under an
obligation of confidentiality; (C) is disclosed by Purchaser under compulsion of applicable Law; or (D) information which was independently known,
developed or possessed by Purchaser or its Affiliates on a non-confidential basis prior to being furnished to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or
Representatives by Seller or its
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Affiliates. Nothing in this Section 5.2(d) shall limit Purchaser’s ability to enforce its rights under this Agreement or any other written agreement entered into
in connection with this Agreement.

          Section 5.3 Efforts and Actions to Cause Closing to Occur; Further Assurances.

               (a) Prior to the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, Purchaser and Seller shall use their respective reasonable
best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done and cooperate with each other in order to do, all things necessary, proper or
advisable (subject to any applicable Laws) to consummate the Closing and the other Transactions as promptly as practicable, including the preparation and
filing of all forms, registrations and notices required to be filed to consummate the Closing and the other Transactions and the taking of such actions as are
necessary to obtain any requisite approvals, authorizations, consents, orders, licenses, permits, qualifications, exemptions or waivers by any third party or
Governmental Entity. Neither Purchaser nor Seller shall take, or agree to or commit to take, or permit their respective Affiliates or any Company or
Subsidiary to take any action that would result in any of the conditions to the Closing set forth in Article VI not being satisfied or that would materially impair
the ability of such party to consummate the Closing in accordance with the terms hereof or materially delay such consummation. In addition, no party hereto
shall take any action after the date hereof that could reasonably be expected to materially delay the obtaining of, or result in not obtaining, any permission,
approval or consent from any Governmental Entity or other Person required to be obtained prior to Closing. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall
require Seller or any Company or Subsidiary to pay any consideration to any other Person from whom any such approvals, authorizations, consents, orders,
licenses, permits, qualifications, exemptions or waiver is requested.

               (b) Prior to the Closing, each party shall promptly consult with the other party hereto with respect to, provide any necessary information with respect
to, and provide the other party (or its respective counsel) with copies of, all filings made by such party with any Governmental Entity or any other information
supplied by such party to a Governmental Entity in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions. Each party hereto shall promptly provide the other
party with copies of any written communication received and inform the other party of any oral communications by such party from any Governmental Entity
regarding any of the Transactions. If any party hereto or any Affiliate thereof, or any Company or Subsidiary receives a request for information or
documentary material from any such Governmental Entity with respect to any of the Transactions, then such party shall endeavor in good faith to make, or
cause to be made, as soon as reasonably practicable and after consultation with the other party hereto, an appropriate response in compliance with such
request.

               (c) Prior to the Closing, Seller shall take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do or cause to be done all actions necessary so that the
Reorganization shall have been completed on or prior to the third (3rd) business day prior to December 30, 2005.
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               (d) In addition to and without limiting the agreements of the parties contained above, each of Purchaser and Seller shall:

                    (i) take all actions reasonably necessary to make the filings required of them or any of their Affiliates under the Antitrust Laws as promptly
as practicable after the date hereof;

                    (ii) comply at the earliest practicable date with any request for additional information or documentary material received by Purchaser, Seller,
any Company or any of their Affiliates from any Governmental Entity in connection with the Antitrust Laws;

                    (iii) promptly supply the other party with any information which may be required in order to effectuate any filings required of such other
party or any of its Affiliates under the Antitrust Laws;

                    (iv) cooperate with each other in connection with any filing or submission under the Antitrust Laws and in connection with resolving any
investigation or other inquiry concerning the Transactions commenced by any Governmental Entity;

                    (v) use their best efforts to resolve such objections, if any, as may be asserted with respect to the Transactions under any Antitrust Law;

                    (vi) advise the other parties promptly of any material communication received by such party from any Governmental Entity regarding any of
the Transactions, and of any understandings, undertakings or agreements (oral or written) such party proposes to make or enter into with the
Governmental Entity in connection with the Transactions; and

                    (vii) cooperate with each other to minimize the effect of any applicable value added tax or other similar general consumption tax with
respect to the transfer of the Outside Inventory.

               (e) Section 5.3(b) and Sections 5.3(d)(i)-(vi) shall not apply to any matter relating to Taxes.

               (f) Seller and Purchaser shall file notifications under the HSR Act within ten (10) days hereof. Concurrently with the filing of notifications under the
HSR Act or as soon thereafter as practicable, Seller and Purchaser shall each request early termination of the HSR Act waiting period.

               (g) Seller shall provide to Purchaser in writing no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Closing a list of the Outside Inventory Sellers, and Purchaser
shall provide to Seller in writing no later than twenty (20) days prior to Closing a list of the Designated Purchaser Affiliates.
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               (h) Purchaser and Seller agree to execute and deliver all such other instruments and take all such other action as either party may reasonably request
from time to time, before or after the Closing and without payment of further consideration, in order to effectuate the Transactions. Purchaser and Seller agree
to cooperate fully with each other and with their respective counsel and accountants in connection with any steps required to be taken as part of their
respective obligations under this Agreement.

          Section 5.4 Taxes.

               (a) Tax Return Filings.

                    (i) Seller shall timely prepare and file (or cause such preparation and filing) in accordance with applicable Law and in a manner consistent
with past practice all Tax Returns with respect to the Companies and the Subsidiaries for Tax periods ending on or before the Closing Date (the “Seller
Returns”) and will pay (or cause to be paid) all Taxes due with respect to Seller Returns. Seller shall provide, or cause to be provided, to Purchaser
substantially final copies of any Seller Returns that must be signed by an officer of Purchaser, the Companies or the Subsidiaries that are due after the
Closing Date, including all reasonably necessary workpapers supporting such Seller Returns, within thirty (30) days of the date such Seller Return is due.
In the event Purchaser reasonably believes such Seller Return is in violation of applicable Law, Purchaser and Seller will attempt to resolve their
disagreement. If Purchaser and Seller are unable to resolve their disagreement, the dispute shall be resolved pursuant to Section 5.4(k) within ten
(10) days of submission to the Arbitrator.

                    (ii) Purchaser shall timely prepare and file (or cause such preparation and filing) in accordance with applicable Law all Tax Returns with
respect to the Companies and the Subsidiaries for Tax periods ending after the Closing Date that include the Closing Date (the “Straddle Period” and the
“Straddle Period Returns”). Purchaser shall provide, or cause to be provided, to Seller substantially final copies of any Straddle Period Returns, including
all reasonably necessary work papers, at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date thereof (giving effect to any extensions thereto), accompanied by a
statement (the “Straddle Statement”) setting forth and calculating in reasonable detail the Pre-Closing Taxes (as defined below). Seller shall be deemed to
agree with the Straddle Period Return and Straddle Statement, unless Seller notifies Purchaser as described in the following sentence. If, within ten
(10) days of the receipt of the Straddle Period Return and Straddle Statement, Seller notifies Purchaser that it disputes the manner of preparation of the
Straddle Period Return or the amount set forth on the Straddle Statement, and provides Purchaser Seller’s proposed form of Straddle Period Return, a
statement setting forth and calculating in reasonable detail the Pre-Closing Taxes, and an explanation of the reasons for its adjustment, then Purchaser
and Seller shall attempt to resolve their
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disagreement within the ten (10) days following Seller’s notification to Purchaser of such disagreement. If Purchaser and Seller are unable to resolve
their disagreement, the dispute shall be resolved pursuant to Section 5.4(k) within ten (10) days of submission to the Arbitrator. Seller shall pay to
Purchaser (or Purchaser shall pay to Seller if the Pre-Closing Taxes is a negative amount) an amount equal to the Pre-Closing Taxes, whether such
amount is determined by agreement between Seller and Purchaser or by the Arbitrator, not later than two (2) business days before the due date (including
any extensions thereof) for payment of Taxes with respect to the relevant Straddle Period Return. Purchaser shall promptly provide to Seller copies of
any filed Straddle Period Returns.

                    (iii) For purposes of this Agreement, in the case of any Taxes with respect to the Companies or the Subsidiaries that are payable with respect
to any Straddle Period, the portion of any such Taxes that constitutes “Pre-Closing Taxes” shall be the excess of (A) (i) in the case of Taxes that are either
(x) based upon or related to income or receipts or (y) imposed in connection with any sale, transfer or assignment or any deemed sale, transfer or
assignment of property (real or personal, tangible or intangible), the amount that would be payable if the Tax period ended at the close of business on the
Closing Date and (ii) in the case of Taxes (other than those described in clause (i)) imposed on a periodic basis with respect to the business or assets of
the Companies or the Subsidiaries, the amount of Taxes for the entire Straddle Period (or, in the case of such Taxes determined on an arrears basis, the
amount of such Taxes for the immediately preceding Tax period) multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the
portion of the Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire
Straddle Period reduced by (B) any prepayment or advances of Taxes or any payments of estimated Taxes with respect to the Straddle Period paid prior
to the Closing Date. For purposes of clause (i) of the preceding sentence, any exemption, deduction, credit or other item that is calculated on an annual
basis shall be allocated to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date on a pro rata basis determined by multiplying the total amount of
such item allocated to the Straddle Period by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the portion of the Straddle Period
ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire Straddle Period. In the case of any Tax based upon
or measured by capital (including net worth or long-term debt) or intangibles, any amount thereof required to be allocated under this Section 5.4(a)(iii)
shall be computed by reference to the level of such items at the close of business on the Closing Date. The parties hereto will, to the extent permitted by
Law, elect with the relevant Taxing Authority to treat a portion of any Straddle Period as a short taxable period ending as of the close of business on the
Closing Date. For purposes of this Agreement, “Post-Closing Taxes” shall include any Taxes of the Companies or the Subsidiaries that are payable with
respect to a Straddle Period, except for the portion of
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any such Taxes that constitutes Pre-Closing Taxes (and for the avoidance of doubt, Post-Closing Taxes shall not include any Tax on any gain resulting
from the sale of the Shares hereunder, except as provided in Section 5.4(i)).

          (b) Indemnity for Taxes.

                    (i) Seller agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Purchaser (and its directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, successor and permitted
assigns) from and against and in respect of all Losses arising out of (A) Taxes of the Companies or the Subsidiaries with respect to Tax periods ending on
or before the Closing Date, (B) Pre-Closing Taxes with respect to any Straddle Period, (C) Taxes for any Straddle Period that are attributable to the assets
and operations of Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Companies and the Subsidiaries) that are imposed on the Companies or the Subsidiaries
because of joint and several liability under relevant Tax Law (including Treas. Reg. § 1.1502-6 or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign Law)
and (D) Losses arising out of or otherwise in respect of any inaccuracy in or breach of the representations and warranties in Section 3.22. This indemnity
includes any and all Taxes, including Transfer Taxes, arising from or created because of, the Reorganization.

                    (ii) Purchaser agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Seller (and its directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, successor and
permitted assigns) from and against and in respect of all Losses arising out of (A) Taxes of the Companies and the Subsidiaries with respect to all Tax
periods beginning after the Closing Date, and (B) Post-Closing Taxes with respect to any Straddle Period, (C) Taxes for any Straddle Period that are
attributable to the assets and operations of Purchaser and its Affiliates (other than the Companies and the Subsidiaries) that are imposed on the Seller or
its Affiliates because of joint and several liability under relevant Tax Law (including Treas. Reg. § 1.1502-6 or any analogous provision of state, local or
foreign Law) and (D) Transfer Taxes for which Purchaser is responsible pursuant to Section 5.4(i).

               (c) Treatment of Indemnification Payments. Purchaser and Seller agree to treat (and cause their Affiliates to treat) any payments received pursuant to
Section 5.15, Section 5.4(b) or Section 8.2 as adjustments to the Purchase Price for all Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

               (d) Contests.

                    (i) After the Closing Date, Purchaser and Seller each shall notify the other party in writing within ten (10) days of the commencement of any
Audit affecting the Taxes of or with respect to the Companies or the Subsidiaries that, if determined adversely to the taxpayer (the “Tax Indemnified
Party”) or after the lapse of time would be grounds for indemnification under Section 5.4(b) by the other party (the “Tax
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Indemnifying Party” and a “Tax Claim”). Such notice shall contain factual information describing any asserted Tax liability in reasonable detail and shall
include copies of any notice or other document received from any Taxing Authority in respect of any such asserted Tax liability. Failure to give such
notification shall not affect the indemnification provided in Section 5.4(b), except to the extent the Tax Indemnifying Party shall have been prejudiced as
a result of such failure (except that the Tax Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any expenses incurred during the period in which the Tax
Indemnified Party failed to give such notice). Thereafter, the Tax Indemnified Party shall deliver to the Tax Indemnifying Party, as promptly as possible
but in no event later than ten (10) days after the Tax Indemnified Party’s receipt thereof, copies of all relevant notices and documents (including court
papers) received by the Tax Indemnified Party.

                    (ii) In the case of a Tax Claim relating to any Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date, Seller shall have the right, at its expense, to
control the conduct of such Tax Claim; provided, however, that (A) Seller shall keep Purchaser fully informed with respect to the status of such Tax
Claim and consult with Purchaser upon Purchaser’s reasonable request for such consultation from time to time with respect to such Tax Claim, (B) Seller
shall not agree or consent to any item or matter with respect to any such Tax Claim that could reasonably be expected to adversely impact, or increase the
Tax liability of, Purchaser, the Company or any Subsidiary after the Closing Date, without the prior written consent of Purchaser, which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and (C) if Seller does not exercise its right to control the conduct of such Tax Claim pursuant to this Section 5.4(d)
(ii) in a reasonable and timely manner, then Purchaser may control the conduct of such Tax Claim.

                    (iii) In the case of a Tax Claim relating to any Straddle Period, Purchaser shall have the right, at its expense, to control the conduct of such
Tax Claim; provided, that (A) Purchaser shall keep Seller fully informed with respect to the status of such Tax Claim and consult with Seller upon
Seller’s reasonable request for such consultation from time to time with respect to such Tax Claim and (B) if such Tax Claim could result in an increase
in Tax liability for which Seller would be liable, Seller may, at its expense, jointly participate with Purchaser in the conduct of such Tax Claim, and (C) if
Purchaser does not exercise its right to control the conduct of a Tax Claim pursuant to this Section 5.4(d)(iii), then Seller may control the conduct of such
Tax Claim.

                    (iv) For the avoidance of doubt, the contest procedures related to any Tax Claim (other than any contest procedures governed by
Section 5.15, which shall be governed by Section 5.15) shall be governed by this Section 5.4 and not Section 8.2(a), Section 8.2(b) or Section 8.3.
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               (e) Refunds.

                    (i) If Purchaser, the Companies, or the Subsidiaries, or any of their respective Affiliates receive or become entitled to any Tax refund, credit,
or other reimbursement with respect to Taxes of the Companies or the Subsidiaries (including any interest in respect thereof) that relate to any Tax
period, or portion thereof, ending on or before the Closing Date, Purchaser shall promptly pay over such refund, credit, or other reimbursement to Seller.
For the avoidance of doubt, any Tax deduction, Tax credit or other Tax attribute arising or generated in a Tax period (or portion thereof) ending on or
before the Closing Date that creates a Tax benefit recognized or taken into account only in a Tax period (or portion thereof) beginning after the Closing
Date shall not be subject to refund to Seller.

                    (ii) If Seller or any of its Affiliates receive or become entitled to any Tax refund, credit, or other reimbursement with respect to Taxes of the
Companies or the Subsidiaries (including any interest in respect thereof) that relate to any Tax period, or portion thereof, beginning after the Closing
Date, Seller shall promptly pay over such refund, credit, or other reimbursement to Purchaser.

               (f) Certain Post Closing Actions.

                    (i) Seller may amend any Tax Return of the Companies or the Subsidiaries that relates to any Tax Period, or portion thereof, ending on or
before the Closing Date; provided, that Purchaser shall have the right to review any amended Tax Return, including all reasonably necessary workpapers
supporting such amended Tax Return; provided, further, that (i) if an officer of the Purchaser, the Companies or the Subsidiaries is required to sign such
amended Tax Return, then the procedures for the review of such Tax Returns by the Purchaser provided for in Section 5.4(a) shall be followed, mutatis
mutandis, and (ii) if any such amendment increases the Tax liability of Purchaser, the Companies or the Subsidiaries for any Tax period or portion thereof
beginning after the Closing Date, including any and all timing differences, Seller shall indemnify Purchaser, the Companies or the Subsidiaries, as the
case may be, from any such increased Tax liability. In the event Purchaser disagrees with Seller’s calculation of any such increased Tax liability, as
provided in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence, Purchaser and Seller will attempt to resolve their disagreement. If Purchaser and Seller are unable to
resolve their disagreement, the dispute shall be resolved pursuant to Section 5.4(k) within twenty (20) days of submission to the Arbitrator.

                    (ii) Purchaser, the Companies and the Subsidiaries shall, at the written request of Seller, make any election or filing with respect to Taxes
that, in the reasonable determination of Seller, would be reasonably expected to decrease any Tax liability of Seller, the Companies,
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the Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates for any Tax period, or portion thereof, ending on or before the Closing Date provided that the
election or filing could not reasonably be expected to increase the Tax liability of Purchaser, any of its Affiliates, the Companies or the Subsidiaries for
any Post-Closing Taxes, including any timing differences.

                    (iii) Without the written consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, Purchaser, the
Companies and the Subsidiaries shall not take any action after the Closing that would be reasonably expected to increase Seller’s liability for Taxes.
Notwithstanding the previous sentence, Purchaser shall not make an election under Section 338(g) of the Code (or any analogous provision of state,
local, or foreign Law) with respect to Holdings or the Subsidiaries.

               (g) Cooperation.

                    (i) Purchaser, Seller, and their respective Affiliates shall cooperate fully, to the extent reasonably requested by any party, in connection with
the filing of Tax Returns, any Tax Claim, and any other item contemplated by this Section 5.4. Such cooperation shall include the execution of any
document that may be necessary or reasonably helpful, the provision of records and information that are reasonably relevant, and making employees or
representatives available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder.

                    (ii) Without limiting the foregoing, within one hundred fifty (150) days after the Closing Date, or sooner if reasonably requested by Seller,
Purchaser shall cause the Companies to prepare and provide to Seller Tax information materials, including schedules and work papers required by Seller
to enable Seller to prepare and file all Tax Returns required to be prepared and filed by it. The Companies shall prepare such Tax information materials in
good faith in a manner consistent with Seller’s past practice.

               (h) Tax Record Retention. For a period of seven (7) years after the Closing Date, Seller and its representatives shall have reasonable access to the
books and records (including the right to make extracts thereof) of the Companies and Subsidiaries to the extent that such books and records relate to Tax
periods ending on or before the Closing Date or Pre-Closing Taxes with respect to any Straddle Period and Purchaser and its representatives shall have
reasonable access to Seller’s books and records to the extent such books and records relate to or affect Tax periods of the Companies and Subsidiaries ending
on or after the Closing Date or Post-Closing Taxes with respect to any Straddle Period or are necessary to defend any Tax Claim controlled by Purchaser
pursuant to Section 5.4(d)(ii). Such access shall be afforded by the applicable party upon receipt of reasonable advance notice and during normal business
hours. If a party shall desire to dispose of any such books and records prior to the
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expiration of such seven (7) year period, such party shall, prior to such disposition, give such other party a reasonable opportunity, at such other party’s
expense, to segregate and remove such books and records as such other party may select. Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Seller shall make
available complete copies of all originally filed Tax Returns for each Company and each Subsidiary to the extent presently held by Seller, the Companies or
the Subsidiaries or their advisors.

               (i) Transfer and Similar Taxes. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, all sales, use, transfer, gains, stamp, duties,
registration, recording and similar Taxes (collectively, “Transfer Taxes”) incurred as a result of the purchase of the Shares by Purchaser shall be borne by
Purchaser. Purchaser shall accurately file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to Transfer Taxes and timely pay all such Transfer
Taxes. If required by Law, Seller will execute any such Tax Return. Purchaser and Seller shall cooperate with each other in attempting to minimize Transfer
Taxes, if any. Purchaser shall provide to Seller copies of any Tax Returns with respect to Transfer Taxes no later than ten (10) days after the due dates of such
Tax Returns.

               (j) Termination of Tax Sharing Agreements. On or prior to the Closing Date, the Companies and the Subsidiaries shall terminate any and all
liabilities, obligations, and rights with respect to any Tax sharing agreements to which it is a party (other than those imposed by Law), and all obligations
thereunder with respect to the Companies and the Subsidiaries shall be settled, and no additional payments shall be made under any provisions thereof after
the Closing Date.

               (k) Dispute Resolution. Except with respect to the matters provided for in Section 5.15 (which shall be governed by Section 5.15), any dispute,
controversy, or claim between Purchaser and Seller arising out of or relating to the provisions of this Agreement that relates to Taxes that cannot be resolved
by negotiations between Purchaser and Seller shall be submitted to the Arbitrator for resolution. The Arbitrator shall control the proceedings related to the
dispute resolution and may request such evidence and information as it deems necessary. The resolution reached by the Arbitrator shall be binding on
Purchaser, Seller and their respective Affiliates. The expenses of the Arbitrator shall be borne equally by Purchaser on the one hand and the Seller on the
other hand.

          Section 5.5 Publicity. The initial press release with respect to the execution of this Agreement shall be a joint press release acceptable to Purchaser and
Seller. Thereafter, until the Closing, or the date the Transactions are terminated or abandoned pursuant to Article VII, neither Seller, the Companies, the
Subsidiaries, Purchaser nor any of their respective Affiliates shall issue or cause the publication of any press release or other public announcement with
respect to this Agreement or the Transactions without prior consultation with the other party, except as may be required by Law or by any listing agreement
with a securities exchange or trading market.
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          Section 5.6 Employees; Employee Benefits.

               (a) Section 5.6(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list identifying each Business Employee as of the date hereof. Seller
agrees to update Section 5.6(a) of the Disclosure Schedule ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date to include new hires and terminations. Seller shall transfer
the employment of each Transferred Employee to Seller or a Group Affiliate prior to the Closing Date.

               (b) From the Closing Date until the first anniversary of the Closing Date, Purchaser shall cause each Company and Subsidiary to provide such
Company’s or Subsidiary’s Business Employees with salaries, incentive opportunities and benefit plans, programs and arrangements no less favorable in the
aggregate than either those currently provided as of the date hereof by Seller, its Group Affiliates, the Companies and the Subsidiaries or those provided as of
the date hereof by Purchaser to its similarly situated employees, except as otherwise required by applicable Law.

               (c) If any Business Employee becomes a participant in any employee benefit plan, practice or policy of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, excluding
any non-qualified or non-statutory retirement or deferred compensation plan, such Business Employee shall be given credit under such plan for all service
prior to the Closing Date with Seller and its ERISA Affiliates or any predecessor employer (to the extent such credit was given by Seller, a Company, a
Subsidiary or any predecessor employer), and all service with the Companies, any Subsidiary or Purchaser following the Closing Date but prior to the time
such employee becomes such a participant, for purposes of determining eligibility and vesting but not for purposes of benefit accruals, unless required by
Law. Such service also shall apply for purposes of satisfying any waiting periods, evidence of insurability requirements, or the application of any preexisting
condition limitations. Employees shall be given credit for amounts paid under a corresponding benefit plan during the same period for purposes of applying
deductibles, co-payments and out-of-pocket maximums as though such amounts had been paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of the comparable
Purchaser employee benefit plan.

               (d) If any Business Employee is discharged by Purchaser, any Company or Subsidiary or their Affiliates after the Closing, Purchaser shall be
responsible for any and all severance costs for such Business Employee, including payments owing under those agreements, plans or arrangements listed in
the Disclosure Schedule. Purchaser shall be responsible and assume all liability for all notices or payments due to any Business Employees, and all notices,
payments, fines or assessments due to any Governmental Entity, pursuant to any applicable foreign, federal, state or local Law, with respect to the
employment, discharge or layoff of Business Employees by any Company or Subsidiary after the Closing.

               (e) (i) Except with respect to the Plans identified on Section 5.6(e)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule, prior to the Closing Seller shall cause sponsorship
of each Plan which covers employees in the United States (each a “U.S.
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Plan”), including, if applicable, the trust holding the assets of such Plan, to be transferred to an ERISA Affiliate other than a Company or Subsidiary and shall
cause the Business Employees to cease active participation in such U.S. Plans effective as of the Closing. For purposes of Section 8.2, the U.S. Plans (other
than the Plan identified on Section 5.6(e)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule) shall be deemed to be part of the Retained Business.

                    (ii) As soon as practicable following the date hereof, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) cause prior to the Closing Fortis
AG, the financial institution administering the Sint-Niklaas Pension Plan, to apportion, using reasonable assumptions agreed upon by Seller and
Purchaser, such Plan’s assets and liabilities between those attributable to the group of Business Employees who participate in such Plan and those
attributable to the group of Transferred Employees who participate in such Plan, (B) cause prior to the Closing the portion of such Plan’s assets and
liabilities attributable to the Transferred Employees to be transferred from such Plan into a new defined benefit pension plan established by Seller or an
Affiliate of Seller, and (C) cause prior to the Closing the Transferred Employees to cease participation in such Plan. For purposes of Section 8.2(b), the
newly established plan shall be deemed to be part of the Retained Business.

                    (iii) As soon as practicable following the date hereof, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) cause prior to the Closing the
Companies and the Subsidiaries to transfer the accounts of Transferred Employees held under any defined contribution pension Plans (other than U.S.
Plans) to separate plans established by Seller or an Affiliate of Seller, and (B) cause prior to the Closing the Transferred Employees to cease participation
in the Plans retained by the Company or Subsidiaries. For purposes of Section 8.2(b), the newly established plans shall be deemed to be part of the
Retained Business.

                    (iv) Effective as of the Closing, and with respect to non-U.S. Plans, (A) Seller shall assume all such Plans that are individual employment,
consulting, change in control or similar type agreements covering Transferred Employees, and (B) Seller shall cause the Transferred Employees to cease
active participation in such other Plan. For purposes of Section 8.2(b), the Plans described in the foregoing clause (A) and any plans established or
maintained by Seller or an Affiliate of Seller to provide similar benefits to the Transferred Employees as those described in the foregoing clause (B) shall
be deemed to be part of the Retained Business.

               (f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in Section 5.16(c), Seller agrees that Purchaser, for a period beginning on the date hereof and
ending on the thirtieth (30th) day after the Closing, may, at its sole option, offer post-Closing employment with Purchaser or any Company or Subsidiary to
any or all of the employees of Seller or any of its Affiliates, the Companies or the Subsidiaries set forth on
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Section 5.6(f) of the Disclosure Schedule and may thereafter employ any such individual who accepts such offer of employment.

          Section 5.7 Transition Services. Except as agreed to in writing by Seller and Purchaser in the Transition Services Agreement or as specifically provided
in this Agreement, all data processing, accounting, insurance (except as provided in Section 5.25), banking, personnel, legal, communications and other
products and services provided to the Companies and the Subsidiaries by Seller or any Group Affiliate, including any agreements or understandings (written
or oral) with respect thereto, shall terminate simultaneously with the Closing without any further action or liability on the part of the parties thereto.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the absence of a written agreement, the provision of any services (similar to those contemplated by the preceding sentence)
by Seller to the Companies from and after the Closing that have been requested by Purchaser shall be for the convenience, and at the expense, of Purchaser
only and shall be furnished without any liability on the part of Seller with respect thereto.

          Section 5.8 Intercompany Arrangements. On or prior to the Closing Date, all intercompany accounts between any Company or Subsidiary, on the one
hand, and Seller and its Affiliates, on the other hand, shall be either repaid or cancelled. In addition, except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this
Agreement or as provided in the Transition Services Agreement, all agreements and commitments, whether written, oral or otherwise, which are solely
between any Company or Subsidiary, on the one hand, and Seller and its Affiliates, on the other hand, shall be terminated and of no further effect,
simultaneously with the Closing without any further action or liability on the part of the parties thereto. In addition, (i) Seller agrees, on behalf of Seller and
the Group Affiliates, that, effective from and after the Closing and without any further action, no Company or Subsidiary has any liability to, obligation in
favor of, or claim against, Seller or any Group Affiliate, and (ii) Purchaser agrees that, effective from and after the Closing and without any further action,
neither Seller nor any Group Affiliate has any liability to, or obligation in favor of, or claim against, any Company or any Subsidiary; except, in each case,
with respect to liabilities, claims or obligations arising out of any such Person’s obligations under this Agreement or the Transition Services Agreement or any
other written agreement entered into in connection with this Agreement.

          Section 5.9 Treatment of Guaranties; Release under Credit Agreement and Indenture.

               (a) Purchaser and Seller shall seek to have released and cancelled at the Closing each Seller Guaranty; provided, however, that to the extent that any
Seller Guaranty cannot be so released and cancelled, Purchaser shall use its reasonable efforts to cause itself or one of its Affiliates to be substituted for Seller
and each of Seller’s Affiliates directly affected thereby in respect of such Seller Guaranty (or if not possible, added as the primary obligor with respect
thereto). If Purchaser is not able to either release and cancel such Seller Guaranty or cause itself or one of its Affiliates to be so substituted in all respects in
respect of such Seller Guaranty, then Purchaser shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Seller and each such Affiliate of Seller with respect to all liabilities
or expenses that might arise or be incurred by Seller or
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such Affiliate of Seller with respect to any such Seller Guaranty to the extent of any liability of the Business arising after the Closing for which Seller has no
indemnification obligations to Purchaser hereunder.

               (b) Purchaser and Seller shall seek to have released and cancelled at the Closing each Company Guaranty; provided, however, that to the extent that
any Company Guaranty cannot be so released and cancelled, Seller shall use its reasonable efforts to cause itself or one of its Group Affiliates to be
substituted for the applicable Company or Subsidiary and each Affiliate of a Company or Subsidiary directly affected thereby in respect of such Company
Guaranty (or if not possible, added as the primary obligor with respect thereto). If Seller is not able to either release and cancel such Company Guaranty or
cause itself or one of its Group Affiliates to be so substituted in all respects in respect of such Company Guaranty, then Seller shall indemnify, defend and
hold harmless Purchaser and each such Affiliate of Purchaser with respect to all liabilities or expenses that might arise or be incurred by Purchaser or such
Affiliate of Purchaser with respect to any such Company Guaranty.

               (c) Seller shall have discharged at the Closing each Indenture Guaranty, and shall deliver to Purchaser at the Closing the acknowledgement
referenced in Section 2.2(i).

               (d) Seller shall have the Companies and the Subsidiaries removed (by an amendment or similar agreement) and released as parties, borrowers and
guarantors from their obligations under the Credit Agreement, and shall deliver to Purchaser at the Closing the acknowledgement referenced in
Section 2.2(h).

               (e) Seller shall cause the Companies and Subsidiaries to be removed and released (by repayment or by amendment, release or similar agreement)
from their obligations under the IRBs.

          Section 5.10 Assignment of Contracts. Purchaser and Seller shall seek to have Seller or a Group Affiliate substituted for the Companies and the
Subsidiaries in all contracts pertaining to the Retained Business in which any Company or Subsidiary is a party.

          Section 5.11 No Breaches. Each of the parties hereto shall, in the event of, or promptly after the occurrence of, or promptly after obtaining knowledge
of the occurrence or impending or threatened occurrence of, any fact or event which would cause or constitute a Material Adverse Effect or a material breach
of any of such party’s material representations and warranties in this Agreement as of the Closing Date, give notice thereof to the other party hereto.

          Section 5.12 Maintenance of Books and Records.

               (a) Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Companies and the Subsidiaries to, preserve, until at least the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, all
pre-Closing Date records possessed by Purchaser or the Companies relating to the Business, the Companies or the Subsidiaries consistent with reasonable
record retention
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policies. After the Closing Date and up until at least the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, upon any reasonable request from Seller or its
representatives, Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Companies to (i) provide to Seller or its representatives reasonable access to such records during normal
business hours and (ii) permit Seller or its representatives to make copies of such records, in each case at no cost to Seller or its representatives (other than for
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses). Such records may be sought under this Section for any reasonable purpose, including to the extent reasonably required in
connection with the audit, accounting, litigation, federal securities disclosure or other similar needs of Seller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any and all such
records may be destroyed by Purchaser or the Companies at any time if such party sends to Seller written notice of its intent to destroy such records,
specifying in reasonable detail the contents of the records to be destroyed; such records may then be destroyed after the thirtieth (30th) day following such
notice unless Seller notifies the destroying party that such other party desires to obtain possession of such records, in which event the destroying party shall
transfer the records to Seller, and Seller shall pay all reasonable expenses of the destroying party in connection therewith. This Section 5.12(a) shall not be
construed to limit Section 5.4(h).

               (b) Seller shall, and shall cause its Group Affiliates to, preserve, until at least the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, all pre-Closing Date
records possessed by Seller and its Group Affiliates relating to the Business, the Companies or the Subsidiaries consistent with reasonable record retention
policies. After the Closing Date and up until at least the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, upon any reasonable request from Purchaser or its
representatives, Seller shall (i) provide to Purchaser or its representatives reasonable access to such records during normal business hours and (ii) permit
Purchaser or its representatives to make copies of such records, in each case at no cost to Purchaser or its representatives (other than for reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses). Such records may be sought under this Section for any reasonable purpose, including to the extent reasonably required in connection with
the audit, accounting, litigation, federal securities disclosure or other similar needs of Purchaser. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any and all such records may
be destroyed by Seller at any time if Seller sends to Purchaser written notice of its intent to destroy such records, specifying in reasonable detail the contents
of the records to be destroyed; such records may then be destroyed after the thirtieth (30th) day following such notice unless Purchaser notifies Seller that
Purchaser desires to obtain possession of such records, in which event the Seller shall transfer the records to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall pay all reasonable
expenses of Seller in connection therewith. This Section 5.12(b) shall not be construed to limit Section 5.4(h).

          Section 5.13 Trademarks; Tradenames. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no interest in or right to use any
Trademark or any corporate name of Seller or its Affiliates included in the Retained Business (collectively, the “Retained Names and Marks”) is being
transferred to Purchaser pursuant to the transactions contemplated hereby and all rights thereto shall remain with Seller and its Affiliates, and, except as
expressly provided below, the use by the Purchaser of the Retained Names and Marks shall cease as of the Closing Date. Purchaser will, and will cause each
Company and Subsidiary to (a) as promptly as
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practicable following the Closing Date, but in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days thereafter, cease all uses of the Retained Names and Marks,
including use on websites, signs, purchase orders, invoices, sales orders, labels, letterheads, packaging, shipping documents and other items and materials in
the possession, custody or control of Purchaser or any Company or Subsidiary, except for any finished goods included in the Inventory, and (b) not put into
use after the Closing Date any new use of any of the Retained Names and Marks or any name, mark or logo confusingly similar thereto. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, for a period of one hundred (120) days after the Closing Date, Purchaser may continue to use any of the Retained Names and Marks in connection
with the Business in the manner such Retained Names and Marks were used on the Closing Date; provided, however, that, to the extent reasonably
practicable, any use of any Retained Names and Marks on purchase orders, invoices, sales orders, labels, letterheads, packaging or shipping documents
existing on the Closing Date shall be stickered or otherwise marked to clearly indicate that none of Seller or any of its Affiliates are party to such documents.
Purchaser agrees that Seller shall have no responsibility for claims by third parties arising out of, or relating to, the use by Purchaser or any Affiliate thereof
of any Retained Names and Marks after the Closing, and Purchaser agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates from any and all Losses
that may arise out of the use thereof by Purchaser or any Affiliate thereof.

          Section 5.14 Certain Post-Closing Covenants. To the extent permitted by Law, the Purchaser shall procure that, at the next annual general meeting of
the shareholders of DYMO AB, those directors who resigned from the board of directors of DYMO AB at or prior to the Closing Date are discharged from
liability, provided that the auditors of DYMO AB do not advise against such discharge.

          Section 5.15 Reorganization.

               (a) No later than three (3) business days prior to December 30, 2005, Seller shall complete the plan of reorganization described on Exhibit A-1
hereto (the “Holdings Proposal”), as amended, changed, modified or supplemented in accordance with Sections 5.15(b)-(l) below.

               (b) Seller may, at any time prior to November 1, 2005, elect once (and no more than once) to change the reorganization plan from the Holdings
Proposal to the reorganization plan described on Exhibit A-2 hereto (the “Corporation Proposal”) (without modification to the Corporation Proposal, except in
accordance with clauses (c)-(l) below), upon delivery of written notice of such election to Purchaser. If Seller makes such election, then, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, the amount of the Purchase Price shall be decreased by $12,600,000, subject to further adjustment as described in
Sections 5.15(f), (g), and (j) below. The plan of reorganization elected to be completed by Seller pursuant to Sections 5.15(a) and (b) (the “Reorganization
Plan”) (i.e., Exhibit A-1 if the Holdings Proposal is elected or Exhibit A-2 if the Corporation Proposal is elected), as amended, modified or supplemented, if
applicable, by an Accepted Reorganization Amendment (as defined below) in accordance with this Section 5.15, is referred to herein, together with the
transactions described in Section 5.22, as the “Reorganization.”
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          (c) Seller may request one or more amendments, modifications or supplements to the Reorganization Plan at any time prior to November 1, 2005 by
written notice of such request delivered to Purchaser. Such written notice (the “Proposed Reorganization Amendment”) shall be reasonably detailed, shall
include a description of each step proposed to be changed in the Reorganization Plan, the manner in which such change would be effected, the net amount
(and each component thereof), if any, of Tax savings or Tax Loss that is reasonably expected to be realized by Seller and its Group Affiliates as a result of
such Proposed Reorganization Amendment, and any other information material to the Proposed Reorganization Amendment. Seller may withdraw a Proposed
Reorganization Amendment at any time, and from and after such time (i) the parties shall have no further obligations under Sections 5.15(d)-(k) with respect
to such Proposed Reorganization Amendment and (ii) any change in the Purchase Price that would have been effected solely as a result of such Proposed
Reorganization Amendment shall be revoked; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller may not withdraw an Accepted Reorganization
Amendment on or after November 1, 2005. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Seller has elected to change to the Corporation Proposal pursuant to
Section 5.15(b) above, Seller may not thereafter request a Proposed Reorganization Amendment that would have the effect of changing the Corporation
Proposal to the plan substantially proposed in the Holdings Proposal.

          (d) Purchaser shall have ten (10) business days after receipt of a Proposed Reorganization Amendment to review the Proposed Reorganization
Amendment. If, Purchaser reasonably believes that:

               (i) the net amount of Losses (including out-of- pocket costs, Tax Losses, the loss of any current or prospective Tax benefits, and considering any
additional current or prospective Tax benefit (all of which shall be determined using their net present value, if appropriate, at a discount rate of 5%)) that
Purchaser, its Affiliates, the Companies and the Subsidiaries are reasonably expected to incur or realize as a result of, and from and after the Reorganization
after giving effect to the changes proposed in the Proposed Reorganization Amendment would be greater than the net amount of Losses (including out-of-
pocket costs, Tax Losses, the loss of any current or prospective Tax benefits, and considering any additional current or prospective Tax benefit (all of which
shall be determined using their net present value, if appropriate, at a discount rate of 5%)) that Purchaser, its Affiliates, the Companies and the Subsidiaries
are reasonably expected to incur or realize as a result of, and from and after, the Reorganization before giving effect to the Proposed Reorganization
Amendment (the amount, if any, of such incremental Losses from such Proposed Reorganization Amendment being referred to herein as the “Incremental
Purchaser Loss”); or

               (ii) the net amount of Tax Losses (including the loss of any current or prospective Tax benefits, and considering any additional current or
prospective Tax benefit (all of which shall be determined using their net present value, if appropriate, at a discount rate of 5%)) that Seller and its Group
Affiliates (excluding the Companies and the Subsidiaries
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for periods after the Closing Date) are reasonably expected to incur or realize as a result of, and from and after, the Reorganization after giving effect to the
changes proposed in the Proposed Reorganization Amendment (together with all Accepted Reorganization Amendments (as defined below)) exceeds the net
amount of Tax Losses (including the loss of any current or prospective Tax benefits, and considering any additional current or prospective Tax benefit (all of
which shall be determined using their net present value, if appropriate, at a discount rate of 5%)) that Seller and its Group Affiliates are reasonably expected
to incur or realize as a result of, and from and after, the Reorganization before giving effect to the Proposed Reorganization Amendment (and before giving
effect to the Accepted Reorganization Amendments) (the amount, if any, of such incremental Tax Losses from such Proposed Reorganization Amendment
(together with (and after giving effect to) all Accepted Reorganization Amendments) being referred to herein as the “Incremental Seller Tax Liability”), and
the Incremental Seller Tax Liability, if realized or incurred, could reasonably be expected to equal or exceed $10,000,000;

then, in either case, Purchaser may deliver a written notice to Seller (the “Purchaser Amendment Response”) prior to the end of such ten (10) business day
period: (A) stating, if applicable, that Purchaser reasonably believes that such Proposed Reorganization Amendment would result in an Incremental Purchaser
Loss, and specifying in reasonable detail the amount and calculation of such Incremental Purchaser Loss, and/or (B) stating, if applicable, that Purchaser
reasonably believes that such Proposed Reorganization Amendment (together with all Accepted Reorganization Amendments) could reasonably be expected
to result in an Incremental Seller Tax Liability equal to or in excess of $10,000,000, and specifying in reasonable detail the amount and calculation of such
Incremental Seller Tax Liability.

          (e) An “Accepted Reorganization Amendment” means a Proposed Reorganization Amendment:

               (i) with respect to which Purchaser does not send a Purchaser Amendment Response pursuant to Section 5.15(d) above;

               (ii) with respect to which (A) Purchaser does send a Purchaser Amendment Response pursuant to Section 5.15(d) above asserting that an
Incremental Seller Tax Liability equal to or in excess of $10,000,000 could reasonably be expected to result from the adoption of such Proposed
Reorganization Amendment, and (B) (1) the Independent Firm issues an Opinion pursuant to Section 5.15(k) below with respect to the Proposed
Reorganization Amendment or (2) Seller deposits funds into an escrow account pursuant to Section 5.15(k) below;

               (iii) with respect to which Purchaser does send a Purchaser Amendment Response pursuant to Section 5.15(d) above
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that asserts only an Incremental Purchaser Loss (and not an Incremental Seller Tax Liability); or

               (iv) that is otherwise mutually agreed to in writing by Purchaser and Seller (as modified by any changes agreed to in writing by Purchaser and
Seller).

          (f) If a Purchaser Amendment Response asserts an Incremental Purchaser Loss, then Seller will have ten (10) business days after Seller’s receipt of the
Purchaser Amendment Response to review and respond to the Purchaser Amendment Response with respect to such Incremental Purchaser Loss. If Seller
notifies Purchaser in a written response to the Purchaser Amendment Response (the “Seller Amendment Response”) of Seller’s acceptance of the calculation
and the amount of the Incremental Purchaser Loss set forth in such Purchaser Amendment Response, or if Seller fails to include a disagreement with the
calculation or amount of the Incremental Purchaser Loss set forth in the Purchaser Amendment Response in such Seller Amendment Response within such
ten (10) business day period, then (i) the amount of the Incremental Purchaser Loss shown in the Purchaser Amendment Response shall be final, conclusive
and binding on the parties as of the last day of such ten (10) business day period, and (ii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Purchase Price
shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Incremental Purchaser Loss set forth in such Purchaser Amendment Response. If Seller disputes the amount of the
Incremental Purchaser Loss in the Seller Amendment Response with respect to the related Purchaser Amendment Response, such report shall set forth in
reasonable detail any proposed adjustment to the Incremental Purchaser Loss set forth in the related Purchaser Amendment Response and the basis for such
adjustment.

          (g) Purchaser and Seller shall cooperate fully with each other and each other’s advisors (subject to compliance with such advisors’ customary
procedures for discussions and, if applicable, release of work papers) in furnishing all information and documents and access at all reasonable times to the
books, records, accounts and facilities of Purchaser and its Affiliates and the Companies and Subsidiaries, and Seller and its Group Affiliates (and each of
their respective officers, employees, accountants and other Representatives) reasonably requested by the other party or such party’s Representatives in
connection with the preparation or review of each Purchaser Amendment Response and each Seller Amendment Response. Purchaser and Seller shall use
good faith efforts to resolve the disputed matters specified in any Seller Amendment Response (the “Disputed Reorganization Matters”), and any resolution in
writing between them as to a Disputed Reorganization Matter shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties hereto. If Purchaser and Seller resolve in
writing all Disputed Reorganization Matters, and as a result thereof:

               (i) the Proposed Reorganization Amendment would still result in an Incremental Purchaser Loss, the Purchase Price shall be reduced by an amount
equal to the Incremental Purchaser Loss in the subject Purchaser Amendment Response, as modified to reflect such written resolutions of Purchaser and
Seller pursuant to this Section 5.15(g); or
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               (ii) the Proposed Reorganization Amendment would not result in an Incremental Purchaser Loss, no change shall be made to the Purchase Price
with respect to such Proposed Reorganization Amendment.

          (h) If, after ten (10) days following Seller’s delivery of a Seller Amendment Response, Purchaser and Seller are unable to resolve any Disputed
Reorganization Matter pursuant to Section 5.15(g) above, then Seller shall engage one of Deloitte & Touche LLP, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or KPMG
LLP or, if none of such firms is available or able to perform the services described herein, a replacement independent accounting firm (other than Ernst &
Young LLP) reasonably acceptable to both Purchaser and Seller (such selected firm, the “Independent Firm”), for the purposes described in Sections 5.15(i),
(j) and (k)(ii).

          (i) Within fifteen (15) days following Seller’s delivery of a Seller Amendment Response (if Purchaser and Seller were unable to resolve any Disputed
Reorganization Matter pursuant to Section 5.15(g) above), Purchaser and Seller shall provide the Independent Firm with the Reorganization Plan, each
Accepted Reorganization Amendment, the disputed Proposed Reorganization Plan, the Purchaser Amendment Response, the Seller Amendment Response,
and the written resolution of each Disputed Reorganization Matter resolved pursuant to Section 5.15(g) above. In addition, Purchaser and Seller shall
cooperate fully with the Independent Firm and furnish all information and documents and access at all reasonable times to the books, records, accounts and
facilities of Purchaser and its Affiliates and the Companies and the Subsidiaries, and Seller and its Group Affiliates (and each of their respective officers,
employees, accountants and other Representatives) as reasonably requested by the Independent Firm for the purpose of reviewing submissions to it and
determining the Final Incremental Purchaser Loss.

          (j) With respect to a Seller Amendment Response (i) that disputed the amount of Incremental Purchaser Loss in the related Proposed Reorganization
Amendment, and all Disputed Reorganization Matters relating thereto were not resolved pursuant to Section 5.15(g) above, (ii) where the Independent Firm
has been engaged pursuant to Section 5.15(h) above, then, within thirty-five (35) days following Seller’s delivery of such Seller Amendment Response, the
Independent Firm shall issue a written report to Purchaser and Seller specifying whether Purchaser’s calculation of the Incremental Purchaser Loss in the
Purchaser Amendment Response (as adjusted for any Disputed Reorganization Matters agreed to by Purchaser and Seller pursuant to Section 5.15(g) above, if
applicable), or Seller’s proposed adjustment thereto in the Seller Amendment Response (as adjusted for any Disputed Reorganization Matters agreed to by
Purchaser and Seller pursuant to Section 5.15(g) above, if applicable) more nearly approximates the actual Incremental Purchaser Loss calculated by the
Independent Firm (the amount that more nearly approximates the amount so calculated by the Independent Firm is referred to herein as the “Final Incremental
Purchaser Loss”). If the Final Incremental Purchaser Loss is greater than zero (i.e., the Proposed Reorganization Amendment would result in a net Loss to
Purchaser and its Affiliates and the Companies and the Subsidiaries compared to the effect of the Reorganization Plan without

55



 

undertaking the Proposed Reorganization Amendment), then the Purchase Price shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Final Incremental Purchaser Loss.

          (k) If, with respect to a Purchaser Amendment Response asserting that an Incremental Seller Tax Liability equal to or in excess of $10,000,000 could
reasonably be expected to result from the adoption of a Proposed Reorganization Amendment, (i) one of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Ernst & Young LLP,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or KPMG LLP or, if none of such firms is available or able to perform the services described herein, a replacement independent
accounting firm reasonably acceptable to both Purchaser and Seller, within thirty (30) days following Seller’s delivery of a Seller Amendment Response,
issues an opinion to Purchaser (the “Opinion”) which would be acceptable to a reasonable person similarly situated (provided, that the Opinion, to the extent
relevant, shall address and not assume away valuation and basis items and, provided further, that the Opinion may rely upon valuation provided by a
nationally recognized appraisal firm or one of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Ernst & Young LLP, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or KPMG LLP or, if none of such
firms is available or able to perform such an appraisal, a replacement independent accounting firm reasonably acceptable to both Purchaser and Seller) that
the applicable Proposed Reorganization Amendment “should” result in an Incremental Seller Tax Liability less than $10,000,000 (for the avoidance of doubt,
after also giving effect to each Accepted Reorganization Amendment), or (ii) Seller agrees to deposit (which deposit shall be a condition to Closing) an
amount equal to the excess of the Seller Incremental Tax Liability (as determined by an Independent Firm) over $10,000,000, to an escrow account referred to
in the Post-Closing Agreement, then the disputed Proposed Reorganization Plan shall be deemed to be an Accepted Reorganization Amendment, and Seller
shall thereafter be authorized and permitted to take the steps contemplated in such Proposed Reorganization Amendment. An Opinion may only be rendered
by Ernst & Young LLP to the extent such opinion is subject to independent partner review and that appropriate and customary measures are maintained to
assure that members of such firm’s team that perform services in connection with the structure or execution of the Reorganization or that are otherwise
engaged in tax planning activities for Seller and its Affiliates will not be responsible for the drafting of, or the determination to deliver, the Opinion.

          (l) Each Opinion and each determination of Final Incremental Purchaser Loss shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties hereto. The costs,
fees and expenses of the Independent Firm or any firm engaged to render an Opinion shall be borne solely by Seller. All disputes with respect to any Proposed
Reorganization Amendment will be resolved in accordance with this Section 5.15.

          (m) Seller agrees to regularly consult with Purchaser and its Representatives regarding, and regularly keep Purchaser and its Representatives apprised
of, the status of the completion by Seller and its Group Affiliates and the Companies and Subsidiaries of each of the steps outlined in the Reorganization Plan
and each Accepted Reorganization Amendment, and shall provide promptly to Purchaser written copies of all documents executed, delivered or filed to
complete such steps. Without limiting the effect of Section 5.2(a) or any other provision hereof, Seller also shall make available to
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Purchaser and its Representatives reasonable access to all books, records, personnel and accountants of Seller, the Group Affiliates, the Companies, the
Subsidiaries, the Business and the Retained Business, and such financial data and other information, in each case, relating to the Reorganization, the
Reorganization Plan and each Proposed Reorganization Amendment, as Purchaser may from time to time reasonably request.

          (n) Nothing set forth in this Section 5.15 shall permit Seller to change or amend the Reorganization in any manner that would amend, alter, limit or
otherwise affect the provisions of Section 5.22 without the written agreement of Purchaser. Any amendment or change to the Reorganization not requested by
Seller prior to November 1, 2005 shall only be implemented with the written agreement of Purchaser.

          (o) If a Proposed Reorganization Amendment is made after October 15, 2005, all periods for response and dispute resolution set forth in this
Section 5.15 (other than the time period set forth in subsection (j)) shall be proportionately reduced to permit Closing by December 30, 2005 and completion
of the Reorganization as contemplated by this Agreement.

       Section 5.16 Business Protective Covenants.

          (a) During the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Closing Date, Seller shall not, and shall not permit
its Group Affiliates to, either alone or in conjunction with any other Person (including any Affiliate), directly or indirectly (including as a member, manager,
owner, consultant or investor of any Person) engage or participate in the design, development, manufacture, distribution, selling or marketing of any products
that are the same as, or fulfill the same or similar function as, those designed, developed (or under development), manufactured, distributed, sold or marketed
by the Business since January 1, 2003; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 5.16(a) shall preclude Seller or its Group Affiliates from (i) owning not
more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding capital stock of any Person if such stock is listed on a foreign or domestic stock exchange, quoted on a foreign
or domestic stock quotation system or regularly traded in an over-the-counter stock market or (ii) either alone or in conjunction with any other Person
(including any Affiliate), engaging or participating in the design, development, manufacture, distribution, selling or marketing of any printing products other
than printing products designed, developed (or under development), manufactured, distributed, sold or marketed by the Business since January 1, 2003. For
the avoidance of doubt, photo printers and handheld mobile printers under development by Xyron, Inc. are not labeling printers. The geographic territory to
which this Section 5.16(a) extends is any country in which the Business has been conducted within the twelve (12) months immediately preceding the Closing
Date.

          (b) Seller agrees that, from the date hereof through the second (2nd) anniversary of the Closing Date, Seller shall not, and shall not permit its Group
Affiliates to, (i) directly or indirectly solicit the employment or hire of any Business Employee (excluding secretarial and clerical employees), or (ii) employ
or hire any Business Key Employee; provided, however, that the foregoing restrictions in clauses (i)
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and (ii) shall not prohibit Seller or its Group Affiliates from: (1) advertising employment opportunities that are not targeted or directed specifically to
Business Employees or employees of Purchaser or its Affiliates in any national newspaper, trade journal or other publication in a major metropolitan area or
any third-party Internet website posting, or, other than with respect to any Business Key Employee, negotiating with, offering employment to or employing
any person contacted through such medium, (2) participating in any third-party hiring fair or similar event open to the public that is not targeted or directed
specifically to Business Employees or employees of Purchaser or its Affiliates or, other than with respect to any Business Key Employee, negotiating with,
offering employment to or employing any person contacted through such medium or (3) other than with respect to any Business Key Employee, soliciting,
negotiating with, offering employment to or employing any person at any time following ninety (90) days after the termination by the Business, Purchaser or
any of its Affiliates of such person’s employment. Seller agrees that a violation of this Section 5.16(b) will cause irreparable injury to Purchaser. Accordingly,
in case of violation of this clause, Seller shall pay to Purchaser an amount corresponding to thirty-six (36) times the monthly gross remuneration of each
concerned Business Employee or Business Key Employee at the time of the breach. Without prejudice to Section 5.16(d) hereafter, Purchaser is however
entitled to claim an additional indemnity provided the damage it incurred is higher than the aforesaid amount.

          (c) Purchaser agrees that, from the date hereof through the second (2nd) anniversary of the Closing Date, Purchaser shall not, and shall not permit its
Affiliates (including the Companies and the Subsidiaries) to (i) directly or indirectly solicit the employment or hire of any individual who is an employee of
Seller or any of its Group Affiliates as of the Closing Date (including for purposes of this Section 5.16(c) individuals who are employees of any Company or
any Subsidiary as of the Closing Date but are not Business Employees, but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the employees referred to in Section 5.6(f)
to the extent so permitted in Section 5.6(f)) (excluding secretarial and clerical employees); or (ii) employ or hire any Seller Key Employee; provided,
however, that the foregoing restrictions in clauses (i) and (ii) shall not prohibit Purchaser or its Affiliates from: (1) advertising employment opportunities that
are not targeted or directed specifically to employees of Seller or its Group Affiliates in any national newspaper, trade journal or other publication in a major
metropolitan area or any third-party Internet website posting, or, other than with respect to any Seller Key Employee, negotiating with, offering employment
to or employing any person contacted through such medium, (2) participating in any third-party hiring fair or similar event open to the public that is not
targeted or directed specifically to employees of Seller or its Group Affiliates or, other than with respect to any Seller Key Employee, negotiating with,
offering employment to or employing any person contacted through such medium or (3) other than with respect to any Seller Key Employee, soliciting,
negotiating with, offering employment to or employing any person at any time following ninety (90) days after the termination by the Seller or any of its
Group Affiliates of such person’s employment. Purchaser agrees that a violation of this Section 5.16(c) will cause irreparable injury to Seller. Accordingly, in
case of violation of this clause, Purchaser shall pay to Seller an amount corresponding to thirty-six (36) times the monthly gross remuneration of each
employee as of the Closing Date of Seller or any of its Group
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Affiliates at the time of the breach. Seller is however entitled to claim an additional indemnity provided the damage it incurred is higher than the aforesaid
amount.

          (d) Seller agrees that a violation of Section 5.16(a) will cause irreparable injury to Purchaser, and Purchaser will be entitled, in addition to any other
rights and remedies it may have at law or in equity, to apply for an injunction enjoining and restraining Seller from doing or continuing to do any such act and
any other violations or threatened violations of such Section. In the event that Seller is found to have materially breached any covenant in this Section 5.16,
the time period provided for in that covenant shall be tolled (i.e., it shall not run) with respect to Seller for so long as Seller was in violation of that covenant.

          (e) If any provision contained in this Section 5.16 will for any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality
or unenforceability will not affect any other provisions of this Section 5.16, but this Section 5.16 will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable
provision had never been contained herein. It is the intention of the parties hereto that if any of the restrictions or covenants contained in this Section 5.16 is
held to cover a geographic area or to be of a length of time which is not permitted by applicable Law, or in any way construed to be too broad or to any extent
invalid, such provision will not be construed to be null, void and of no effect. Instead, the parties hereto agree that a court of competent jurisdiction will
construe, interpret, reform or judicially modify this Section 5.16 to provide for a covenant having the maximum enforceable geographic area, time period and
other provisions (not greater than those contained herein) as will be valid and enforceable under such applicable Law; provided, however, that should a court
refuse, not be willing, or otherwise decline to so construe, interpret, reform or judicially modify this Section 5.16, the parties hereto agree that they will
modify by common agreement this Section 5.16 to provide for a covenant having the maximum enforceable geographic area, time period and other provisions
(not greater than those contained herein) as will be valid and enforceable under such applicable Law.

       Section 5.17 Real Estate. Seller shall cooperate (at Purchaser’s expense) with Purchaser in obtaining title commitments, title policies and surveys with
respect to the Owned Real Property of the Business. Seller shall, or shall cause the Companies or any Subsidiary to, execute any reasonable documents (but
not indemnities or guaranties) necessary to procure such title commitments and title policies, such as ALTA statements, GAP affidavits, survey affidavits, and
any other document reasonably necessary for the title insurer under such commitments and policies to issue such title commitments and title policies and to
ensure that title in the Owned Real Property of the Business is vested in the appropriate Company or Subsidiary at Closing. Upon reasonable advance notice,
Seller shall give to Purchaser and its designated employees or Representatives prompt access during regular business hours of the Companies and the
Subsidiaries to all facilities and properties of the Companies and the Subsidiaries for the purposes contemplated by this Section 5.17; provided, however, that
such access does not unreasonably disrupt the normal operations of any Company or Subsidiary; and provided further that Purchaser hereby agrees to
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Seller, the Companies and the Subsidiaries from and against any and all Losses arising from or in
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connection with such parties’ access or other activities on or about said facilities and properties.

       Section 5.18 No Solicitation. From the date hereof through the Closing, Seller will not, nor will Seller authorize or permit any Affiliate of Seller or any
Company or Subsidiary or any officer, director or employee of Seller, or any Affiliate of Seller or any Company or Subsidiary, or any investment banker or
other Representative retained by Seller or any Affiliate of Seller or any Company or Subsidiary, to (a) directly or indirectly, solicit, initiate, encourage or
participate in any way (including by way of furnishing information) in any discussion or negotiations with any Person or other entity or group (other than
Purchaser, an Affiliate of Purchaser, Seller or a Group Affiliate) concerning any transaction with such person, entity or group involving a merger or
consolidation of any Company or Subsidiary, a sale (other than in the ordinary course of business) of more than five percent (5%) of the assets of the
Business, a sale of capital stock of any Company or Subsidiary or any similar transaction relating to the Business or any Company or Subsidiary (each, an
“Acquisition Proposal”), (b) disclose, directly or indirectly, to any Person considering an Acquisition Proposal any information concerning the Business or
any Company or Subsidiary, or (c) enter into any Commitment with any third party concerning any Acquisition Proposal. Seller will promptly after receipt
thereof notify Purchaser of any Acquisition Proposal and provide Purchaser with such written information provided to it by the Person making the
Acquisition Proposal as Purchaser may reasonably request.

       Section 5.19 Defending Existing Claims.

          (a) Seller, at its expense, may defend, with existing counsel or such other counsel as Seller may select from time to time, all existing claims, actions and
proceedings against any Company or Subsidiary relating to conduct of the Retained Business prior to the Closing. Any such proceedings may be settled by
Seller to the same extent and in the same manner as Seller may settle third-party claims pursuant to Section 8.3; provided, however, that the foregoing shall
not be interpreted as requiring Seller to defend any claim, action or liability relating to the conduct of the Retained Business prior to the Closing which any
insurance company has the right to and does defend. Seller shall have full control of such defense and prosecution, including any settlement thereof.

          (b) In order to facilitate the defense or settlement of any claim, action or proceeding relating to the conduct of the Retained Business prior to Closing by
Seller or any of its Affiliates, and in addition to all other rights of Seller hereunder, upon request from time to time by Seller after the Closing, Purchaser shall,
and shall cause the Companies and the Subsidiaries to, cooperate with Seller and its Affiliates in connection therewith, including by: (i) empowering Seller
and its counsel through appropriate documentation to control the defense and prosecution of such claim, action or proceeding and represent the Companies
and the Subsidiaries therein before any court or arbitration tribunal, (ii) using commercially reasonable efforts to make available to Seller, the Representatives
of the Companies and the Subsidiaries whose assistance, testimony or presence may assist Seller in defending or prosecuting such claim, action or
proceeding, including the presence of such persons as witnesses at depositions, hearings or trials for
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such purposes and (iii) cooperating with and providing all reasonable assistance requested by any insurer to the extent such cooperation and assistance may
assist Seller in defending or prosecuting such claim, action or proceeding. Seller agrees to reimburse Purchaser for the actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by
Purchaser or any Company or Subsidiary thereof in providing such cooperation to Seller and its Affiliates, including actual out-of-pocket costs incurred in
connection with any attendance as a witness at any deposition, hearing or trial. Notwithstanding any provision of this Section 5.19 to the contrary, if any
insurer that has issued an insurance policy to Seller or one of its Affiliates has asserted or asserts its right to control the defense and settlement of any claim,
action or proceeding relating to the conduct of the Retained Business prior to Closing, Purchaser shall cooperate with such insurer in such defense to the same
extent that Purchaser would be obligated under this Section 5.19 to cooperate in such defense if Seller were controlling such defense and Seller shall
reimburse Purchaser for costs incurred in connection with such cooperation to the same extent Seller would be required to reimburse or pay such amounts if
Seller were controlling such defense. This Section 5.19 shall supplement and not supersede Article VIII.

          (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 5.19, if Seller or any insurance company defends or prosecutes any third-party
claim relating to the conduct of the Retained Business prior to Closing, then Seller or such insurance company shall not consent or agree to any settlement,
compromise or discharge of such third-party claim without the consent of Purchaser (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed) (i) if such judgment or settlement does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by each claimant or plaintiff to each Company and
Subsidiary of a release from all liability in respect to such claim, (ii) if such judgment or settlement would result in the finding or admission of any violation
of applicable Law by any Company or Subsidiary, or (iii) if, as a result of such consent or settlement, injunctive or other equitable relief would be imposed
against any Company or Subsidiary or such judgment or settlement would materially adversely effect any Company or Subsidiary.

       Section 5.20 Extension of Certain Agreement. During the period after the date hereof and through the Closing, Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser, if
requested by Purchaser, in good faith to extend the term of the agreement referenced in Section 5.20 of the Disclosure Schedule.

       Section 5.21 Litigation Notice. From and after the date hereof and prior to Closing, Seller shall notify Purchaser of any litigation commenced after the
date hereof involving the Business that if, adversely determined, would be reasonably likely to result in a payment by the Companies and the Subsidiaries of
an amount in excess of $1,000,000.

       Section 5.22 Transfers of Business Items into the Business; Transfers of Retained Business Items out of the Business.

          (a) Transfer-in of Outside Business Assets. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall, in accordance with all applicable Laws, transfer, convey and
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deliver, or cause to be transferred, conveyed and delivered, to the Companies and the Subsidiaries, and the Companies and Subsidiaries shall accept and
assume, all right, title and interest of Seller and its Affiliates in and to the Outside Business Assets; provided, however, that the Intellectual Property included
in the Outside Business Assets described on Section 5.22(a)(i)(A) of the Disclosure Schedule shall be transferred only to DYMO AB. “Outside Business
Assets” as used herein means all assets, including tangible assets, intangible assets, rights, privileges, Permits, Commitments and Intellectual Property, used
or held for use primarily in the conduct of the Business, that are not, prior to the Closing, owned or leased by the Companies or Subsidiaries and any such
asset reflected on the most recent Statements of Financial Information. For the avoidance of doubt, “Outside Business Assets”:

               (i) include without exhaustion (A) the Intellectual Property set forth in Section 5.22(a)(i)(A) of the Disclosure Schedule and (B) the Commitments
set forth in Section 5.22(a)(i)(B) of the Disclosure Schedule;

               (ii) include those assets and Commitments set forth in Section 5.22(a)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule (the “Shared Business Assets”), which assets
and Commitments are used in both the Business and the Retained Business and are not included in Section 5.22(a)(i)(A) or Section 5.22(a)(i)(B); and

               (iii) do not include the Retained Business Assets.

          (b) Transfer-out of Retained Business Assets. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall, in accordance with all applicable Laws, cause to be transferred,
conveyed and delivered from the Companies and the Subsidiaries, to the Designated Seller Entities, and shall cause the Designated Seller Entities to accept
and assume, all right, title and interest of Companies and Subsidiaries in and to the Retained Business Assets. “Retained Business Assets” as used herein
means all assets, including tangible assets, intangible assets, rights, privileges, Permits, Commitments and Intellectual Property, used or held for use primarily
in the conduct of the Retained Business, that are not, prior to the Closing, owned or leased by the Companies or Subsidiaries. For the avoidance of doubt,
“Retained Business Assets”:

               (i) include without exhaustion (A) the Intellectual Property set forth on Section 5.22(b)(i)(A) of the Disclosure Schedule and (B) the Commitments
set forth on Section 5.22(b)(i)(B) of the Disclosure Schedule;

               (ii) include those assets and Commitments set forth in Section 5.22(b)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule (the “Shared Retained Business Assets”),
which assets and Commitments are used in both the Business and the Retained Business and are not included in Section 5.22(b)(i)(A) and Section 5.22(b)(i)
(B); and

62



 

               (iii) do not include the Outside Business Assets.

          (c) Transfer-in (Assumption) of Outside Business Liabilities. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall cause its Group Affiliates to transfer to the Companies
and the Subsidiaries, and the Companies and the Subsidiaries shall assume and thereafter pay, honor and discharge when due, all liabilities and obligations of
Seller and its Group Affiliates to be performed after the Closing under the Commitments included in the Outside Business Assets that are listed in Section
5.22(a)(i)(B) and Section 5.22(a)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the “Outside Business Liabilities”).

          (d) Transfer-out (Assumption) of Retained Business Liabilities. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause the Companies and Subsidiaries to,
transfer to the Designated Seller Entities, and shall cause the Designated Seller Entities to assume and thereafter pay, honor and discharge when due, all
liabilities and obligations of the Companies and Subsidiaries to the extent arising out of the operations of, ownership of property and assets by and incurrence
of liabilities and obligations by the Retained Business (collectively, the “Retained Business Liabilities”).

          (e) Transfer of Outside Inventory. At the Closing, Seller shall cause the Outside Inventory Sellers to, in accordance with all applicable Law, effect the
assignment and transfer of all of their right, title and interest in and to the Outside Inventory to the Designated Purchaser Entities. Except as otherwise
provided under the Transition Services Agreement, following the Closing Date, at the written instruction of the Purchaser, Seller shall cause the Outside
Inventory Sellers to ship, at Purchaser’s expense, such Outside Inventory in such quantities, and to such Purchaser designated facilities (“Purchaser’s
Facilities”), and on such dates, as specified by Purchaser, provided that any such date is no later than thirty (30) days following Closing. In each case Seller
shall cause the Outside Inventory Seller to ship the Outside Inventory by the freight carrier specified by Purchaser in its written instructions, or to be
transported by such other method as Purchaser shall agree in writing. Seller agrees to use, and to cause the Outside Inventory Sellers to use, commercially
reasonable efforts to avoid causing any damage to the Outside Inventory while the Outside Inventory is located at Seller’s or the Outside Inventory Sellers’
facilities following the Closing. Subject to the provisions of the preceding sentence, the Purchaser shall bear the risk of Loss of any of the Outside Inventory
being lost, stolen, destroyed or irreparably damaged after the Closing and prior to delivery to Purchaser’s Facilities following the Closing.

          (f) Instruments of Assignment and Assumption.

               (i) Assignment of Outside Business Assets and Retained Business Assets. To effect the assignment of the Outside Business Assets and the
Retained Business Assets contemplated by this Section 5.22, Seller will, and Seller will cause its applicable Group Affiliates and the Companies and the
Subsidiaries, as applicable, to execute and deliver prior to Closing the following documents, each of which will be reasonably satisfactory in form and
substance to Purchaser and Seller:
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                    (1) bills of sale (or similar documents) from Seller and its applicable Group Affiliates conveying to the Companies and the Subsidiaries all of
the personal property included in the Outside Business Assets;

                    (2) bills of sale (or similar documents) from the Companies and the applicable Subsidiaries conveying to the Designated Seller Entities all of
the personal property included in the Retained Business Assets;

                    (3) assignments from Seller and its applicable Group Affiliates of all Commitments included in the Outside Business Assets which shall
assign to the Companies and the Subsidiaries all of Seller’s and such Affiliates’ right, title and interest therein and thereto;

                    (4) assignments from the Companies and the Subsidiaries to the Designated Seller Entities of all Commitments included in the Retained
Business Assets which shall assign to the Designated Seller Entities all of the Companies’ and the Subsidiaries’ right, title and interest therein and thereto;

                    (5) assignments from Seller and its applicable Affiliates of Patents and Trademarks and other Intellectual Property rights included in the
Outside Business Assets in recordable form to the extent necessary to assign such rights to DYMO AB;

                    (6) assignments from the Companies and the Subsidiaries to the Designated Seller Entities of Patents and Trademarks and other Intellectual
Property rights included in the Retained Business Assets in recordable form to the extent necessary to assign such rights to the Designated Seller Entities;

                    (7) an assignment of lease from Seller and its applicable Affiliates with respect to each real property lease included in the Outside Business
Assets, together with any necessary transfer declarations to assign such lease to the Designated Purchaser Entities;

                    (8) an assignment of lease from the Companies and the Subsidiaries with respect to each real property lease included in the Retained Business
Assets, together with any necessary transfer declarations to assign such lease to the Designated Seller Entities; and

                    (9) such other instruments and documents as are necessary to properly transfer and assign the Outside Business Assets to the Companies and
the Subsidiaries, and the Retained Business
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Assets to the Designated Seller Entities, in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.22.

               (ii) Assignment of Outside Inventory. All assignment instruments and documents used to transfer, at Closing, the Outside Inventory to the
Designated Purchaser Entities shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to Purchaser and Seller.

               (iii) Assumption of Assumed Liabilities. To effect the assumption of the Outside Business Liabilities and the Retained Business Liabilities
contemplated by this Section 5.22, Seller will, and Seller will cause its applicable Affiliates and the Companies and the Subsidiaries, as applicable, to
execute and deliver prior to Closing the following documents, each of which will be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to Purchaser and Seller:

                    (1) an instrument of assumption evidencing the Companies’ and the Subsidiaries’ assumption of the Outside Business Liabilities; and

                    (2) instruments of assumption evidencing the Designated Seller Entities’ assumption of the Retained Business Liabilities.

               (iv) Reorganization Transfer Documents; Other Seller Reorganization Entities. Each of the transfer, assignment and assumption documents
required for the transactions contemplated by this Section 5.22 and described in this Section 5.22(f) shall be referred to herein as “Reorganization Transfer
Documents.” Each Affiliate of Seller (A) that either will be transferring Outside Business Assets or Outside Business Liabilities to the Companies or the
Subsidiaries or (B) to whom Retained Business Assets or Retained Business Liabilities will be transferred, in each case, pursuant to this Section 5.22, shall
be referred to herein as an “Other Seller Reorganization Entity.”

               (v) Authorization; Validity. Prior to the Closing: (A) each Other Seller Reorganization Entity will have corporate power and authority to
consummate the transactions to be consummated by it pursuant to this Section 5.22; (B) the performance by each Other Seller Reorganization Entity of their
respective obligations under this Section 5.22 and the consummation by such Other Seller Reorganization Entities of such transactions will have been duly
authorized by the respective boards of directors (or similar governing bodies) and shareholders (if required for such authorization); and (C) no other
corporate action on the part of any Other Seller Reorganization Entity will be necessary to authorize the performance of such obligations by such Other
Seller Reorganization Entity or the
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consummation by such Other Seller Reorganization Entity of such transactions.

          (g) Transfers. Each of the transfer documents described in Section 5.22(f) above shall be prepared consistent with the following principles:

               (i) the Companies and the Subsidiaries do not and will not make any representation or warranty, express or implied, to Seller or any Affiliate or
other transferee (A) with respect to the Retained Business Assets, including any representation or warranty as to title, ownership, use, possession,
merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, quantity, value, condition, liabilities, operation, capacity, future results or otherwise, or (B) with respect to
the Retained Business Liabilities; and

               (ii) Seller and its Affiliates do not and will not make any representation or warranty, express or implied, to Purchaser, the Companies or the
Subsidiaries or any other transferee (A) with respect to the Outside Business Assets, including any representation or warranty as to title, ownership, use,
possession, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, quantity, value, condition, liabilities, operation, capacity, future results or otherwise, or (B) with
respect to the Outside Business Liabilities, except, in the case of (A) and (B), those representations and warranties set forth in Article III.

          (h) Unassignable Commitments.

               (i) Outside Business Assets. Purchaser and Seller acknowledge that certain Commitments included in the Outside Business Assets, together with
any associated Outside Business Liabilities, may not, by their own terms or under applicable Law, be transferable or assignable without obtaining third-party
consents or approvals (such Commitments and associated Outside Business Liabilities are collectively referred to herein as “Unassignable Outside Business
Commitments”). Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to transfer or assign any
Unassignable Outside Business Commitment if an attempted transfer or assignment thereof, without the consent of a third party thereto, would constitute a
breach thereof. Any transfer or assignment to the Companies or any Subsidiary of any Unassignable Outside Business Commitment or any claim or right or
any benefit arising thereunder or resulting therefrom which shall require the consent of any third party, shall be made subject to such consent being obtained.
If any such consent is not obtained or if such transfer or assignment is not permitted irrespective of consent prior to the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause
its Affiliates to, after the Closing, cooperate with Purchaser in any reasonable arrangement designed to provide Purchaser, the Companies and the
Subsidiaries with the rights and benefits under any such Commitment, including enforcement for the benefit of Purchaser, the Companies and the
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Subsidiaries of any and all rights of Seller or Seller’s Affiliates against any other party arising out of any breach or cancellation of any such Commitment by
such other party and, if requested by Purchaser, acting as an agent on behalf of the Companies or any Subsidiary or as Purchaser shall otherwise reasonably
require; provided, however, that such cooperation shall not include any requirement on the part of Seller or any of its Affiliates to expend money, commence
or participate in any litigation or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party. To the extent that any Company or any
Subsidiary is provided the rights and benefits under any such Commitment, such Company or Subsidiary will perform the obligations of Seller or its
Affiliates thereunder or in connection therewith, at no cost to Seller, but only to the extent such performance pertains to the benefits provided to such
Company or Subsidiary, and Purchaser will indemnify Seller against any and all Losses arising out of any default by such Company or Subsidiary in the
performance of such obligations (to the extent arising after the Closing).

               (ii) Retained Business Assets. Purchaser and Seller acknowledge that certain Commitments included in the Retained Business Assets, together
with any associated Retained Business Liabilities, may not, by their own terms or under applicable Law, be transferable or assignable without obtaining
third-party consents or approvals (such Commitments and associated Retained Business Liabilities are collectively referred to herein as “Unassignable
Retained Business Commitments”). Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to
transfer or assign any Unassignable Retained Business Commitment if an attempted transfer or assignment thereof, without the consent of a third party
thereto, would constitute a breach thereof. Any transfer or assignment to the Designated Seller Entities of any Unassignable Retained Business Commitment
or any claim or right or any benefit arising thereunder or resulting therefrom which shall require the consent of any third party, shall be made subject to such
consent being obtained. If any such consent is not obtained or if such transfer or assignment is not permitted irrespective of consent prior to the Closing,
Purchaser shall, after the Closing, cause the Companies and Subsidiaries to cooperate with Seller in any reasonable arrangement designed to provide the
Designated Seller Entities with the rights and benefits under any such Commitment, including enforcement for the benefit of the Designated Seller Entities
of any and all rights of the Companies or the Subsidiaries against any other party arising out of any breach or cancellation of any such Commitment by such
other party and, if requested by Seller, acting as an agent on behalf of the Designated Seller Entities or as Seller shall otherwise reasonably require;
provided, however, that such cooperation shall not include any requirement on the part of Purchaser, the Companies, the Subsidiaries or any of their
Affiliates to expend money, commence or participate in any litigation or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party. To the
extent that Seller or the Designated Seller Entities are provided the rights
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and benefits under any such Commitment, Seller will, and will cause the Designated Seller Entities to, perform the obligations of the Companies and the
Subsidiaries thereunder or in connection therewith, at no cost to Purchaser, the Companies or the Subsidiaries, but only to the extent such performance
pertains to the benefits provided such Seller or Designated Seller Entities; and Seller will indemnify Purchaser, the Companies and the Subsidiaries against
any and all Losses arising out of any default by Seller or the Designated Seller Entities in the performance of such obligations.

               (iii) Third Party Software. Seller and Purchaser acknowledge and agree that, subject to licensor consent, as well as the terms of the applicable
license agreements, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assign to Purchaser all third-party Software licensed by Seller or its Affiliates but
used exclusively by a Company or Subsidiary as of the Closing Date. Seller and Purchaser further acknowledge and agree that all licenses to use third-
party Software not used exclusively by a Company or Subsidiary (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Shared Third Party Software”) shall remain in the
name of the licensee as of the Closing Date, and shall, to the extent possible, be partitioned between the parties using such Shared Third Party Software as
of the Closing Date; provided, that any such partitioning shall be undertaken only as mutually agreed by Seller and Purchaser. Seller and Purchaser each
acknowledge and agree that, if requested by the other party, the party of whom the request is made shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist the
requesting party in obtaining the independent, non-exclusive right to use Shared Third Party Software, including, but not limited to partitioning (e.g.,
allocating by number of copies, capacity or like measure) the licenses for such Shared Third Party Software. Seller and Purchaser acknowledge and agree
that all arrangements for Shared Third Party Software shall be subject to licensor consent, as well as the terms of the applicable license agreement, and that
all costs associated with the division of Shared Third Party Software shall be paid fifty percent (50%) by Purchaser and fifty percent (50%) by Seller.
Schedule 5.22(h)(iii) lists the Shared Third Party Software identified by the parties hereto as of the date hereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this Agreement, the parties agree to supplement and amend such Schedule 5.22(h)(iii) to correct inaccuracies, omissions or oversights, in order to
accomplish the objectives of this Section 5.22(h)(iii), prior to the Closing Date.

          Section 5.23 Inspection of Property. After the date hereof, Purchaser and its environmental consultants shall have the right to enter on to the property
and facilities located at Esselte BVBA, Industriepark Noord 30 9100 Sint-Niklaas, Belgium (the “Property”) for the purpose of inspecting the Property and
conducting such studies, inspections, investigations and assessments (collectively, “Inspections”) as Purchaser reasonably deems necessary or appropriate in
order to complete a Phase I environmental site assessment. Purchaser shall give Seller forty-eight (48) hours prior telephonic notice of the intention to enter
onto the Property and Seller may require that Purchaser or Purchaser’s environmental consultants be accompanied by a representative of Seller while
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Purchaser or its environmental consultants are at the Property. Purchaser shall bear all costs and expenses of its Inspections. Seller will cooperate with
Purchaser in Purchaser’s performance of its Inspection, and will provide access to Seller, the Companies and the Subsidiaries and make available all
personnel of Property that may have knowledge relevant to the Inspections. Purchaser acknowledges that all Inspections, of whatever kind or character,
performed on the Property during the Inspection Period are Purchaser’s sole responsibility.

          Section 5.24 Collection of Accounts Receivable. After the Closing, the parties shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates, and in the case of
Purchaser, the Companies and the Subsidiaries, to collect the receivables of the Business held by or transferred to (as applicable) such party pursuant to this
Agreement, substantially in accordance with the past practice of the Business. From and after the Closing Date, Purchaser and Seller agree that each party
hereto will use its commercially reasonable efforts to assure that payments each party and their Affiliates and the Companies and the Subsidiaries collect will
be applied to the proper owner of the account receivable in respect of which such payment is made. All payments made in error that relate to an account
receivable of the other party will be held by the party paid in error in an express trust for the benefit of the other party and will be promptly paid over to the
rightful party. In furtherance of the foregoing, if a payment reflects in any way that it is paid for an account receivable of the other party (including where
there is no affirmative indication to the effect but a party has reason to believe the payment was for the account of the other party, such as a payment received
by a party who at the time of payment has no account receivable due and owing from the payor thereof), then the party receiving such payment will promptly
pay it over to the other party.

          Section 5.25 Continuation Insurance Coverage. For a period of three (3) years after the Closing, if and to the extent Seller maintains workers’
compensation (including employer’s liability), general liability (including products liability) or automobile liability insurance with respect to occurrences
arising out of the conduct of the Retained Business and affecting the Companies and the Subsidiaries, all such workers’ compensation, general liability or
automobile liability insurance shall name each of Purchaser, each Company and each Subsidiary as an additional insured. Seller shall provide to Purchaser
prior to the Closing evidence reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser from Seller’s current insurance broker indicating compliance with the obligations under this
Section 5.25. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.25, if any amount is required to be paid in connection with the naming of each of
Purchaser, each Company and each Subsidiary as an additional insured as provided above, Purchaser shall pay and be responsible for such amount.

          Section 5.26 Alternative Functional Mechanism. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the written consent of the counterparty to the
agreement listed on Section 5.26 of the Disclosure Schedule to waive any termination right to which it may be entitled under such agreement arising out of
the consummation of the Transactions. If Seller does not obtain such consent within sixty (60) days following the date hereof, Seller shall commence the
process of developing an alternative functional mechanism for any products currently using the mechanism that is the subject
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matter, in part, of such agreement, which alternative functional mechanism does not infringe upon, or rely upon any use of or right to use, any of the patents
or technology covered by such agreement. Seller shall continue the process of developing such alternative functional mechanism up until the Closing Date
(unless such process is earlier completed) at which point Seller shall have no further obligation to continue such process or incur any further expense related
thereto. The adequacy and reasonableness of any alternative functional mechanism developed by Seller pursuant to this Section 5.26 shall be within the sole
reasonable judgment of Seller.

          Section 5.27 Bar Codes. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent permitted by Law, Purchaser and Seller
will cooperate in good faith to provide, to the extent commercially practicable, Seller and its Affiliates the right, after the Closing Date, to continue in
perpetuity to use the EAN/UCC Company Prefix 54 11313, as well as any additional digits added to such Company Prefix to uniquely identify each of its
products or locations (collectively, the “Bar Codes”), in the manner and on such products as the Bar Codes were used by Seller and its Affiliates prior to the
Closing Date. Seller agrees that Purchaser shall have no responsibility for claims by third parties arising out of, or relating to, the use by Seller or any
Affiliate thereof of any of the Bar Codes after the Closing Date, and Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates from any and
all Losses that may arise out of the use thereof by Seller or any Affiliate thereof.

          Section 5.28 Other Agreements. Prior to Closing, Parent shall either (i) obtain and deliver to Purchaser an opinion of Swedish counsel addressed to
Purchaser to the effect that the Post-Closing Agreement, when executed in the form attached as Exhibit 2.2(k) by the parties thereto, is a valid and binding
obligation of Parent enforceable against Parent in accordance with its terms except (A) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (B) the availability
of the remedy of specific performance or injunctive or other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and would be subject to the
discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought, or (ii) cause J.W. Childs Associates, L.P. (if it owns any shares of Parent), and
each of its Affiliates that owns shares of Parent (or shall cause any Person who acquires such shares of Parent from J.W. Childs Associates, L.P. and each such
Affiliate) to deliver a written agreement to Purchaser (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser) executed by each of such Persons, and
made in favor of Purchaser, pursuant to which each of such Persons agrees not to authorize, seek or receive any dividend or distribution from Parent that is
not permitted by the Post-Closing Agreement.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS

          Section 6.1 Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Closing. The respective obligation of each party to effect the Transactions shall be
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subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions:

               (a) Court Orders. There shall be no order or injunction of a court of competent jurisdiction in effect precluding or prohibiting consummation of the
Closing; provided, however, that the parties shall use their reasonable efforts to have any such order or injunction vacated or lifted. There shall be no
proceeding by a Governmental Entity seeking, or by a third party which could reasonably be expected to result in, an order or injunction precluding or
prohibiting consummation of the Closing; provided that the condition set forth in this sentence shall not apply to proceedings relating to Antitrust Laws.

               (b) Antitrust Approvals. The applicable waiting period under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated and all other material foreign
antitrust approvals, consents or authorizations under foreign Antitrust Laws required to be obtained prior to the Closing from any Governmental Entity in
order to consummate the Transactions shall have been obtained.

          Section 6.2 Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser to Effect the Closing. The obligations of Purchaser to consummate the Closing shall be subject to
the satisfaction, or waiver by Purchaser, on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions:

               (a) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct
(without giving effect to any qualification as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect contained in any specific representation or warranty) as of the date
hereof (except with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.1 to Section 3.10(a) inclusive, after giving effect to the Reorganization
as though it had been consummated on the date hereof) and at the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except that those representations and
warranties which address matters only as of a particular date shall have been true and correct only on such date), except for such breaches or inaccuracies of
the representations and warranties of Seller that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Seller’s ability to consummate
the Transactions or have a Material Adverse Effect.

               (b) Seller Breach. Seller shall have performed or complied in all material respects with the obligations and covenants (other than those set forth in
Section 5.1(c)(xiii)) of Seller to be performed or complied with under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date.

               (c) Reorganization. The Reorganization shall have been completed.

               (d) Closing Deliveries. Seller shall have delivered to Purchaser each of the documents, instruments or writings specified in Section 2.2.
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          Section 6.3 Conditions to Obligations of Seller to Effect the Closing. The obligations of Seller to consummate the Closing shall be subject to the
satisfaction, or waiver by Seller, on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions:

               (a) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct
(without giving effect to any qualification as to materiality contained in any specific representation or warranty), as of the date hereof and at the Closing Date
as if made at and as of such time (except that those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date shall have been true and
correct only on such date), except for such breaches or inaccuracies of the representations and warranties of Purchaser that would not, individually or in the
aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Purchaser’s ability to consummate the Transactions.

               (b) Purchaser Breach. Purchaser shall have performed or complied with in all material respects the obligations and covenants of Purchaser to be
performed or complied with under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date.

               (c) Closing Deliveries. Purchaser shall have delivered to Seller each of the documents, instruments or writings specified in Section 2.3.

ARTICLE VII

TERMINATION

          Section 7.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing Date:

               (a) By the mutual written consent of Purchaser and Seller;

               (b) By Purchaser or Seller after December 30, 2005, if the Closing shall not have theretofore occurred, provided that the right to terminate this
Agreement under this Section 7.1(b) shall not be available to any party (i) if the failure of the Closing to occur is the result of a willful breach of a
representation, warranty or covenant by such party or (ii) if the failure of the Closing to occur is the result of a breach (other than a willful breach) of a
representation, warranty or covenant by such party until the date that is the later of (y) twenty (20) days after receipt by the non-breaching party of notice of
such breach and (z) December 30, 2005. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that all conditions to Closing set forth in Article VI, other than the
condition set forth in Section 6.2(c), have been or are capable of being satisfied at such time, Seller shall not be entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant
to this Section 7.1(b) unless the Closing shall not have occurred on or prior to the third (3rd) business day following the date on which the Reorganization
shall have been completed;

               (c) By Purchaser or Seller if any Governmental Entity shall have issued an order, decree, injunction or ruling or taken any other action (which order,
decree, injunction, ruling or other action the parties hereto shall use all reasonable efforts to lift) that permanently restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the
acquisition by
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Purchaser of the Shares and such order, decree, injunction, ruling or other action shall have become final and non-appealable;

               (d) By Purchaser if Seller shall have breached in any material respect any of its representations or warranties or breached or failed to perform or
comply with any of its material covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach cannot be or has not been cured within thirty (30) days
after the giving of written notice by Purchaser to Seller specifying such breach; or

               (e) By Seller if Purchaser shall have breached in any material respect any of its representations or warranties or breached or failed to perform or
comply with any of its material covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach cannot be or has not been cured within thirty (30) days
after the giving of written notice by Seller to Purchaser specifying such breach.

          Section 7.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement by any party hereto pursuant to the terms of this Agreement,
written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the other party or parties specifying the provision hereof pursuant to which such termination is made, this
Agreement shall become void and of no further force or effect except for the provisions contained in Section 7.2, Section 10.1, Section 10.5, Section 10.6,
Section 10.7, Section 10.8 and Section 10.12, and there shall be no liability or obligation thereafter on the part of Purchaser or Seller except (a) for fraud or
for willful breach of this Agreement prior to such termination and (b) as set forth in Section 10.1.

ARTICLE VIII

SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION

          Section 8.1 Survival of Representations and Warranties. Except for (a) those representations and warranties in Section 3.2 and Section 3.7 (which shall
survive without limitation), (b) those representations and warranties in Section 3.19 and Section 3.23 (which shall survive until three (3) years after the
Closing Date) and (c) those representations and warranties in Section 3.22 (which shall survive until sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable
statute of limitations with respect to the matter to which the claim relates, as such limitation period may be extended from time to time), all representations
and warranties of Purchaser and Seller contained in this Agreement or in the certificates delivered pursuant to Section 2.2(b) or Section 2.3(b) shall survive
the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Closing until February 15, 2007, and each representation and warranty of Purchaser and Seller contained
in this Agreement shall terminate and expire in the case of Purchaser on February 15, 2007 or in the case of Seller at the end of the applicable period referred
to above; provided, however, that, in each case, such representations and warranties shall survive beyond their respective periods with respect to any
inaccuracy therein or breach thereof, notice of which shall have been duly given within such applicable period in accordance with Section 8.3 hereof. Those
covenants and agreements set forth in Section 5.1 shall survive until one (1) year after the Closing Date and those covenants and agreements of Purchaser and
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Seller to be performed after the Closing shall survive the Closing for the applicable periods specified therein; provided, however, that in each case, such
covenants shall survive beyond such respective periods with respect to any breach thereof. The other covenants and agreements of Purchaser and Seller to be
performed prior to the Closing (i.e., those other than the covenants set forth in Section 5.1) shall survive the Closing.

          Section 8.2 Indemnification; Remedies.

               (a) Except with respect to Taxes (the indemnification for which is governed by Section 5.4(b)), Purchaser and Seller shall respectively indemnify,
defend and hold harmless the other party (and such other party’s directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, successors and permitted assigns) from and against
and in respect of all Losses arising out of or otherwise in respect of any inaccuracy in or breach of (or in the event a third party alleges facts that, if true,
would mean Purchaser or Seller, as applicable, has breached) any (i) representation or warranty of Purchaser or Seller, as applicable, contained in this
Agreement or (ii) covenant or other agreement of Purchaser or Seller, as applicable, contained in this Agreement.

               (b) Seller shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Purchaser (and Purchaser’s directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, successors and permitted
assigns) from and against and in respect of all Losses to the extent arising out of (i) the operations of, ownership of property and assets (including the
Retained Business Assets) by and incurrence of liabilities and obligations (including the Retained Business Liabilities) by the Retained Business; (ii) the
Credit Agreement, the Indenture and any other Outstanding Indebtedness to the extent not included in the final Closing Adjustment; (iii) the failure to comply
with any “bulk sales” or similar notice requirement in connection with the Transactions; (iv) the failure to obtain any consent with respect to any Commitment
to be transferred to Seller or any Designated Seller Entity as part of the Retained Business Assets pursuant to Section 5.22; (v) without limiting clause
(i) above, and whether arising prior to, on or after the Closing, any salary, wages, vacation, paid time off, pay or severance, termination or similar pay
required to be paid by any Company or Subsidiary to any Transferred Employee, any employee benefit or employee benefit claim required to be paid with
respect to any Transferred Employee (including any spouse or dependents), and all payments, taxes, fines or assessments due to any Governmental Entity
pursuant to any applicable foreign, federal, state or local Law with respect to the employment or termination of any Transferred Employee by any Company
or Subsidiary; for the avoidance of doubt, the indemnity provided for in this clause (v) shall also cover and include any claims, including workers
compensation and similar claims, made by or with respect to Transferred Employees and current or former employees of the Retained Business of any
Company or any Subsidiary (other than Business Employees); (vi) any Plan other than a Company Plan, whether such Losses arise prior to, on or after the
Closing; (vii) any litigation or proceeding brought against any Company or Subsidiary arising out of or relating to the Retained Business, including those set
forth on Section 8.2(b)(vii) of the Disclosure Schedule; and (viii) any valid claim for indemnification against any Company or Subsidiary by reason of the fact
that, at any time prior to the Closing, any such Company’s or Subsidiary’s directors, officers, employees or agents was a director, officer, employee or agent
of any Company or
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Subsidiary or was serving at the request of any such person as a partner, trustee, director, officer, employee, or agent of any Company or Subsidiary (whether
such claim is for judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, amounts paid in settlement, losses, expenses, or otherwise and whether such claim is pursuant to
any statute, charter document, bylaw, agreement, or otherwise), including with respect to any action, suit, proceeding, complaint, claim, or demand brought by
Purchaser against Seller (whether such action, suit, proceeding, complaint, claim, or demand is pursuant to this Agreement, any Law, or otherwise). For the
avoidance of doubt, the contest procedures relating to the indemnification for any Taxes pursuant to this Section 8.2(b) shall be governed by Section 5.4.

               (c) No indemnification shall be payable pursuant to this Article VIII with respect to any Losses arising out of or otherwise in respect of any
inaccuracy in or any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of Purchaser or Seller contained in this Agreement after termination of the
survival thereof in accordance with Section 8.1, except with respect to claims for which notice was provided pursuant to Section 8.2(d) prior to such
termination but not then resolved (such representation, warranty, covenant or agreement surviving with respect to such claim until resolution of such claim).

               (d) A Person seeking indemnification under this Section 8.2 (an “Indemnified Party”) shall give prompt written notice to the party from which it is
seeking indemnification (an “Indemnifying Party”) of any Loss in respect of which such Indemnified Party is seeking indemnification hereunder, specifying
in reasonable detail the nature of such Loss and the amount of such Loss (or if not then determinable, its best estimate of the amount of such Loss).

               (e) Purchaser shall not be entitled to indemnification or reimbursement for Losses asserted under Section 8.2(a)(i) unless the aggregate amount of
such Losses exceeds the Threshold, and in such event, indemnification shall be made by Seller only to the extent that Losses exceed the Threshold; provided,
however, that the limitations in this clause (e) shall not apply to any indemnification obligations arising from the representations and warranties set forth in
Section 3.2, Section 3.7 and Section 3.22.

               (f) Each Loss (including Losses for which indemnification is required pursuant to Section 5.15 and Section 5.4) shall be reduced by (i) the amount of
any insurance proceeds recovered by the party seeking indemnification with respect to such Loss (net of any retroactive or retrospective premium adjustments
that are required under the relevant policy), (ii) any indemnity, contribution or other similar payment recovered by the party seeking indemnification by any
third party with respect to such Loss and (iii) any currently realizable Tax Benefit (as defined below) realized by a party seeking indemnification pursuant to
Section 5.4 or Section 8.2 or its Affiliates. Each Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to collect any amounts available under insurance
coverage or to enforce third-party indemnification, contribution, or other similar obligations for any Losses payable pursuant to this Section 8.2. To the extent
the Loss underlying the claim for indemnification (“Indemnity
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Claim”) does not give rise to a currently realizable Tax Benefit, then if the Loss with respect to which such Indemnity Claim is made gives rise to a future Tax
Benefit to the party that made such claim or its Affiliates, such party shall refund to the party making such indemnification payment the amount of such Tax
Benefit when, as and if realized. For the purposes of this Agreement, any such subsequently realized Tax Benefit shall be treated as though it were a reduction
in the amount of the initial Indemnity Claim, and the liabilities of the parties shall be redetermined as though both occurred at or prior to the time of the
indemnity payment. For purposes of this Section 8.2(f), a “Tax Benefit” means an amount by which the Tax liability of the party seeking indemnification or
its Affiliates is reduced because of the Loss underlying the Indemnity Claim (whether by reduction or entitlement to refund or credit or otherwise) plus any
related interest received from the relevant Taxing Authority. Where a party seeking indemnification or its Affiliates has other losses, deductions, credits or
items available to it, the Tax Benefit from any losses, deductions, credits or items relating to the Indemnity Claim shall be deemed to be realized
proportionately with any other losses, deductions, credits or items. For purposes of this Section 8.2(f), a Tax Benefit is “currently realizable” to the extent it
can be realized in the current Tax period or year or in any Tax Return with respect thereto (including through a carryback to a prior Tax period) or in any Tax
period or year prior to the date of the Indemnity Claim. In the event that there should be a determination (within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code (or
any analogous provision of state, local, or Foreign Law)), the indemnifying party shall refund to the indemnified party the amount of any related reduction
previously allowed or payments previously made to the indemnifying party pursuant to this Section 8.2(f). In the event of payment under this Agreement, the
Indemnifying party shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of the party seeking indemnification, who shall execute
all documents reasonably requested and shall take all such other action that may be reasonably necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of
such documents necessary to enable the Indemnifying Party effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

               (g) In no event shall Seller’s aggregate liability under this Agreement for breaches of representations or warranties exceed an amount equal to 12.5%
of the Purchase Price; provided, however, that the limitations in this Section 8.2(g) shall not apply to any indemnification obligations arising from the
representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.2, Section 3.7 and Section 3.22.

          Section 8.3 Notice of Claim; Defense. An Indemnified Party shall give the Indemnifying Party prompt written notice of any third-party claim that may
give rise to any indemnification obligation under this Article VIII, together with the estimated amount of such claim. In the event that an Indemnified Party
asserts any right to indemnification hereunder, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to assume the defense (at the Indemnifying Party’s expense) of any
such claim through counsel of the Indemnifying Party’s own choosing by so notifying the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days of the receipt by the
Indemnifying Party of such notice from the Indemnified Party. In addition, the Indemnifying Party shall be liable (and shall reimburse the Indemnified Party)
for the fees and expenses of counsel employed by the Indemnified Party for any period during which the Indemnifying Party has not assumed the defense
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thereof after having received such notice. If the Indemnifying Party assumes such defense, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the
defense thereof and to employ counsel, at its own expense, separate from the counsel employed by the Indemnifying Party, it being understood that the
Indemnifying Party shall control such defense. If the Indemnifying Party chooses to defend or prosecute a third-party claim, the Indemnified Party shall
cooperate in the defense or prosecution thereof, which cooperation shall include, to the extent reasonably requested by the Indemnifying Party, the retention,
and the provision to the Indemnifying Party, of records and information reasonably relevant to such third-party claim, and making employees of the
Companies and the Subsidiaries available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of, or to testify about, any
materials provided hereunder. If the Indemnifying Party chooses to defend or prosecute any third-party claim, the Indemnifying Party shall not consent or
agree to any settlement, compromise or discharge of such third-party claim without the consent of an Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) (A) if such judgment or settlement does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by each
claimant or plaintiff to the Indemnified Party of a release from all liability in respect to such claim, (B) if such judgment or settlement would result in the
finding or admission of any violation of applicable Law by the Indemnified Party, or (C) if, as a result of such consent or settlement, injunctive or other
equitable relief would be imposed against the Indemnified Party or such judgment or settlement would materially adversely affect the Business or bind
Purchaser or its Affiliates, in the case of Purchaser or its Affiliates, and the Retained Business, in the case of Seller or its Affiliates. If the Indemnified Party
defends or prosecutes any third-party claim, the Indemnified Party shall not consent or agree to any settlement, compromise or discharge of such third-party
claim without the consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). In addition, the
Indemnifying Party shall not be liable under this Section 8.3 for any settlement, compromise or discharge effected without its consent (which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) in respect of any claim for which indemnity may be sought hereunder. No indemnified party shall take
any action the purpose of which is to prejudice the defense of any claim subject to indemnification hereunder or to induce a third party to assert a claim
subject to indemnification hereunder.

          Section 8.4 No Duplication; Sole Remedy Procedures.

               (a) Any liability for indemnification hereunder shall be determined without duplication of recovery by reason of the state of facts giving rise to such
liability constituting a breach of more than one representation, warranty, covenant or agreement or one or more right to indemnification.

               (b) The rights of the parties to indemnification as provided for in Section 8.2 for breaches of the representations or warranties contained in this
Agreement shall constitute the sole remedy of each of the parties for such breaches, and no party shall have any other liability for damages to the other party
resulting from any such breach.
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               (c) The indemnification and other provisions of this Article VIII shall govern the procedure for all indemnification matters under this Agreement,
except as expressly provided herein.

          Section 8.5 No Right of Off-set/Set-off. Neither Purchaser nor Seller shall have any right to off-set or set-off any payment due pursuant to Section 1.2
or Section 1.3 against any other payment to be made pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise (including against indemnification payments).

ARTICLE IX

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

          Section 9.1 Definitions. For all purposes of this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

               (a) “Accounting Principles” shall mean GAAP, and where a specific method, principle or calculation within GAAP is specified in the basis of
presentation to the Statements of Financial Information or in Section 7 of the Esselte Finance Manual attached as Exhibit 9.1(a) hereto (collectively, the
“Basis of Presentation”) calculated in a consistent manner (to the extent applicable) in accordance with such specific method, principle or calculation;
provided, however, that with respect to an exception to GAAP in the Basis of Presentation, the Accounting Principles shall not be GAAP for such exception,
and shall instead be calculated in a consistent manner (to the extent applicable) as described in such Basis of Presentation with respect to such exception.

               (b) “Affiliate” with respect to any Person shall mean any other Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with, such Person. For
purposes of determining whether a Person is an Affiliate, the term “control” shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause
the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of securities, contract or otherwise; provided that “Affiliate” with
respect to Parent and Seller shall not include any Company or Subsidiary.

               (c) “Agreement” or “this Agreement” shall mean this Stock Purchase Agreement.

               (d) “Antitrust Laws” shall mean the Sherman Act, the Clayton Act, the HSR Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, the German Act Against
Restraints of Competition of 1958 and all other federal, state and foreign statutes, rules, regulations, orders, decrees, administrative and judicial doctrines, and
other Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade.

               (e) “Business” with respect to the Companies or the Subsidiaries shall mean the business of designing, developing, manufacturing, distributing,
servicing, selling, marketing and supplying labeling printers (which shall
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include for the avoidance of doubt the CD/DVD printer), label makers, label embossers and related consumables, as conducted or proposed to be conducted at
any time during the twelve (12) month period prior to the date hereof by the DYMO global operating division of Parent.

               (f) “Business Employee” shall mean (i) any employee of a Company or Subsidiary who as of the date hereof primarily provides, or who within the
six (6) months prior to the date hereof has primarily provided, services to the Business; (ii) each employee of a Company or Subsidiary who as of the date
hereof provides services both to the Business and the Retained Business and is listed on Exhibit 9.1(f)(ii); and (iii) each employee of a Group Affiliate other
than the Companies and Subsidiaries who is listed on Exhibit 9.1(f)(iii).

               (g) “Business Key Employee” shall mean (i) each employee of a Company or Subsidiary listed on Exhibit 9.1(g), (ii) each employee of Seller and its
Group Affiliates hired by Purchaser, the Companies or the Subsidiaries pursuant to Section 5.6(f), and (iii) any Business Employee who, as of the Closing
Date, is employed in a sales or marketing function or research and development function.

               (h) “Closing” shall mean the closing referred to in Section 2.1.

               (i) “Closing Adjustment” shall mean the amount equal to the following as of immediately after giving effect to the Reorganization and the Closing:
(A) the Working Capital Adjustment, minus (B) the amount of Outstanding Indebtedness of the Companies and the Subsidiaries, minus (C) the capitalized
amount of the Belgian Lease required to be capitalized in accordance with the Accounting Principles as of the Closing Date to the extent such amount exceeds
$4,500,000.

               (j) “Closing Date” shall mean the date on which the Closing occurs.

               (k) “Closing Net Working Capital” shall mean the Net Working Capital as of immediately after giving effect to the Reorganization and the Closing.

               (l) “Closing Payment” shall mean an amount equal to (A) the Purchase Price plus the Estimated Closing Adjustment, if the Estimated Closing
Adjustment is a net positive number, or (B) the Purchase Price minus the absolute value of the Estimated Closing Adjustment, if the Estimated Closing
Adjustment is a net negative number.

               (m) “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

               (n) “Commitment” shall mean any contract, agreement, undertaking, trust, obligation, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, license, loan, whether
written or oral. For avoidance of doubt, the term “Commitment” shall not include requirements of Law.
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               (o) “Company Guaranty” shall mean any guaranty, letter of credit, indemnity or contribution agreement or other similar agreement entered into by
any Company or Subsidiary in favor of any third party guaranteeing or assuring such third party of the payment of any actual or potential liability or
obligation of Seller, any of its Affiliates or the Retained Business to such third party, excluding any Indenture Guaranty or guarantee related to the Credit
Agreement.

               (p) “Company Plan” shall mean a Plan that existed prior to the Closing and which is maintained, sponsored or contributed to by a Company or a
Subsidiary following the Reorganization.

               (q) “Confidentiality Agreement” shall mean the letter agreement dated April 8, 2005 between Esselte Corporation and Newell Rubbermaid Inc.

               (r) “Credit Agreement” shall mean the senior credit agreement dated July 11, 2002 (as amended and restated from time to time) between, inter alia,
Esselte Group Holdings AB (publ), Esselte Sverige Aktiebolag, UBS Limited as mandated lead arranger, bookrunner and facility agent, UBS Limited and
UBS AG, London Branch as issuing banks and UBS AG London Branch as security agent.

               (s) “Designated Purchaser Affiliates” shall mean one or more Affiliates of Purchaser that Purchaser selects to purchase Outside Inventory or Shares.

               (t) “Designated Seller Entities” shall mean one or more Affiliates of Seller to which Retained Business Assets or Retained Business Liabilities are
transferred from the Companies and Subsidiaries pursuant to Section 5.22.

               (u) “Disclosure Schedule” shall mean the disclosure schedule of even date herewith prepared and signed by the Seller and delivered to Purchaser
simultaneously with the execution hereof.

               (v) “DYMO Corporation” shall mean DYMO Corporation, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware.

               (w) “Encumbrances” shall mean all pledges, claims, liens, restrictions, charges, options to purchase, security interests, mortgages, rights of first
refusal or first offer or other encumbrances other than Taxes not yet due and payable.

               (x) “Environmental Law” shall mean all federal, state, local or foreign laws governing pollution or the protection of the environment.

               (y) “ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

               (z) “ERISA Affiliate” shall mean any trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that together with the Companies would be deemed a “single
employer” within the meaning of Section 4001(b) of ERISA.
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               (aa) “Esselte Corporation” shall mean Esselte Corporation, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York.

               (bb) “Esselte IPR AB” shall mean Esselte IPR AB, a corporation organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden.

               (cc) “Estimated Closing Adjustment” shall mean Seller’s estimate of the Closing Adjustment, as prepared in good faith by Seller pursuant to
Section 1.3(b).

               (dd) “GAAP” shall mean Swedish generally accepted accounting principles.

               (ee) “Governmental Entity” shall mean a court, arbitral tribunal, legislative, executive or administrative authority or agency or commission or other
governmental, regulatory authority or agency, federal, state, local or foreign.

               (ff) “Group Affiliate” with respect to Seller shall mean Parent and any Affiliate of Parent controlled by Parent.

               (gg) “HSR Act” shall mean the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

               (hh) “Indenture” shall mean the indenture dated as of March 2, 2004, among Parent, the Subsidiary Guarantors listed as signatories thereto, The
Bank of New York, as Trustee, Transfer Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Proceeds Loan Security Agent and Subordinated Share Security Agent and The Bank
of New York (Luxembourg) S. A., as Transfer Agent and Luxembourg Paying Agent, as amended or supplemented from time to time.

               (ii) “Indenture Guaranty” shall mean a guarantee by any Company or Subsidiary of the obligations of Parent or another Person (other than the
Trustee or a collateral agent) under the Indenture.

               (jj) “Intellectual Property” shall mean all U.S. and foreign (i) patents, patent applications, utility models, industrial designs, patent disclosures, and
all related continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, reissues, re-examinations, substitutions, and extensions thereof (“Patents”), (ii) trademarks,
service marks, trade names, domain names, logos, slogans, trade dress, and other similar designations of source or origin, together with the goodwill
symbolized by any of the foregoing (“Trademarks”), (iii) copyrights and copyrightable subject matter (“Copyrights”), (iv) computer programs (whether in
source code, object code, or other form) (“Software”), (v) trade secrets and all confidential information, know-how, inventions, proprietary processes,
formulae, models, and methodologies (“Trade Secrets”), (vi) all rights in the foregoing and (vii) all applications and registrations for the foregoing.
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               (kk) “Inventory” shall mean all inventory, raw materials, packaging materials, work in process, spare parts and finished goods purchased or held for
assembly, manufacture, distribution and resale by or for the Business.

               (ll) “IRB Loan Agreements” shall mean the loan agreements dated as of December 1, 1985 between The Industrial Development Board of the
County of Jackson, Tennessee and Esselte Pendaflex Corporation relating to the IRBs.

               (mm) “IRBs” shall mean the Variable Rate Industrial Development demand Revenue Refunding Bonds (Esselte Project), Series 1985A and 1985B.

               (nn) “Knowledge of Seller” shall mean the actual knowledge, after due inquiry, of the Persons identified in Section 9.1(nn) of the Disclosure
Schedule.

               (oo) “Law” shall mean any law, statute, code, ordinance, rule, judgment, decree, Order, writ, injunction and regulation.

               (pp) “Losses” shall mean any and all actual losses, liabilities, damages, judgments, settlements, penalties, costs and expenses of any nature
whatsoever (including interest and penalties recovered by a third party with respect thereto and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses), but shall not include
any special, indirect, punitive, incidental or consequential damages (including without limitation lost profits or loss of goodwill) unless required to be paid for
the benefit of a third party pursuant to a third-party claim.

               (qq) “Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any material adverse change in, or material adverse effect on, or any change, event, occurrence or state of
facts that could reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to, the business, financial condition or operations of the Business, or of the Companies and
the Subsidiaries as they will exist immediately after the Closing, taken as a whole; provided, however, that the effects, either alone or in combination, of
changes (a) that are generally applicable to the industries and markets in which the Companies and the Subsidiaries operate that are not specific to the
Business, (b) that are generally applicable to general economic, political or market conditions in any country in which the Companies and the Subsidiaries
operate, (c) from any action that is specifically required to be taken by, or from the failure to take any action that is prohibited by, this Agreement, or (d) as a
result of the fact that Purchaser and its Affiliates are the purchasers of the Business, will be excluded from the determination of Material Adverse Effect.

               (rr) “Net Working Capital” shall mean the amount equal to the following, as of immediately after giving effect to the Reorganization and the
Closing, (i) the sum of the Companies’ and the Subsidiaries’ (A) cash and cash equivalents, (B) marketable securities (other than the stock of Elesys, Inc.),
(C) accounts receivable (other than accounts receivable assigned or distributed to Seller or any of its Affiliates), less allowance for doubtful accounts (D) pre-
paid expenses and accrued income, (E) Inventory net of reserves, (F) advances to suppliers and (G) other current assets
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(excluding accounts receivable assigned or distributed to Seller or any of its Affiliates), plus (ii) the Outside Inventory, minus (iii) the sum of the Companies’
and the Subsidiaries’ (A) short-term trade bills payable and trade payables, (B) pre-paid income, (C) accrued expenses and (D) other current liabilities, in the
case of each such item in clauses (i)-(iii), as determined and calculated in accordance with the Accounting Principles; provided that Net Working Capital shall
not include (i) any Tax asset (current or deferred) or Tax liability (current or deferred), (ii) any Outstanding Indebtedness, (iii) any investment in Elesys, Inc.
or (iv) any amount with respect to the Belgian Lease.

               (ss) “Order” shall mean any outstanding injunction, judgment, temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order,
decree, ruling or charge.

               (tt) “Ordinary Course of Business” shall mean ordinary course of business of the Business consistent with past practice.

               (uu) “Outside Inventory” shall mean Inventory used solely in the Business held by Group Affiliates.

               (vv) “Outside Inventory Sellers” shall mean those subsidiaries of Seller that as of the Closing hold the Outside Inventory.

               (ww) “Outstanding Indebtedness” shall mean, with respect to a Company or Subsidiary, on the date of determination (without duplication):

                    (i) the principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest payable in respect of (A) indebtedness of such Person for money borrowed, and
(B) indebtedness of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments for the payment of which such Person is responsible or
liable as obligor;

                    (ii) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property acquired by such Person which purchase price is due more than
six (6) months after such Person took delivery and title to such property, including all conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of
such Person under any other title retention Commitment with respect to any such property, but in each case excluding trade accounts payable arising in the
ordinary course of business;

                    (iii) all obligations for the lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which
obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases for financial reporting purposes on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP,
and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP;

                    (iv) all obligations of such Person (A) for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or
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similar credit transaction securing obligations of a Person described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above only to the extent of the obligation actually drawn
down or borrowed and secured on the date of determination, (B) of the type described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) for the payment of which such Person is
responsible or liable as guarantor, only to the extent actually drawn down or borrowed and secured; and

                    (v) all penalty payments, premiums, charges, and yield maintenance amounts, payable as a result of (A) the prepayment of any obligations of
the types referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) (assuming for purposes of calculating such amounts that such prepayment occurs immediately prior to or at
the time of the Closing on the Closing Date), or (B) the acceleration of an obligation of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) above as a result of
the Transactions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Outstanding Indebtedness” shall not include (A) the capital finance lease as in effect on the date hereof with respect
to the Sint-Niklaas facility with Eurolease N.V. referenced on Section 9.1(ww) of the Disclosure Schedule (the “Belgian Lease”); (B) in respect of the
purchase by such Person of any business or assets, indemnification or contribution obligations; or (C) any amounts described in clauses (i) through (v) in
respect of which the obligor is a Company or Subsidiary and the obligee is a Company or Subsidiary.

               (xx) “Permitted Liens” shall mean (i) Encumbrances for Taxes not yet due and payable, that are payable without penalty or that are being contested
in good faith, (ii) Encumbrances for assessments and other governmental charges or liens of landlords, carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and repairmen
incurred in the ordinary course of business, in each case for sums not yet due and payable or due but not delinquent or being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings, and (iii) Encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment
insurance and other types of social security or to secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, bids, leases, government
contracts, performance and return of money bonds and similar obligations.

               (yy) “Person” shall mean a natural person, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock company, trust,
unincorporated association, joint venture, Governmental Entity or other entity or organization.

               (zz) “Plan” shall mean (i) each employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA; (ii) each other deferred compensation, incentive
compensation, equity compensation, severance, termination pay, medical, surgical, hospitalization, life insurance, profit-sharing, stock bonus, retirement,
pension, vacation, sick leave or paid time off plan, fund, program, agreement or arrangement, and (iii) each employment, consulting or change in control
agreement, in each case, that is sponsored, maintained or contributed to or required to be contributed to by Seller, a Company or any ERISA Affiliate, or to
which Seller, a Company or an ERISA Affiliate is party, whether

84



 

written or oral, for the benefit of any director, employee or former employee (or his dependents or beneficiaries) of any Company or Subsidiary.

               (aaa) “Purchase Price” shall mean $732,650,000, as such amount may be adjusted prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 5.15(b).

               (bbb) “Representatives” of a party means such party’s legal counsel, investment bankers, consultants, accountants and other advisors.

               (ccc) “Retained Business” shall mean the business conducted at any time prior to Closing by the Companies and the Subsidiaries and the Transferred
Subsidiaries except for the Business.

               (ddd) “Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933.

               (eee) “Seller Guaranty” shall mean any guaranty, letter of credit, indemnity or contribution agreement or other similar agreement entered into by
Seller or any of its Affiliates in favor of any third party guaranteeing or assuring such third party of the payment of any actual or potential liability or
obligation of any Company or Subsidiary or the Business to such third party, excluding Indenture Guarantees and other guarantees to the extent with respect
to the Retained Business or obligations under the Credit Agreement.

               (fff) “Seller Key Employee” shall mean any employee of Seller or any Group Affiliate (including, for purposes of this definition, any employee of
any Company or Subsidiary who is not a Business Employee) who, as of the Closing Date, (i) holds a Senior Vice President position or (ii) is employed in a
sales or marketing function. For the avoidance of doubt, Seller Key Employee shall not include any of the persons set forth in Section 5.6(f) to the extent
Purchaser, the Companies and the Subsidiaries are entitled to solicit and offer employment to such persons pursuant to Section 5.6(f).

               (ggg) “Shares” shall mean, collectively, the DYMO Shares, the BVBA Shares, and the Holdings Shares.

               (hhh) “Statements of Information” shall mean the unaudited Statements of Selected Balance Sheet Data of the Business as at December 31, 2003,
December 31, 2004 and July 2, 2005, the unaudited Statements of Operations and EBITDA Contribution Data of the Business for the twelve (12) month
period ended December 31, 2004 and the unaudited Statements of Operations and EBITDA Contribution Data of the Business for the six (6) month period
ended July 2, 2005.

               (iii) “Subsidiaries” shall mean each of Esselte Corporation and DYMO Corporation.

               (jjj) “Tax(es)” shall mean all taxes, charges, fees, levies, duties or other assessments whether federal, state, local or foreign, based upon or measured
by income, capital or gain and all other taxes including recapture, gross receipts, premiums,
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profits, sales, use, occupancy, value added, ad valorem, customs, transfer, franchise, withholding, social security, unemployment, disability, payroll,
employment, excise, or real or personal property taxes, alternative or add-on minimum and environmental taxes, together with any interest, fines, penalties
and additions to such tax as may be imposed with respect thereto.

               (kkk) “Taxing Authority” shall mean the Internal Revenue Service or any other Governmental Entity responsible for the administration, assessment,
or collection of any Tax.

               (lll) “Tax Return” shall mean any declaration, report, estimate, extension request, information statement, withholding statement return or other filing
or document relating to, or required to be filed in connection with, any Tax, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment
thereof.

               (mmm) “Threshold” shall mean an amount equal to one percent (1%) of the Purchase Price.

               (nnn) “Title IV Plan” shall mean a Plan sponsored by a Company or Subsidiary that is subject to Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of
the Code.

               (ooo) “Transactions” shall mean all the transactions provided for or contemplated by this Agreement.

               (ppp) “Transferred Employee” shall mean any current or former employee of any Company or Subsidiary who is not a Business Employee.

               (qqq) “Transferred Subsidiaries” shall mean the direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Companies other than the Subsidiaries.

               (rrr) “Transition Services Agreement” shall mean the transition services agreement between Purchaser and Seller to be entered into at the Closing in
the form set forth on Exhibit 9.1(rrr) hereto.

               (sss) “Working Capital Adjustment” shall mean the amount by which the Closing Net Working Capital is more or less, as the case may be, than
$31,800,000. For avoidance of doubt, the Working Capital Adjustment shall be positive if the Closing Net Working Capital is more than $31,800,000 and
negative if it is less than $31,800,000.

          Section 9.2 Interpretation.

               (a) All references to dollar(s) or use of the $ symbol in this Agreement or the Transition Services Agreement refer to U.S. dollars.
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               (b) For the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of Section 1.3(j), a smaller negative integer (i.e., closer to zero) is always “greater than” a larger
negative integer (i.e., farther from zero). For example, (-2) is greater than (-10).

               (c) The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement.

               (d) When a reference is made in this Agreement to a section or article, such reference shall be to a section or article of this Agreement unless
otherwise clearly indicated to the contrary.

               (e) Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without
limitation.”

               (f) The words “hereof”, “herein” and “herewith” and words of similar import shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to this Agreement
as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and article, section, paragraph, exhibit and schedule references are to the articles, sections,
paragraphs, exhibits and schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.

               (g) The meaning assigned to each term defined herein shall be equally applicable to both the singular and the plural forms of such term, and words
denoting any gender shall include all genders. Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall have a corresponding
meaning.

               (h) A reference to any party to this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall include such party’s successors and permitted assigns.

               (i) A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any amendment to, and any modification or re-enactment
thereof, any legislative provision substituted therefor and all regulations and statutory instruments issued thereunder or pursuant thereto.

               (j) The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or
interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or
disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE X

MISCELLANEOUS

          Section 10.1 Fees and Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions shall be
paid
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by the party incurring such costs and expenses, whether or not the Transactions are consummated, except as specifically provided to the contrary in this
Agreement.

          Section 10.2 Amendment and Modification. This Agreement may be amended, modified and supplemented in any and all respects, but only by a
written instrument signed by all of the parties hereto expressly stating that such instrument is intended to amend, modify or supplement this Agreement.

          Section 10.3 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when mailed, E-mailed, delivered
personally, faxed (which is confirmed) or sent by an overnight courier service, such as Federal Express, to the parties at the following addresses (or at such
other address for a party as shall be specified by such party by like notice):

if to Purchaser, to:

Newell Rubbermaid Inc.
10B Glenlake Parkway, Suite 600
Atlanta, Georgia 30328
Attention: Dale L. Matschullat and Bradford Turner
Telephone: (770) 407-3800
E-mail: Dale.Matschullat@newellco.com and
                 Brad.Turner@newellco.com
Telecopy: (770) 407-3987

with a copy to:

Schiff Hardin LLP
6600 Sears Tower
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention: Steve E. Isaacs
Telephone: (312) 258-5500
E-mail: sisaacs@schiffhardin.com
Telecopy: (312) 258-5700

if to Seller, to:

Esselte AB
c/o Esselte Group Holdings AB (publ)
44 Commerce Road
Stamford, Connecticut 06902
Attention: William Lundregan, General Counsel
Telephone: (203) 355-9000
E-mail: wlundregan@esselte.com
Telecopy: (203) 355-9010
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with a copy to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
One Beacon Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
Attention: Louis A. Goodman
Telephone: (617) 573-4800
E-mail: lgoodman@skadden.com
Telecopy: (617) 573-4822

          Section 10.4 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement
and shall become effective when two or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties.

          Section 10.5 Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the documents and the instruments referred to herein) and the
Confidentiality Agreement (a) constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the
parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and (b) are not intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights
or remedies hereunder.

          Section 10.6 Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other authority to be invalid,
void or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the
validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If the final judgment of a court of competent
jurisdiction or other authority declares that any term or provision hereof is invalid, void or unenforceable, the parties agree that the court making such
determination shall have the power to reduce the scope, duration, area or applicability of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to
replace any invalid, void or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the
intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision.

          Section 10.7 Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS
OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW THEREOF THAT WOULD
REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF ANY OTHER LAW, EXCEPT THAT THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT OF 1927, 9 U.S.C. SECTIONS
1-16, SHALL GOVERN ALL QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE ARBITRABILITY OF CLAIMS OR DISPUTES AND THE ENFORCEMENT
OF PROVISIONS FOR WHICH ARBITRATION IS SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED FOR IN THIS AGREEMENT.

          Section 10.8 Venue. Except for arbitration to the extent expressly provided for in this Agreement, each of the parties hereto (a) consents to submit itself
to the personal jurisdiction of any federal court located in the State of New York or any
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New York state court in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or any of the Transactions, (b) agrees that it shall not attempt to deny or defeat
such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court and (c) agrees that it shall not bring any action relating to this Agreement
or any of the Transactions in any court other than a federal or state court sitting in the State of New York. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each party hereto
agrees that the other party hereto shall have the right to bring any action or proceeding for enforcement of a final and non-appealable judgment entered by any
federal court located in the State of New York or any New York state court in any other court or jurisdiction.

          Section 10.9 Time of Essence. Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees that, with regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this
Agreement, time is of the essence.

          Section 10.10 Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Closing Date, either party hereto may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the
obligations or other acts of the other party, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other party contained in this Agreement or
in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement or (c) waive compliance by the other parties with any of the agreements or conditions contained in this
Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be in writing. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any
of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of those rights. Such waiver or failure to insist upon strict compliance with such
agreement or condition shall not operate as a waiver of, or estoppel with respect to, any subsequent or other failure.

          Section 10.11 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto
(whether by operation of law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other parties; provided, however, that no consent shall be required for
Purchaser to assign its rights and delegate its duties hereunder, in whole or in part, to one or more of its Affiliates (in which case Purchaser nonetheless shall
remain responsible for the performance of all of its obligations hereunder). Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to
the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

          Section 10.12 Parent Guaranty. Parent hereby unconditionally and absolutely guarantees, as primary obligor and not as surety, the due and punctual
payment and performance by Seller of all of its obligations to Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Parent agrees that Purchaser need not pursue
any remedy against Seller for breach of this Agreement prior to proceeding against Parent. The obligations of Parent under this Section 10.12 shall be
absolute and unconditional.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Purchaser and Seller have executed this Agreement or caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers
thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.
     
 NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC.

  

 By /s/ Hartley D. Blaha   
 Name:  Hartley D. Blaha  
 Title:  President – Corporate Development 
 
 ESSELTE AB

  

 By /s/ Adam Suttin   
 Name:  Adam Suttin  
 Title:  Director  
 
 Solely with respect to the provisions set forth in Section 10.12:
 

ESSELTE GROUP HOLDINGS AB
 

 

 By /s/ Adam Suttin   
 Name:  Adam Suttin  
 Title:  Director  
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Exhibit 10.1

2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

1.1 Grant of Restricted Stock . Subject to the terms and provisions of the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2003 Stock Plan (the “Plan”) , a copy of
which is attached hereto and the terms of which are hereby incorporated by reference, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may
grant Shares of Restricted Stock to eligible employees in such amounts, as the Board shall determine. A maximum of 250,000 shares of
Restricted Stock may be granted to any eligible employee in any one calendar year, in each case subject to adjustment as provided in the Plan.

1.2 Guidelines . Each award shall be made based on a target of 100% of a person’s base salary. The following criteria will be used to
determine the actual level:

 •  Total Shareholder Return (50%)
 •  Free Cash Flow (50%)

The total point value will be used as follows:

•  Total Shareholder Return will be calculated based on the following formula:

(Change in Stock Price) + (Dividend)
(Beginning Stock Price)

       
o  Top 4 of comparator group  =  100% of target
o  5 – 8 of comparator group  =  75%   of target
o  9 – 12 of comparator group  =  50%   of target
o  13 – 16 of comparator group  =  25%   of target
o  Bottom 4 of comparator group  =  0%

NOTE:     Target is 50% of the total award payout for Shareholder return

•  The Free Cash Flow award will be calculated based on the following schedule:
       
o  > 110% of FCF target  =  100% of target
o  100 – 110% of FCF target  =  75%   of target
o  90 – 100% of FCF target  =  50%   of target
o  80 – 90% of FCF target  =  25%   of target
o  < 80% of FCF target  =  0%

NOTE:     Target is 50% of the total award payout for Free Cash Flow

The list of eligible employees is determined prior to the beginning of the fiscal year. For 2005, the attached list of executives will be the only
executives eligible to participate in the Plan.

1.3 Restricted Stock Agreement. Each Restricted Stock grant shall be evidenced by a Restricted Stock Award Agreement that shall specify
the Period of Restriction at a 3 year cliff, the number of Shares Restricted Stock granted, and such other provisions as the Committee shall
determine.

 



 

Exhibit 10.1

1.4 Transferability. Except as provided in this Article, the Shares of Restricted Stock granted herein may not be sold, transferred, pledged,
assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction established by the Committee in its sole
discretion and set forth in the Restricted Stock Award Agreement. All rights with respect to the Restricted Stock granted to an eligible employee
under the Plan shall be available during his or her lifetime only to such eligible employee.

1.5 Other Restrictions. The Committee shall impose such other conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares of Restricted Stock granted
pursuant to the Plan as it may deem advisable including, without limitation, continued employment with Newell Rubbermaid, restrictions based
upon the achievement of specific company-wide performance goals, time-based restrictions on vesting following the attainment of performance
goals, and/or restrictions under applicable federal or state securities laws. The Committee will establish performance targets annually in
accordance with the standards set forth in this Plan.

          Newell Rubbermaid may retain the certificates representing Shares of Restricted Stock in its possession until such time as all conditions
and/or restrictions applicable to such Shares have been satisfied.

          Except as otherwise provided in this Article or pursuant to the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2003 Stock Plan (the “Plan”), Shares of Restricted
Stock covered by each Restricted Stock grant made under the Plan shall become freely transferable by the eligible employee after the last day
of the applicable Period of Restriction.

1.6 Voting Rights. Eligible employees holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may be granted the right to exercise full voting
rights with respect to those Shares during the Period of Restriction.

1.7 Dividends and Other Distributions . During the Period of Restriction, eligible employees holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted
hereunder may be credited with regular cash dividends paid with respect to the underlying Shares while they are so held. The Committee may
apply any restrictions to the dividends that the Committee deems appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, if the
grant or vesting of Restricted Shares granted to an eligible employee is designated to comply with requirements of the Performance-Based
Exception, the Committee may apply any restrictions it deems appropriate to the payment of dividends declared with respect to such Restricted
Shares, such that the dividends and/or the Restricted Shares maintain eligibility for the Performance-Based Exception.

1.8 Termination of Employment/Directorship. Each Restricted Stock Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the eligible
employee shall have the right to receive unvested Restricted Stock following termination of the eligible employee’s employment or directorship
with Newell Rubbermaid. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award
Agreement entered into with each eligible employee, need not be uniform among all Shares of Restricted Stock issued pursuant to the Plan,
and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination; provided, however that, except in the cases of terminations connected with a
Change in Control and terminations by reason or death or Total Disability, and certain terminations without Cause, the vesting of shares of
Restricted Stock which qualify for the Performance-Based Exception and which are held by eligible employees shall occur at the time they
otherwise would have, but for the termination.

 



 

EXHIBIT 12

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(In millions, except ratio data)
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
  2005  2004  2005  2004
Earnings available for fixed charges:                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations   $53.5   ($155.7)   $241.8   ($65.1)
Fixed charges:                 

Interest expense   37.3   32.3   104.9   95.8 
Portion of rent determined to be interest (1)   10.2   10.4   30.5   29.9 
Equity earnings   (0.2)   (0.2)   (0.7)   (0.7)

  
 

   $100.8   ($113.2)   $376.5   $59.9 
  

 

                 
Fixed charges:                 

Interest expense   $37.3   $32.3   $104.9   $95.8 
Portion of rent determined to be interest (1)   10.2   10.4   30.5   29.9 

  
 

   $47.5   $42.7   $135.4   $125.7 
  

 

                 
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges   2.12   (2.65)   2.78   0.48 
  

 

(1) A standard ratio of 33% was applied to gross rent expense to approximate the interest portion of short-term and long-term leases.

 



 

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Mark D. Ketchum, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005 of Newell Rubbermaid Inc.;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2005
     
   
 /s/ Mark D. Ketchum   
 Mark D. Ketchum  
 Chief Executive Officer  
 

 



 

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, J. Patrick Robinson, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005 of Newell Rubbermaid Inc.;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2005
     
   
 /s/ J. Patrick Robinson   
 J. Patrick Robinson  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

 



 

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2005 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark D. Ketchum., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

     (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

     (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

 

/s/ Mark D. Ketchum

Mark D. Ketchum
Chief Executive Officer
November 8, 2005

 



 

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2005 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, J. Patrick Robinson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

     (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

     (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

 

/s/ J. Patrick Robinson

J. Patrick Robinson
Chief Financial Officer
November 8, 2005

 



 

EXHIBIT 99.1

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

The Company has made statements in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, as well as in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005, and the documents incorporated by reference therein that constitute forward-looking statements, as defined by
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. The statements relate to, and other forward-
looking statements that may be made by the Company may relate to, but are not limited to, information or assumptions about the effects of Project
Acceleration, sales (including pricing), income/(loss), earnings per share, operating income or gross margin improvements, return on equity, return on
invested capital, capital expenditures, working capital, cash flow, dividends, capital structure, debt to capitalization ratios, interest rates, internal growth rates,
restructuring, impairment and other charges, potential losses on divestitures, impact of changes in accounting standards, pending legal proceedings and claims
(including environmental matters), future economic performance, operating income improvements, costs and cost savings (including raw material inflation,
productivity and streamlining), synergies, management’s plans, goals and objectives for future operations, performance and growth or the assumptions
relating to any of the forward-looking statements. These statements generally are accompanied by words such as “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“project,” “will,” “enable,” “forecast,” “target,” “plan,” “expect,” “should” or similar statements. You should understand that forward-looking statements are
not guarantees because there are inherent difficulties in predicting future results. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the
forward-looking statements. The factors that are discussed below, as well as the matters that are set forth generally in the 2004 Form 10-K, the Third Quarter
2005 Form 10-Q and the documents incorporated by reference therein could cause actual results to differ. Some of these factors are described as criteria for
success. Our failure to achieve, or limited success in achieving, these objectives could result in actual results differing materially from those expressed or
implied in the forward-looking statements. In addition, there can be no assurance that we have correctly identified and assessed all of the factors affecting the
Company or that the publicly available and other information we receive with respect to these factors is complete or correct.

Retail Economy

Our business depends on the strength of the retail economies in various parts of the world, primarily in North America and to a lesser extent Europe, Central
and South America and Asia.

These retail economies are affected primarily by such factors as consumer demand and the condition of the consumer products retail industry, which, in turn,
are affected by general economic conditions and specific events such as the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and weather phenomena. In recent years,
the consumer products retail industry in the U.S. and, increasingly, elsewhere has been characterized by intense competition and consolidation among both
product suppliers and retailers. Because such competition, particularly in weak retail economies, can cause retailers to struggle or fail, the Company must
continuously monitor, and adapt to changes in, the creditworthiness of its customers.

Nature of the Marketplace

We compete with numerous other manufacturers and distributors of consumer products, many of which are large and well established. Our principal
customers are large mass merchandisers, such as discount stores, home centers, warehouse clubs and office superstores. The rapid growth of these large mass
merchandisers, together with changes in consumer shopping patterns, have contributed to the formation of dominant multi-category retailers, many of which
have strong negotiating power with suppliers. This environment significantly limits our ability to recover cost increases through selling price increases. Other
trends among retailers are to foster high levels of competition among suppliers, to demand that manufacturers supply innovative new products and to require
suppliers to maintain or reduce product prices and deliver products with shorter lead times. Another trend is for retailers to import products directly from
foreign sources.

 



 

The combination of these market influences has created an intensely competitive environment in which our principal customers continuously evaluate which
product suppliers to use, resulting in pricing pressures and the need for strong end-user brands, the continuing introduction of innovative new products and
constant improvements in customer service.

New Product Development

Our long-term success in this competitive retail environment depends on our consistent ability to develop innovative new products that create consumer
demand for our products. Although many of our businesses have had notable success in developing new products, we need to improve our new product
development capability. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in successfully developing and introducing innovative new products on a consistent basis.

Raw Materials

Our business purchases certain raw materials, including resin, steel and aluminum that are subject to price volatility and inflationary pressure. We attempt to
reduce our exposure to increases in such costs through a variety of programs, including periodic raw materials purchases, purchases of raw materials for
future delivery and customer price adjustments, but we generally do not use derivatives to manage the volatility related to this risk. Future increases in the
prices of these raw materials could materially impact our financial results.

Marketing

Our competitive success also depends increasingly on our ability to develop, maintain and strengthen our end-user brands so that our retailer customers will
need our products to meet consumer demand. Our success also requires increased focus on serving our largest customers through key account management
efforts. We will need to continue to devote substantial marketing resources to achieving these objectives.

Productivity and Streamlining

Our success also depends on our ability to improve productivity and streamline operations to control and reduce costs. We need to do this while maintaining
consistently high customer service levels and making substantial investments in new product development and in marketing our end-user brands. Our
objective is to become our retailer customers’ low-cost provider and global supplier of choice. To do this, we will need continuously to improve our
manufacturing efficiencies and develop sources of supply on a worldwide basis. We also need to continue to rationalize low-margin product lines that do not
fit in the Company’s strategic plan.

Acquisitions and Integration

The acquisition of companies that sell prominent, consumer focused, retail brand product lines to volume purchasers has historically been one of the
foundations of our growth strategy. Over time, our ability to continue to make sufficient strategic acquisitions at reasonable prices and to integrate the
acquired businesses successfully, obtaining anticipated cost savings and operating income improvements within a reasonable period of time, will be important
factors in our future growth.

Foreign Operations

Foreign operations, especially in Europe, but also in Asia, Central and South America and Canada, are increasingly important to our business. Foreign
operations can be affected by factors such as currency devaluation, other currency fluctuations, tariffs, nationalization, exchange controls, interest rates,
limitations on foreign investment in local business and other political, economic and regulatory risks and difficulties.

 


